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YIT Corporation

YIT’S OPERATIONS, SERVICES, STRATEGIC TARGETS AND EVENTS IN 2013 are described in a separate Annual Review.  
For further information, visit www.yitgroup.com/investors

YIT is a construction industry leader that creates 
sustainable urban environments by constructing 
housing, business premises, infrastructure and entire 
areas. YIT has over 100 years of experience and a 
strong market position: we are the largest housing 
developer in Finland and the largest foreign housing 
developer in Russia. We are also among the largest 
business premises and infrastructure construction 
companies in Finland. Our operating area covers 
Finland, Russia, the Baltic countries, the Czech 
Republic and Slovakia. We aim to be a leading 
European project developer, construction company 
and service provider, creating value responsibly with 
our stakeholders. We aim to improve our quality 
and customer service further and continuously offer 
consumers new and innovative housing solutions. 
We are also developing innovative business premis 
concepts in line with our clients’ changing business 
needs by using the possibilities of developing urban 
structures. Our success is first and foremost based 
on skilled employees and continuous development 
of competence.

YIT’s share is listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki.



YIT in the capital market

Shareholders
At the end of December 2013, the number of registered shareholders 
was 43,752 (12/2012: 36,064). At the end of December 2013, a total 
of 33.8 per cent of the shares were owned by nominee-registered 
and non-Finnish investors (12/2012: 34.8%).

During 2013, the company received no “flagging notifications” of 
change in ownership in YIT Corporation in accordance with Chapter 
2, Section 9, of the Securities Market Act.

shares helD BY The BoarD oF DIrecTors, The 
presIDenT anD ceo anD The GroUp manaGemenT 
BoarD
On 31 December 2013, members of YIT Corporation’s Board of Direc-
tors, the President and CEO and his deputy owned a total of 
13,093,416 YIT shares (31 December 2012: 16,700,860), correspond-
ing to 10.3 per cent of the company’s shares and the votes conferred 
by them (31 December 2012: 13.1%). Share ownership includes 
individuals’ direct holdings and the holdings of their close associates 
and controlled corporations.

UP-TO-DATE OWNERSHIP DATA BY PERSON is available on 
YIT’s website at www.yitgroup.com/investors – major 
shareholders – Insiders’ ownership in YIT

TAKE A LOOK at YIT’s online annual report 
www.yitgroup.com/investors

manaGemenT’s shareholDInG, 31 DecemBer 2013

shares
% of share 

capital

Board of Directors 13,072,100 10.27

President and CEO 10,624 0.01

Deputy to the President and CEO 10,692 0.01

The Group’s Management Board 
excluding the President and CEO and 
his deputy 75,251 0.06

Total 13,168,667 10.35

ownershIp BY shareholDer GroUps,  
31 DecemBer 2013

number 
of share

holders
propor
tion, %

number  
of  

shares
propor
tion, %

Nominee registered and 
non-Finnish 225 0.5 42,983,600 33.8

Households 40,466 92.5 31,278,958 24.6

Public institutions 46 0.1 16,835,563 13.2

Financial and insurance 
corporations 129 0.3 13,523,573 10.6

Non-profit institutions 536 1.2 9,374,848 7.4

Non-financial corporations 
and housing corporations 2,350 5.4 13,226,880 10.4

Total 43,752 100.0 127,223,422 100.0

ownershIp BY nUmBer oF shares helD,  
31 DecemBer 2013

number of shares

number 
of share 

holders
propor
tion, %

number  
of  

shares
propor
tion, %

1–100 11,775 26.9 762,740 0.6 

101–500 18,265 41.7 5,132,741 4.0 

501–1,000 6,599 15.1 5,229,952 4.1 

1,001–5,000 5,864 13.4 12,759,575 10.0 

5,001–10,000 656 1.5 4,686,809 3.7 

10,001–50,000 454 1.0 9,395,194 7.4 

50,001–100,000 59 0.1 4,012,448 3.2 

100,001–500,000 54 0.1 10,834,636 8.5 

500,001– 26 0.1 74,409,327 58.5 

Total 43,752 100.0 127,223,422 100.0 

This information is based on the shareholder list maintained by Euroclear Finland 
Ltd. Each nominee-registered shareholder is recorded in the share register as a 
single shareholder. The portfolios of many investors can be managed through one 
nominee-registered shareholder.
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Share
share anD share capITal
YIT Corporation’s shares are listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. The 
company has one series of shares. The shares are included in the 
book-entry system maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd.

YIT Corporation’s share capital and the number of shares outstand-
ing did not change during 2013. YIT Corporation’s share capital was 
EUR 149,216,748.22 at the end of 2013 (2012: EUR 149,216,748.22), 
and the number of shares outstanding was 127,223,422 (2012: 
127,223,422). 

TreasUrY shares
The Annual General Meeting has authorised the Board of Directors 
to decide on the purchase of the company’s shares, share issues 
and the disposal of treasury shares.

YIT Corporation held 1,839,577 treasury shares at the beginning 
of the review period purchased on the basis of the authorisation given 
by the General Meeting on 6 October 2008. 

YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors confirmed the rewards for 
the 2012 earnings period under the share-based incentive scheme 
for YIT’s management on 25 April 2013, which were conveyed as a 
directed share issue without consideration. In the share issue, 224,743 
treasury shares held by YIT Corporation were issued and conveyed 
without consideration to the key persons participating in the Share 
Ownership Plan according to the terms and conditions of the plan. 

During 2013, 18,452 shares were returned to the company in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the share-based incen-
tive scheme, after which the company held 1,633,286 treasury shares 
at the end of December 2013.

Share-related key figures are on pages 90–95.

nUmBer oF 
shareholDers

DIvIDenD per share, eUrearnInGs per share, 
eUr*

DIvIDenD paYoUT raTIo 
oF neT proFIT For The 
perIoD*, %

eQUITY/share, eUr*

markeT capITalIsaTIon, 
eUr mIllIon
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larGesT shareholDers on 31 DecemBer 2013

number of 
shares

%  
of shares 
and votes

1. Structor S.A. 12,930,000 10.16

2. Varma Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 8,432,100 6.63

3. Mandatum Life Insurance Company 
Limited 4,370,951 3.44

4. Herlin Antti 4,274,180 3.36

5. LocalTapiola Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 3,000,000 2.36

6. Odin funds 1,772,095 1.39

7. Svenska litteratursällskapet i Finland r.f. 1,680,400 1.32

8. Nordea funds 1,659,625 1.30

9. YIT Corporation 1,633,286 1.28

10. State Pension Fund 1,570,000 1.23

11. Danske Invest funds 1,475,832 1.16

12. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 1,457,115 1.15

13. Brotherus Ilkka 1,304,740 1.03

14. Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 1,100,000 0.86

15. Aktia funds 1,011,000 0.79

Nominee-registered shares total 27,405,097 21.54

Other shareholders 52,147,001 40.99

Total 127,223,422 100.00

1 2  1 3 1 2  1 31 2  1 3

1 2  1 3

1 2  1 3

1 2  1 3

* Figures according to segment reporting (POC), and therefore describes the 
continuing operations 

** Comparison figures include YIT’s Building Services business, which was 
transferred to Caverion Corporation in the partial demerger on 30 June 2013,  
and are thus not comparable.

*** Board’s proposal
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TraDInG on shares
The price of YIT’s share was EUR 15.08 at the beginning of the year 
(2 January 2012: EUR 12.38). The closing price of the share on the 
last trading day of the review period on 30 December 2013 was EUR 
10.16 (28 December 2012: EUR 14.78). YIT’s share price decreased 
by approximately 33 per cent during January–December. The highest 
price of the share during the review period was EUR 17.88 (1–12/2012: 
EUR 17.25), while the lowest was EUR 8.67 (1–12/2012: EUR 11.87) 
and the average price was EUR 13.01 (1–12/2012: EUR 14.90). The 
turnover of the YIT share on Nasdaq OMX Helsinki in January–Decem-
ber amounted to 111,193,000 shares (1–12/2012: 96,887,000 shares). 
The value of the share turnover was EUR 1,400.8 million (1–12/2012: 
EUR 1,443.9 million), source: Nasdaq OMX. 

In addition to the Helsinki Stock Exchange, YIT’s shares are also 
traded in other marketplaces, such as Chi-X, BATS and Turquoise. The 
share of trade volume on alternative marketplaces increased clearly 
compared to the previous year during the review period. During Janu-
ary–December, 73,167,000 YIT Corporation shares changed hands in 
alternative marketplaces (1–12/2012: 31,183,000 shares), which corre-
sponds to approximately 40 per cent of the entire trading volume of the 
share (1–12/2012: 25%). Of the alternative marketplaces, YIT shares 
changed hands particularly in Chi-X, source: Fidessa Fragmentation 
Index. 

YIT Corporation’s market capitalisation on the last trading day of the 
review period on 30 December 2013 was EUR 1,276 million (12/2012: 
1,853 million). The market capitalisation has been calculated excluding 
the shares held by the company. The business operations of Caverion 
Corporation, which was established in the partial demerger, were included 
in the YIT share and its value until 30 June 2013. For this reason, pre-
demerger figures are not comparable to the figures after the demerger.

YIT share (YTY1v)

•	 Listing: NASDAQ OMX Helsinki
•	 Listing date: 4 September 1995
•	 Trading currency: EUR
•	 Segment and sector: Large Cap
•	 Trading code: YTY1V
•	 ISIN code: FI0009800643
•	 Reuters ID: YTY1V.HE
•	 Bloomberg ID: YTY1V FH

InDIces
In 2013, YIT shares were included in the following indices, 
among others:
•	 OMX GES Ethical Finland Index
•	 OMX GES Sustainability Finland Index 
•	 OMX Helsinki
•	 OMX Helsinki 15
•	 OMX Helsinki 25
•	 OMX Helsinki Construction and Engineering
•	 OMX Helsinki Capital Goods
•	 OMX Helsinki Industrials
•	 OMX Helsinki Benchmark
•	 OMX Nordic

share prIce DevelopmenT anD TUrnover on nasDaQ omX helsInkI
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Debt financing
TreasUrY polIcY
The Board of Directors has approved the Treasury Policy for the 
Group. The Group Treasury is responsible for the practical implemen-
tation of the policy in association with the business units. In accord-
ance with the Treasury Policy, it is one key task of the Group Treasury 
to ensure the sufficient funds required for business operations and 
the achievement of strategic objectives. The Group Treasury must 
ensure the sufficiency of liquid assets for the needs of operational 
activity, repayment of debt and the annual payout of dividends to 
YIT’s shareholders. Furthermore, it is the aim of the Group Treasury 
to provide financing as cost-efficiently as possible while minimising 
net financial expenses, taking care of the management of financial 
risks and ensuring the sufficient diversification of financing sources.

sTrUcTUre anD soUrces oF FInancInG
YIT has a diverse capital structure and a strong liquidity position.

Cash reserves amounted to EUR 76.3 million at the end of Decem-
ber 2013. In addition, YIT had EUR 330.0 million in committed credit 
facilities and EUR 65.1 million in overdraft facilities available. Of the 
committed credit facilities, EUR 30.0 million are valid until December 
2014, EUR 250.0 million until December 2015 and EUR 50.0 million 
until October 2016. YIT Corporation’s bank loan and credit facility 
agreements include a financial covenant linked to YIT’s equity ratio. 
The financial covenant requires an equity ratio higher than 25% and 
is based on the IFRS balance sheet.

At the end of December 2013, the gearing ratio amounted to 112.0 
per cent and the equity ratio to 34.3 per cent.

The Group’s financial position enables the implementation of YIT’s 
strategy and the investments it requires. The Group has prepared for 
macroeconomic uncertainty by diversifying the sources of financing 
and maintaining the Group’s strong liquidity position.

FURTHER INFORMATION IN THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS on pages 19–32

YIT’s DeBT porTFolIo on 31 DecemBer 2013
Interest-bearing debt amounted to EUR 858.0 million at the end of 
December, and the average interest rate was 2.7 per cent. The matu-
rity distribution of long-term loans is balanced. A total of EUR 122.5 
million of long-term loans will mature during 2014.

Prior to completion of the partial demerger, YIT signed loan agree-
ments related to the partial demerger, carried out a voluntary tender 
offer for the company’s floating rate bonds and changed the terms 
of two fixed-rate bonds at noteholders’ meetings. During the last 
quarter of the year, YIT concluded a long-term credit facility agreement 
of EUR 50 million and a long-term loan agreement of RUB 1.6 billion 
(appr. EUR 35.3 million), which was drawn in the first quarter of 2014. 
After the end of the financial year, YIT has additionally concluded a 
loan agreement to secure the refinancing needs of the current year. 
As necessary, the aforementioned loan’s withdrawable amount is 
approximately EUR 62 million and it enables covering about half of 
the refinancing need for long-term loans during the current year. 

A substantial part of YIT’s financing originates from the domestic 
debt financing market, due to which the company has debt financing 
programmes for both short-term and long-term financing. Short-term 
financing is drawn within the framework of the commercial paper 
programme of EUR 400 million (EUR 158 million in use at the end of 
December) and long-term financing is drawn within the framework 
of the bond programme of EUR 600 million updated in the autumn 
(EUR 294.7 million in use at the end of December). 

soUrces oF FInancInG InTeresT raTe oF  
The DeBT porTFolIo

maTUrITY sTrUcTUre For 
lonGTerm DeBT, eUr mIllIon

 Bonds 34%
 Commercial papers 18%
 Banks 5%
 Construction stage financing 32%
 Insurance companies 11%

 Fixed interest rate 62%  
(Average interest rate 3.5%)

 Floating interest rate 38%  
(Average interest rate 1.4%)
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Investor relations

analysts following YIT

According to YIT’s information, at least the following brokerage 
firms publish investment analyses on YIT. These parties follow 
YIT on their own initiative, and we cannot be held responsible 
for their statements.

Tasks and objectives
The aim of our Investor Relations is to support the appropriate valu-
ation of YIT shares by continually and consistently communicating all 
essential information on YIT to all market parties. Investor Relations 
also aim to increase interest in the company among equity and debt 
investors as well as analysts, strengthen the loyalty of current share-
holders and reach new investors and analysts interested in the com-
pany.

Our Investor Relations are responsible for writing interim reports, 
the financial statements bulletin and stock exchange releases, as well 
as preparing investor presentations. Our Investor Relations are also 
responsible for planning and implementing investor communications 
and daily contacts with investors and analysts. Investor Relations also 
organise all investor meetings. 

YIT’s investor relations activity covers the Capital Markets Day, 
conferences for analysts and the media, conference calls, road show 
events, participation in investor conferences and events, as well as 
meetings with investors and analysts. Our investor relations work also 
involves collecting and analysing investor feedback and information 
related to shares and bonds issued by the company for the needs 
of the management and Board of Directors. All inquiries by investors 
are centrally managed by Investor Relations.

ABG Sundal Collier
Berenberg
Carnegie Investment Bank
Danske Markets Equities
DNB Markets
Evli Bank

Handelsbanken Capital Markets
Inderes Oy
Nordea Markets
Pareto Öhman
Pohjola Bank
SEB Enskilda

CONTACT DETAILS FOR THE ANALYSTS can be found on 
YIT’s website at www.yitgroup.com/Investors – 
Investor relations – analysts following YIT

YIT GROUP’S DISCLOSURE POLICY is published on our 
website at www.yitgroup.com/investors

Operations in 2013
During 2013, we met more than 1,000 investors and analysts. YIT 
arranged 35 road show dates with the company’s management, 
meeting investors in Europe, the United States and Canada. 

Our Capital Markets Day for investors and analysts was held on 
19 September 2013 in Moscow, Russia. The purpose of the event 
was to communicate YIT’s strategy and operations. The day’s pro-
gramme consisted of presentations by the management (including 
the President and CEO, the Executive Vice President, the CFO and 
local Russian management) and a visit to construction site in a Mos-
cow. The event had a total of 36 participants. The participants were 
from Finland, Sweden, Norway, the UK and Russia.

Furthermore, two analyst days were organised, the first of which 
in Evian, France, in March and the second in Inkoo, Finland, in June. 
The special theme of the latter analyst day was the presentation of 
the activities of YIT, which continues after the partial demerger, and 
Caverion, which was established in the partial demerger, as separate 
companies.

YIT Financial review 2013 5



contact information

YIT Corporation
Investor Relations
P.O. Box 36, FI-00621 Helsinki

InvestorRelations@yit.fi
Fax +358 (0)20 433 250

YIT’s result publications and 
annual general meeting in 2014
YIT’s Financial Statement Bulletin for 2013 was published on Thurs-
day 6 February 2014. The Annual Report for 2013, including the 
financial statements, was published in 24 February 2014.

In addition, YIT will publish three interim reports in 2014:
•	 Interim Report for January–March on 25 April 2014
•	 Interim Report for January–June on 24 July 2014
•	 Interim Report for January–September on 30 October 2014

The Financial Statements Bulletin and the interim reports will be 
published at approximately 8:00 a.m. Finnish time. Prior to each 
earnings announcement is a so-called “closed period” that starts on 
1 January, 1 April, 1 July and 1 October and lasts until the publication 
of the financial statements or interim report. During the closed period, 
YIT’s representatives do not meet capital market representatives or 
provide comments on YIT Group’s financial state or the future outlook 
of the company or its markets. 

YIT Corporation’s Annual General Meeting will be held in Helsinki 
on 18 March 2014. 

resUlT pUBlIcaTIon anD weBcasTs
YIT holds a news conference for investors and the media in connec-
tion with the publication of interim reports and financial statements 
at its Head Office in Helsinki. It is also possible to participate in the 
event via conference call. Webcasts of the publication events can be 
viewed on the YIT website, both live and subsequently as recordings 
at www.yitgroup.com/webcast.

 www.yitgroup.com/investors

orDerInG pUBlIcaTIons anD releases
YIT’s annual reports, interim reports and other publications can be 
ordered on YIT’s website or from YIT’s investor communications (tel. 
+358 (0)40 357 0905) or by e-mail (InvestorRelations@yit.fi). Releases 
can be ordered directly to your e-mail on the website.

InvesTor InFormaTIon on The InTerneT
The Investors section of YIT’s website contains, for example:
•	 Financial reports, stock exchange releases, investor 

presentations and webcasts and summarised video material of 
investor events

•	 Monthly updated data on our major shareholders and the 
company’s statutory insiders and their shareholdings

•	 Share trading data
•	 Tools for analysing the share, such as share price search and a 

total return calculator for calculating the value of your investment 
in YIT

•	 Consensus estimates of our earnings
•	 IR blog in English, discussing topical matters of interest to 

investors

  www.yitgroup.com/investors

chIeF FInancIal oFFIcer
Timo Lehtinen
Tel. +358 (0)45 6700 626
timo.lehtinen@yit.fi

vIce presIDenT,  
InvesTor relaTIons
Sanna Kaje
Tel. +358 (0)50 390 6750
sanna.kaje@yit.fi

InvesTor relaTIons 
specIalIsT
Marcus Lindell
Tel. +358 (0)40 762 5307
marcus.lindell@yit.fi 

InvesTor relaTIons 
specIalIsT
Iida Heikkinen
Tel. +38 (0)50 537 9406
iida.heikkinen@yit.fi

reQUesTs For 
InvesTor meeTInGs
Annukka Heiskanen
Tel. +358 (0)40 357 0905
annukka.heiskanen@yit.fi
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Corporate Governance

Governing bodies
YIT Corporation’s highest decision-making body is the Annual General 
Meeting, which is composed of the company’s shareholders. The 
Board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible for the 
management of the company. Other management personnel assist 
and support the President and CEO in his tasks. The Board of Direc-
tors decides on the Group’s governance systems and ensures that 
the company complies with good corporate governance principles.

annUal General meeTInG
The General Meeting is the Group’s highest decision-making body, 
where the shareholders participate in the supervision and control of 
the company and exercise their rights to speak and vote. The Annual 
General Meeting is held each year by the end of March on a date 
determined by the Board of Directors. Extraordinary General Meetings 
can be held when the Board of Directors considers it necessary to 
do so or when required by legislation.

The Annual General Meeting takes decisions on matters falling 
within its competence by virtue of the Limited Liability Companies 
Act and the Articles of Association, such as:
•	 approving the financial statements
•	 distribution of profits
•	 discharging the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO 

from liability
•	 the election of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and members of the 

Board and the remuneration paid to them 
•	 the election of the auditors and the remuneration to be paid for 

the audit
•	 amendments to the Articles of Association
•	 decisions leading to changes in the share capital
•	 share buyback and transferring the company’s own shares
•	 decisions on share options.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors, a sufficient number of mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, the external auditor and the President 
and CEO are all present at the meeting. Persons nominated for the 

YIT Corporation aims for open, transparent and 
responsible corporate governance. We are commit-
ted to good corporate governance through compli-
ance with laws and regulations and implementing 
best practices. We comply with all of the recommen-
dations of the Finnish Corporate Governance Code 
issued by the Securities Market Association.

major events during the year
•	 Demerger 

•	 YIT Corporation’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 
June 2013 approved the demerger plan and decided on the 
partial demerger of YIT. According to the demerger plan, YIT 
demerged so that all of the assets and liabilities related to 
YIT’s Building Services business were transferred to 
Caverion Corporation, a new company established in the 
demerger. After the demerger, YIT’s business operations 
comprise Construction Services. Following the 
implementation of the demerger, Caverion Corporation is a 
public limited company, separate from YIT Corporation and 
listed on the stock exchange. The registration date of the 
implementation of the demerger was 30 June 2013.

•	 Discontinuation of the Working Committee 
•	 At its meeting on 17 June 2013, YIT Corporation’s Board of 

Directors decided to discontinue the Board’s Working 
Committee. The Board of Directors continues to have two 
committees, the Audit Committee and the Personnel 
Committee. 

•	 YIT’s Construction Services business has operated in two 
business segments: Construction Services Finland and 
International Construction Services. After the partial demerger, 
the Group’s Management Board has included Kari 
Kauniskangas, the President and CEO of YIT Corporation; Tero 
Kiviniemi, YIT Corporation’s Executive Vice President; Yuri 
Belomestnov, General Director of YIT Moskovia; Jouni 
Forsman, head of Infraservices business division; Teemu 
Helppolainen, head of business area Russia; Harri Isoviita, 
head of Residential Construction business division; Matti 
Koskela, head of Building Construction business division; Timo 
Lehmus, head of Business Premises business division; Timo 
Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer; Juhani Nummi, Senior Vice 
President, Business Development, Pii Raulo, Senior Vice 
President, Human Resources; Tom Sandvik, head of Central 
Eastern Europe business division; and Mikhail Voziyanov, 
General Director of YIT Lentek (St. Petersburg).

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON YIT’S WEBSITE  
www.yitgroup.com/investors
•	 investor information pursuant to recommendation 55 of the 

Finnish Corporate Governance Code, including, among other 
things, the Corporate Governance Statement

•	 Articles of Association
•	 YIT Business Principles

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE INTERNET
•	 Limited Liability Companies Act: www.finlex.fi
•	 Rules of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki: www.nasdaqomx.com
•	 Finnish Corporate Governance Code: cgfinland.fi/en/

YIT’s corporaTe Governance on 31 DecemBer 2013

annUal General meeTInG
43,752 shareholders on 31 December 2013

presIDenT anD ceo

manaGemenT BoarD
Chairman (President and CEO), Vice 
Chairman, 11 members

seGmenTs
Construction Services Finland
International Construction Services

BoarD oF DIrecTors
Chairman, Vice Chairman, 3 members

commITTees
Audit Committee 
Personnel Committee

aUDIT
Authorised 
Public 
Accountants

InTernal 
conTrol
Management 
systems
Internal audit
Internal 
guidelines
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The Board convenes regularly as summoned by the Chairman. A 
quorum is established when more than half of its members are pre-
sent. An opinion supported by more than half of the members present 
becomes the decision. When the votes are even, the Chairman has 
the casting vote. The CEO as referendary and CFO as secretary of 
the Board are present at Board meetings. Other Management Board 
members participate in the meetings when needed. The CEO and 
the secretary of the Board prepare the meetings with the Chairman 
of the Board and draw up the agendas. They also ensure that the 
Board is provided with sufficient information on matters such as the 
structure, operations and markets of the company in order to carry 
out its tasks. The meeting agendas and materials are sent to Board 
members in good time before the meeting.

The Board of Directors and its committees have ratified standing 
orders. The members of the Board evaluate the operation of the 
Board each year, and the results are taken into account in the Board’s 
work and its development.

parTIcIpaTIon oF BoarD memBers In meeTInGs  
1 JanUarY–31 DecemBer 2013

Board of 
Directors

audit  
committee

personnel 
committee

working 
commit

tee 1) 

Henrik Ehrnrooth 15/15 9/9 4/4

Kim Gran 13/15 7/7

Reino Hanhinen 15/15 3/4 9/9 4/4

Antti Herlin 2) 2/2 2/2

Satu Huber 15/15 6/6

Erkki Järvinen 3) 12/13 5/5

Ari Lehtoranta 4) 5/8

Michael Rosenlew 5) 10/10 3/3 4/4

average  
attendance rate 94% 93% 100% 100%

1) The Working Committee was discontinued on 17 June 2013.
2) Antti Herlin was a member of the Board and the Personnel Committee until 15 

March 2013. Before 15 March 2013, the Board of Directors convened two (2) 
times and the Personnel Committee likewise two (2) times.

3) Erkki Järvinen was a member of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee 
between 15 March and 31 December 2013. During this time, the Board convened 
thirteen (13) times and the Audit Committee convened five (5) times.

4) Ari Lehtoranta was a member of the Board between 15 March and 30 June 
2013. During this time, the Board convened eight (8) times.

5) Michael Rosenlew was a member of the Board between 1 January–30 June 
2013. During this time, the Board convened ten (10) times. Furthermore, he was 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee between 1 January and 30 June 2013 and 
a member of the Working Committee between 1 January and 17 June 2013. 
During this time, the Audit Committee convened three (3) times and the Working 
Committee four (4) times. 

first time to seats on the Board of Directors always participate in the 
General Meeting deciding on the election unless there are justified 
reasons for their absence.

The rights of shareholders 
Every YIT shareholder has the right to participate in a General Meet-
ing. Participation requires that the shareholder is registered in the 
shareholder register on the General Meeting’s record date, which is 
eight working days prior to the meeting, and that the shareholder 
registers for the meeting not later than on the day mentioned in the 
notice of the meeting.

One share confers one vote at the General Meeting. Shareholders 
have the right to have matters falling within the competence of the 
General Meeting by virtue of the Limited Liability Companies Act 
included on the agenda, provided they demand, in writing, the Board 
of Directors to do so early enough so that the item can be included 
in the notice of meeting. The date by which shareholders must present 
their requests will be published well in advance on the company’s 
website.

The notice of meeting is published no later than three weeks before 
the meeting on the company’s website. The notice contains the 
agenda, the names of the persons nominated to seats on the Board 
of Directors and the nominated auditor. The minutes of the General 
Meeting with voting results are available no later than two weeks after 
the General Meeting on YIT’s website.

annual General meeting 2013
The Annual General Meeting was held on 15 March 2013 in Helsinki. 
A total of 693 shareholders participated in the General Meeting per-
sonally or by proxy (2012: 606), representing a total of 63,520,473 
(58,555,324) shares and voting rights, which is approximately 49.9 
per cent (47.0 per cent) of the company’s shares and voting rights. 
All members of the Board of Directors, the President and CEO and 
the auditor were present at the meeting.

extraordinary General meeting 2013
The Extraordinary General Meeting was held on 17 June 2013 in 
Helsinki. A total of 629 shareholders participated in the meeting 
personally or by proxy, representing 55,117,080 shares and voting 
rights, which was approximately 43.3 per cent of the company’s 
shares and voting rights. All members of the Board of Directors, the 
President and CEO and the auditor were present at the meeting. The 
Extraordinary General Meeting decided on the partial demerger of 
YIT Corporation and, for example, the compositions of the Boards 
of Directors of Caverion Corporation established in the demerger and 
YIT Corporation.

THE RESOLUTIONS OF THE GENERAL MEETINGS are 
presented as a summary in the Report of the Board of Directors 
on page 19, and they can be viewed in full on our Internet pages  
www.yitgroup.com/agm

BoarD oF DIrecTors
The Board of Directors supervises and controls the management and 
operations of the company. The duty of the Board is to promote the 
interests of all shareholders and the Group by seeing to the admin-
istration and proper organisation of operations.

The Board of Directors comprises the Chairman and the Vice 
Chairman and three to five members elected by the general meeting 
of shareholders for one year at a time. The Articles of Association 
have no special provisions on the members of the Board of Directors. 
The majority of the members must be independent of the company. 
In addition, we require that at least two of the majority members be 
independent of the major shareholders of the company. The President 
and CEO cannot be elected as the Chairman of the Board. Both 
genders must be represented on the Board. 

YIT corporation’s Board of 
Directors on 31 December 2013
Henrik Ehrnrooth (Chairman)
Reino Hanhinen (Vice Chairman) 

Kim Gran
Satu Huber 
Erkki Järvinen

aUDIT commITTee
Satu Huber (Chairman)
Reino Hanhinen
Erkki Järvinen

personnel commITTee
Henrik Ehrnrooth (Chairman)
Reino Hanhinen
Kim Gran
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key tasks of the Board of Directors
Among other duties, the Board of Directors:
•	 ensures that the supervision of accounting and asset management 

are organised appropriately
•	 reviews and approves the company’s Financial Statements and 

the Board of Director’s report as well as Interim Reports
•	 supervises and controls operating management
•	 elects and dismisses the CEO and his deputy, decides on their 

salary and agrees on the other terms of their employment
•	 convenes the General Meeting of shareholders and makes 

proposals on matters to be included on its agenda
•	 specifies the dividend policy and makes a proposal to the General 

Meeting on the dividend to be paid annually 
•	 approves the Group’s strategic goals and risk management 

principles
•	 approves budgets and action plans and oversees their 

implementation
•	 approves significant acquisitions and other investments
•	 confirms the functional structure of the Group
•	 ensures the functioning of management systems
•	 ratifies the Group’s values

Board of Directors 2013
The members of YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors between 1 
January and 15 March 2013 were Henrik Ehrnrooth as the Chairman, 
Reino Hanhinen as the Vice Chairman and Kim Gran, Antti Herlin, 
Satu Huber and Michael Rosenlew as members.

The Annual General Meeting held on 15 March 2013 elected five 
(5) ordinary members to YIT’s Board of Directors in addition to the 
Chairman and the Vice Chairman. Henrik Ehrnrooth was re-elected 
as Chairman of the Board, Reino Hanhinen was re-elected as the 
Vice Chairman and Kim Gran, Satu Huber and Michael Rosenlew 
continued as Board members. Erkki Järvinen and Ari Lehtoranta were 
elected to the Board as new members. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 June 2013 con-
firmed the number of Board members to be three (3) in addition to 
the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Board. Ari Lehtoranta 
and Michael Rosenlew, who were elected to Caverion Corporation’s 
Board of Directors, left the Board. As of the registration of the imple-
mentation of the demerger on 30 June 2013, YIT Corporation’s Board 
of Directors has comprised Henrik Ernrooth as the Chairman, Reino 
Hanhinen as Vice Chairman, and Kim Gran, Satu Huber and Erkki 
Järvinen as members. 

All of the members of the Board of Directors were independent of 
YIT and its major shareholders, except Henrik Ehrnrooth who is not 
independent of the company’s significant shareholder. He indirectly 
holds, with his brothers Georg Ehrnrooth and Carl-Gustaf Ehrnrooth, 
a controlling interest in Structor S.A., which is a major shareholder of 
YIT Corporation. During 2013, the Board of Directors convened 15 
times, of which five times were after the demerger. The members’ 
total attendance rate was 94 per cent. The Board of Directors con-
ducted a self-evaluation of its work during the period, assessing 
matters such as the efficiency of its work, the quality of information 
and materials submitted to the Board, focus areas of its work and 
the targets set for management. The results of the assessment are 
to be used in developing the Board’s work. 

During the first half of the year, the Board’s work focused on pre-
paring the partial demerger and the related decision-making. Other 
focus areas of its work in 2013 included ensuring controlled and 
profitable growth as part of YIT’s strategy work, planning business 
operations, Group structure, risk management and the Group’s work-
ing capital, cash flow and financial position. 

Timo Lehtinen, the CFO of the Group, served as the secretary of 
the Board.

PRESENTATIONS OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD are on  
page 30 in the Annual review and also in our Internet pages  
www.yitgroup.com/investors – corporate Governance 

proposal on composition of Board of Directors in 2014
The Board of Directors proposes on recommendation of the Person-
nel Committee that four (4) members be elected to the Board in 
addition to the Chairman and the Vice Chairman. The Board of Direc-
tors proposes on recommendation of the Personnel Committee that 
Reino Hanhinen is elected as the Chairman of the Board, Kim Gran 
as Vice Chairman and Satu Huber, Erkki Järvinen, Juhani Pitkäkoski 
and Teuvo Salminen as members. Juhani Pitkäkoski and Teuvo 
Salminen are proposed to the Board as new members. All candidates 
have given their permission to be elected and are presented in the 
company’s Internet pages. 

commITTees For The BoarD oF DIrecTors
Until 17 June 2013, the Board of Directors had three committees: the 
Audit Committee, the Working Committee and the Personnel Com-
mittee. The Board decided to discontinue the Working Committee 
on 17 June 2013.

The Board of Directors elects the members and Chairmen of the 
Committees from among its members at its organisational first meet-
ing each year. All Committees have written standing orders ratified by 
the Board of Directors. The Committees report to the Board of Direc-
tors on the matters dealt with by them and the required actions on a 
regular basis at the Board meeting following each Committee meeting.

audit committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in the supervision 
of the Group’s reporting and accounting processes. Its tasks include 
overseeing the financial reporting process of the company, the effec-
tiveness of internal control, internal audit and risk management 
systems as well as monitoring and assessing the audit. The Com-
mittee reviews the company’s Financial Statements and Interim 
Reports. It evaluates compliance with laws and regulations and follows 
the Group’s financial position.

The Committee convenes four to five times per year and more 
often, if necessary. It comprises three (3) members independent of 
the company. In addition, it is required that at least one of the mem-
bers is independent of major shareholders. Persons who have exten-
sive knowledge of our business operations and business segments 
and sufficient knowledge of accounting and accounting principles 
are elected as members. The Group’s CFO serves as the secretary 
of the Audit Committee.

audit committee in 2013
Members of the Audit Committee between 1 January and 15 March 
2013 were Michael Rosenlew as the Chairman and Reino Hanhinen 
and Satu Huber as members. At its organisational meeting on 15 
March 2013, the Board of Directors elected from among its members 
Michael Rosenlew as the Chairman and Satu Huber and Erkki Järvinen 
as members of the Audit Committee. After the demerger, as of 30 
June 2013, Satu Huber was elected as the Chairman and Reino 
Hanhinen and Erkki Järvinen as members of the Audit Committee. 

During 2013, the Audit Committee convened six times, of which 
three times in the new composition of the Committee after 30 June 
2013. The members’ total attendance rate was 93 per cent. CFO 
Timo Lehtinen served as the secretary of the Committee. Juhani 
Pitkäkoski, the company’s CEO, also participated in Committee meet-
ings until 30 June 2013, being replaced by Kari Kauniskangas, the 
new CEO, as of that time. In addition, Ari Ladvelin, head of internal 
audit, participated in the meetings. The auditor, Heikki Lassila (Price-
waterhouseCoopers) also attended the meetings, as did members 
of the company’s management and experts, depending on the mat-
ters dealt with by the meeting. 

During the financial period, the Audit Committee focused on, for 
example, preparation for the partial demerger and financing arrange-
ments, making working capital and cash flow more efficient, prepar-
ing the company’s information management strategy and ensuring 
and monitoring key IT projects as well as the review of the risk man-
agement, litigation and claim processes. 
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personnel committee
The task of the Personnel Committee is to assist the Board in matters 
related to appointing and rewarding key personnel. Among other 
things, the Personnel Committee participates in the development of 
the Group’s corporate culture and HR policy and the preparation of 
the remuneration and incentive schemes, the rules for performance-
based bonuses and the proposals for performance-based bonuses 
paid to the management. In addition, identifying talents, the develop-
ment of key personnel and planning for management replacements 
fall under the preparation responsibility of the Committee. 

The Committee convenes as necessary and as summoned by the 
Chairman. It has a minimum of three and a maximum of five members, 
who have knowledge of our business operations and business seg-
ments as well as HR and reward-related matters. We require that the 
members of the Committee are independent of the company as 
stated in the Finnish Corporate Governance Code. Senior Vice 
President, Human Resources, serves as the Committee’s secretary.

personnel committee in 2013
The members of YIT Corporation’s Personnel Committee between 1 
January and 15 March 2013 were Henrik Ehrnrooth as the Chairman 
and Reino Hanhinen and Antti Herlin as members. At its organisational 
meeting on 15 March 2013, the Board elected Henrik Ehrnrooth as 
Chairman and Kim Gran and Reino Hanhinen as members of the 
Personnel Committee from among its number.

The Committee convened a total of ten times in 2013. The mem-
bers’ total attendance rate was 100 per cent. Pii Raulo, Senior Vice 
President, Human Resources, served as the secretary of the Com-
mittee.

The main tasks of the Personnel Committee in 2013 were to pre-
pare the key choices of persons in connection with the partial 
demerger, ratify the rules for performance-based bonuses and prepare 
the new multi-annual incentive scheme. The Personnel Committee 
also participated actively in the process of preparing YIT’s values and 
management principles. 

working committee
The task of the Working Committee was to assist the Board of Direc-
tors in matters related to the development of YIT’s business opera-
tions. The tasks of the Working Committee included addressing 
matters related to business development and preparing proposals 
for the Board of YIT. According to its ratified standing orders, the 
Working Committee addressed matters related to Group strategy, 
business segment structure, business organisation and significant 
investments. 

The Working Committee convened as necessary, summoned by 
the Chairman. The Committee had three (3) members: the Chairman 
of YIT’s Board of Directors, the Vice Chairman and a third member 
elected by the Board of Directors from among its number. The Chair-
man of the Board acted as the Chairman of the Committee. The 
President and CEO served as the Committee’s secretary.

working committee in 2013
Between 1 January and 15 March 2013, the members of the Work-
ing Committee were the Board of Directors’ Chairman Henrik Ehrn-
rooth and Vice Chairman Reino Hanhinen, as well as Michael Rosen-
lew, appointed by the Board of Directors from among its number. At 
its organisational meeting on 15 March 2013, the Board of Directors 
decided to keep the composition of the Committee unchanged. The 
Board of Directors decided to discontinue the Working Committee 
on 17 June 2013.

The Working Committee convened four times in 2013. The mem-
bers’ total attendance rate was 100 per cent. President and CEO 
Juhani Pitkäkoski acted as the secretary of the Committee. Members 

of the company’s management, depending on the matters dealt with 
at the meeting, attended some of the meetings.

The main task of the Working Committee in 2013 was to prepare 
and ensure the partial demerger. During the first half of the year, the 
Working Committee ensured, for its part, the implementation of the 
efficiency programme of the Building Services Northern Europe busi-
ness segment and prepared a strategic company acquisition, which 
was not realised. 

presIDenT anD ceo
The President and CEO attends to the day-to-day administration of 
the company in accordance with the instructions and regulations laid 
down by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors appoints and 
discharges the CEO and supervises his operation. It also decides on 
the CEO’s salary and fees and other terms of employment. The CEO 
ensures that the company’s accounting is lawful and asset manage-
ment is organised reliably. The President and CEO serves as the 
Chairman of the Group’s Management Board. 

manaGemenT BoarD anD GroUp InvesTmenT BoarD
The President and CEO and other members appointed by the Board 
of Directors make up the Group’s Management Board. The President 
and CEO appoints the Management Board’s secretary. The Group’s 
Management Board, which meets on a regular basis, approximately 
once a month, assists the Group CEO with operational planning and 
management and prepares matters that are to be processed by the 
Board of Directors. Among other duties, the Management Board 
formulates and coordinates the Group’s strategic and annual planning 
and supervises the implementation of plans and financial reporting. 
The Management Board actively monitors changes in the operating 
environment and in the market and the competitor field. Development 
of co-operation within the Group and promoting common develop-
ment projects are also among the Management Board’s key duties. 
In addition to the Management Board, a separate Group Investment 
Board assists the President and CEO in the planning of capital use, 
investments and the preparation of acquisitions. 

The President and CEO is responsible for the decisions made by 
the Management Board and the Group Investment Board. The task 
of the members of the Management Board and the Group Investment 
Board is to implement the decisions in their own areas of responsibil-
ity. Both have standing orders ratified by the Board of Directors.

management Board in 2013
Juhani Pitkäkoski served as YIT Corporation’s President and CEO 
until 30 June 2013. Kari Kauniskangas has acted as the President 
and CEO since 30 June 2013. 

The Group Management Board until 30 June 2013:
•	 Juhani Pitkäkoski, Chairman, President and CEO of YIT Corporation
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Vice Chairman, YIT Corporation’s Executive 

Vice President and deputy to the President and CEO, head of the 
International Construction Services business segment

•	 Tero Kiviniemi, head of the Construction Services Finland business 
segment

•	 Juha Kostiainen, Senior Vice President, Urban Development and 
Corporate Relations

•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer, YIT Corporation
•	 Matti Malmberg, head of the Building Services Northern Europe 

business segment
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Karl-Walter Schuster, head of the Building Services Central Europe 

business segment
•	 Sakari Toikkanen, secretary of the Management Board, Senior 

Vice President, Business Development, YIT Corporation
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The Group Management Board as of 30 June 2013:
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Chairman, President and CEO of YIT 

Corporation
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Vice Chairman, YIT Corporation’s Executive Vice 

President and deputy to the President and CEO
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, General Director of YIT Moskovia (Moscow 

region)
•	 Jouni Forsman, head of Infraservices business division
•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Russia
•	 Harri Isoviita, head of Residential Construction business division
•	 Matti Koskela, head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, head of Business Premises business division
•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Juhani Nummi, Senior Vice President, Business Development
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Tom Sandvik, head of Central Eastern Europe business division
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, General Director of YIT Lentek (St. Petersburg)

The Group Management Board as of 1 January 2014
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Chairman, President and CEO of YIT 

Corporation, head of the Housing segment
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Vice Chairman, YIT Corporation’s Executive Vice 

President, head of the Business Premises and Infrastructure 
segment

•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Russia
•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Juhani Nummi, Senior Vice President, Business Development
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources

In addition to the above, the extended Management Board also 
includes: 
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, General Director of YIT Moskovia (Moscow 

region) until 7 February 2014
•	 Jouni Forsman, head of Infraservices business division
•	 Harri Isoviita, head of Residential Construction business division
•	 Matti Koskela, head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, head of Business Premises business division
•	 Tom Sandvik, head of Central Eastern Europe business division
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, General Director of YIT Lentek (St. Petersburg)

A MORE DETAILED PRESENTATION OF THE MEMBERS 
is on page 31 in the Annual revies and 
in our Internet pages  
www.yitgroup.com/investors – corporate Governance

The Management Board convened twelve (12) times during the year, 
of which six (6) times were after the partial demerger. Focus areas of 
the Management Board’s work included the preparation and imple-
mentation of the partial demerger, promotion of the strategy of con-
trolled and profitable growth, preparation and monitoring of shared 
development programmes and development of occupational safety 
and the Group’s ethical principles. After the ratification of YIT’s values 
and management principles, the Management Board has ensured 
their communication throughout the Group. 

InTernal aUDIT
YIT Group’s internal audit organisation supports the management in 
the development and supervision of risk management, internal con-
trol and good corporate governance. The focus of the work of the 
internal audit is on business processes and risk management. The 
work is coordinated with the audit and corporate security. The Group’s 
internal audit reports to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
and administratively to the President and CEO of YIT Corporation.

Internal audit in 2013
The functions of internal audit were divided between Caverion Cor-
poration and YIT Corporation on 1 July 2013. The operating principles 
of YIT’s internal audit in the new organisation were reviewed and 
updated. The focus areas of internal audit included the partial 
demerger, emerging markets, assignments related to reporting and 
accounting, the management of misconduct risks and the risk man-
agement for major projects.

aUDIT
According to the Articles of Association, YIT has one auditor that 
must be a firm of auditors approved by the Central Chamber of 
Commerce. The Annual General Meeting elects the auditor based 
on the proposal prepared by the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors. The auditor audits the company’s accounting, Board of 
Directors’ report, Financial Statements and administration for the 
financial year. The parent company’s auditor must also audit the 
consolidated financial statements and other mutual relations between 
the Group companies. In conjunction with the Financial Statements, 
the auditor gives YIT’s shareholders an Auditor’s Report as required 
by law. The auditor reports regularly to the Board of Directors.The 
auditor’s fee is paid as per invoice. When electing the auditor, it is 
taken into account that the aggregate duration of the consecutive 
terms of YIT’s chief auditor may not exceed seven years.

audit in 2013
The Annual General Meeting in 2013 elected PricewaterhouseCoop-
ers Oy, Authorised Public Accountants, to audit governance and 
accounts in 2013. The auditor with main responsibility is Heikki Lassila, 
Authorised Public Accountant, who has been the company’s chief 
auditor since 2008.

aUDIT Fees

eUr million 2013 2012

Audit 0.8 0.9

Certificates and statements 0.2 0.0

Tax advice 0.0 0.4

Other fees 0.8 0.3

Total 1.8 1.6

InsIDer aDmInIsTraTIon
YIT Group has had Guidelines for Insiders since 1 March 2000. They 
follow the Guidelines for Insiders approved by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 
for listed companies. Our permanent insiders may not trade in secu-
rities issued by YIT during the periods between the end of review 
periods and the publication of financial statements or interim reports 
(closed window). For the statutory insiders (insiders with duty to 
declare) and their close associates, the ownership of YIT securities 
is public. Statutory insiders include the members and secretary of 
the Board of Directors, the President and CEO, his Deputy, the audit 
organisation employee with the main responsibility for the audit of the 
company and the members and secretary of the Group’s Manage-
ment Board. In addition, YIT has permanent company-specific insid-
ers and in special projects separately named project-specific insiders 
whose holdings are not public. YIT’s company-specific insiders are 
the persons who regularly receive insider information based on their 
position or duties or whom the company has determined to be 
company-specific insiders. Company-specific insiders include sepa-
rately specified management and key personnel of the Group, the 
President and CEO’s secretary, the secretaries of the Executive Vice 
President and of the CFO and other specified persons. In total, the 
Group had 48 permanent insiders at the end of 2013. The company 
maintains a register of its insiders subject to a disclosure requirement 
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in Euroclear Finland Ltd’s system, where information on shareholding 
is directly available from the book-entry securities system.

UP-TO-DATE OWNERSHIP AND TRADING INFORMATION ON 
INSIDERS on our website www.yitgroup.com/investors – 
major shareholders – Insiders’ ownership in YIT

Operating principles and  
control systems
operaTInG prIncIples anD conTrol sYsTems 
YIT complies with the legislation of Finland and its operating countries 
as well as the regulations and guidelines for listed companies in all of 
its operations. Operations are also guided by the company’s values 
and business principles, which all of the employees must comply with 
at all times. The company has ratified the following guidelines and 
policies: YIT Business Principles, YIT’s values and management 
principles, standing orders of YIT Group and administrative bodies, 
guidelines for insiders, the Group’s disclosure policy, the Group’s 
financing policy, guidelines on the accounting and reporting policies, 
risk management policy, corporate security policy, investment guide-
lines and guidelines for acquisitions.

YIT BUsIness prIncIples
YIT’s mission, vision and values are the foundation of YIT’s operations 
and ways of working. Management at YIT is based on transparency 
and trust, which are founded on YIT’s values. Commitment to our 
values promotes the long-term success of our business. Success in 
business requires that we respect our stakeholders and produce 
value for various stakeholders from our customers to our sharehold-
ers. YIT Business Principles include the principles that guide our 
operations in relation to customers, employees, shareholders, busi-
ness partners, competitors, society and the environment. Every 
employee is, for his or her part, responsible for complying with YIT 
Business Principles. 

InTernal conTrol anD rIsk manaGemenT 
connecTeD wITh The FInancIal reporTInG process
After the partial demerger of YIT Corporation, the profit centres of 
Construction Services continued the implementation of their action 
plans. Business operations are supported by such functions as Group 
accounting, IT and financing. Financial reporting and supervision are 
based on the strategy updated annually, budgets drafted every six 
months and monthly performance reporting. The most significant 
part of the accounting material is generated in projects. The profit-
ability of projects and the use of capital is estimated and supervised 
on a monthly basis as part of the continuous business control. 

The Group’s financial and financing management is responsible 
for identifying and assessing financial risks. The CFO is a member of 
the Group’s Management Board, and he serves as the secretary of 
the Audit Committee. The financial management of the business 
divisions and units is responsible for reporting in their own areas of 
responsibility according to the Group guidelines. The representatives 
of centralised financial functions and the CFOs of business segments 
convene on a monthly basis to review matters that concern segments, 
the most significant development projects and topical special issues 
concerning financial administration. 

The risks of financial reporting are assessed every year and, on 
the basis of this, internal control is developed to manage risks. Key 
means of risk management include the Group’s accounting guidelines 
and the accounting information systems, as well as the controls 
related to the forecasting of the financial result of projects. There is 
an anonymous reporting channel through which matters related to 
suspected financial misconduct can be reported.

In 2013 
In 2013, the Russian companies continued to harmonise the local 
accounting and information system. In the Baltic countries and Cen-
tral Eastern Europe, a unified financial administration system was 
adopted in all countries. Risks related to financial reporting have been 
identified and evaluated annually. The most significant reporting risks 
were considered to include the reliability of projects’ financial forecasts 
and the accounting based on them, resource issues in financial 
administration, risks related to the schedules of reporting, the reliabil-
ity of cash flow forecasts and valuation issues related to completed 
unsold residential units. The focus areas for development work 
included improving the quality of project forecasts and cash flow 
reporting, monitoring of the use of capital and the harmonisation work 
on the Russian accounting system. The development work on the 
next generation information system for project management and 
reporting was also begun.

THE INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEMS CONNECTED WITH THE FINANCIAL REPORTING 
PROCESS are described in more detail in YIT Corporation’s 
Corporate Governance Statement at  
www.yitgroup.com/investors – corporate Governance

YIT Corporation remuneration 
statement 2013 
The aim of YIT’s remuneration systems is to reward good perfor-
mance, increase the personnel’s motivation, and commit the com-
pany’s management and its employees to the company’s objectives 
in the long term. 

DecIsIonmakInG reGarDInG remUneraTIon
YIT Corporation’s Annual General Meeting decides on the fees for 
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors decides on the salary 
and fees and other terms of employment of the CEO and other key 
Group employees, such as the CEO’s deputy and members of the 
Group’s Management Board. 

The Personnel Committee of the Board of Directors prepares mat-
ters related to the appointment and remuneration of the Board mem-
bers and the Group’s key personnel as well as the Group’s HR policy. 
Among other things, the Committee prepares proposals for the 
appointment of the Board members, President and CEO and other 
Group key personnel, as well as their remuneration and other terms 
of employment. In addition, its tasks include preparing the Group’s 
bonus rules and other issues related to pay policy.

our operations are guided by:

keY eXTernal reGUlaTIons
•	 Limited Liability Companies Act
•	 Rules of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki
•	 Finnish Corporate Governance Code 

keY InTernal reGUlaTIons
•	 Articles of Association
•	 YIT Group’s standing orders
•	 Standing orders of the Board of Directors, its 

committees and the Management Boards
•	 YIT Business Principles
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performancebased bonuses
The basis of remuneration is a fixed salary, in addition to which most 
of the Group’s salaried employees are included in a performance-
based bonus scheme. The Board of Directors confirms the criteria 
for the payment of performance-based bonuses every six months.

The bonuses paid are determined on the basis of the realisation 
of personal profit objectives, the Group’s financial result, and the 
attainment of profitability, growth and development objectives. Per-
formance and development discussions are an essential part of the 
management by key results system. In these discussions, employees 
and their superiors agree on the key objectives and their relative 
weighting and review the fulfilment of the previously agreed objectives. 
The key principles and objectives for the result period influencing the 
personal performance-based bonuses are specified at the business 
division and unit level.

The maximum annual performance-based bonus paid to the CEO 
and the Management Board may equal 50–60 per cent of their annual 
taxable pay excluding the performance-based bonus.

Other monetary rewards in use at YIT include new-initiative 
bonuses and years-of-service bonuses.

sharebased incentive scheme
YIT has implemented a share-based incentive scheme to support the 
company’s strategy for profitable growth and supplement the already 
available incentive schemes. 

The scheme consists of three earnings periods, i.e. the calendar 
years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Shares were handed over in 2011, 2012 
and 2013 based on the performance the previous year. A total of 

remUneraTIon oF BoarD DIrecTors 1 JanUarY–31 DecemBer 2013

Board 
membership

Board 
meetings

audit 
committee 

meetings

personnel 
committee 

meetings

working 
committee 

meetings
Total
2013

Total
2012

member of 
the Board 

2013

Henrik Ehrnrooth 79,200 8,250 4,950 2,200 94,600 94,050 1 Jan–31 Dec

Kim Gran 46,800 7,150 3,850 57,800 51,750 1 Jan–31 Dec

Eino Halonen*) 11,700

Reino Hanhinen 60,000 8,250 1,650 4,950 2,200 77,050 75,950 1 Jan–31 Dec

Antti Herlin 11,700 1,100 1,100 13,900 54,500 1 Jan–15 Mar

Satu Huber 46,800 8,250 3,300 58,350 55,600 1 Jan–31 Dec

Erkki Järvinen 37,050 6,600 2,750 46,400 15 Mar–31 Dec

Ari Lehtoranta 13,650 2,750 16,400 15 Mar–30 Jun

Michael Rosenlew 23,400 5,500 1,650 2,200 32,750 60,000 1 Jan–30 Jun

Board of 
Directors, total 318,600 47,850 9,350 14,850 6,600 397,250 403,550

*) Eino Halonen was a member of the Board, Audit Committee and Personnel Committee until 13 March 2012.

approximately 700,000 shares could be rewarded annually, of which 
a maximum of 20,000 to the President and CEO. 

Employees included in the incentive scheme are obligated to not 
transfer their shares within two years of having obtained them for the 
shares based on performance in 2010 and three years for the shares 
based on performance in 2011 and 2012, i.e. throughout the duration 
of the commitment period. If the employment of an employee included 
within the scope of the scheme is terminated during the commitment 
period, the employee must return any shares obtained as rewards to 
the company free of charge. In the case of shares granted for 2010, 
the commitment period has ended.

According to the terms and conditions of the share-based incen-
tive scheme, YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors ratified the numbers 
of shares to be granted by key person on 25 April 2013 on the basis 
of the objectives and results set for 2012. The handing over was 
implemented as a directed, gratuitous share issue using the com-
pany’s own shares possessed by the company. The number of shares 

handed over was 224,743, and 247 key persons of the Group were 
entitled to them.

After the registration of the implementation of the partial demerger 
of YIT Corporation on 30 June 2013, persons in the employ of YIT 
Group had a total of 164,405 shares granted as bonuses in 2013. 

During 2013, a total of 18,452 shares were returned to the com-
pany in accordance with the terms and conditions.

pension, retirement age and termination compensation
The contractual retirement age of the CEO and his deputy is 62. In 
other respects, the statutory retirement ages apply to the members 
of the Management Board. The contractual pension of the CEO and 
his deputy amounts to 60 per cent of salary accounted according to 
Finnish employment pension law. The contractual period of notice is 
six months. If the company terminates the contract, the CEO and his 
deputy shall also be paid separate compensation amounting to 12 
months’ salary.

remUneraTIon oF BoarD memBers 
The Annual General Meeting 2013 decided that the Board of Directors 
be paid remuneration as follows:
•	 Chairman: EUR 6,600 per month (EUR 79,200 per year)
•	 Vice Chairman: EUR 5,000 per month (EUR 60,000 per year)
•	 Members: EUR 3,900 per month (EUR 46,800 per year)

In addition, a meeting fee of EUR 550 is paid for each Board and 
committee meeting. Per diems for trips in Finland and abroad are 
paid in accordance with the State’s travel compensation regulations.

proroposal for fees for 2014 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting on 
recommendation of the Board’s Personnel Committee that the fees 
to be paid to the Board of Directors remain the same as in 2013.

sharebased incentive schemes 
Members of YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors are not included in 
the share-based incentive scheme.

management remuneration
The remuneration paid to the Group’s Management Board is com-
prised of: 
•	 Fixed salary
•	 Fringe benefits, such as company car and meal benefit
•	 Annual performance-based bonus, and 
•	 Long-term incentive schemes, such as the share-based 

incentive scheme and pension benefits.
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remUneraTIon paID To The ceo anD manaGemenT BoarD 1 JanUarY–30 JUne, eUr

Fixed salary Fringe benefits Bonuses paid option income

Total  
1 January– 

30 June 2013

Total  
whole year  

2012

President and CEO 274,211 9,320 91,523 214,260 589,314 750,276

Total other Management Board 956,740 58,821 216,207 817,310 2,049,078 2,466,529

remUneraTIon paID To The ceo anD manaGemenT BoarD 1 JUne–31 DecemBer, eUr

Fixed salary Fringe benefits Bonuses paid option income

Total 1 July– 
31 December 

2013

Total  
whole year  

2012

President and CEO 201,913 7,458 60,000 269,371 750,276

Total other Management Board 1,322,629 57,319 327,460 1,707,408 2,466,529

remuneration paid to the ceo and  
management Board in 2013
Between 1 January and 30 June 2013, Juhani Pitkäkoski served as 
the President and CEO of YIT Corporation. He was paid a perfor-
mance-based bonus of EUR 91,523 in March 2013 according to the 
results of July–December 2012. In 2013, Juhani Pitkäkoski was 
granted 6,340 shares through the share-based incentive scheme on 
the basis of the 2012 results. The aggregate value of the shares and 
the related monetary bonus was EUR 214,260.

As of 30 June 2013, Kari Kauniskangas, who was previously YIT 
Corporation’s Executive Vice President, has served as YIT Corpora-
tion’s President and CEO. In 2013, he was paid a total of EUR 120,629 
in performance-based bonuses. Of this amount, EUR 60,629 was 
paid according to 2012 results and EUR 60,000 according to the 
results of January–June 2013. 

In 2013, Kari Kauniskangas was granted 3,804 shares through 
the share-based incentive scheme on the basis of the 2012 results. 
The aggregate value of the shares and the related monetary bonus 
was EUR 125,850.

remUneraTIon paID To The ceo anD  
manaGemenT BoarD In 2013

1 January–30 June 2013 
Juhani Pitkäkoski, President and CEO

Other Management Board: 
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Executive Vice President and deputy to the 

CEO, head of the International Construction Services business 
segment

•	 Tero Kiviniemi, head of the Construction Services Finland 
business segment

•	 Juha Kostiainen, Senior Vice President, Urban Development 
and Corporate Relations

•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Matti Malmberg, head of the Building Services Northern Europe 

business segment
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Karl-Walter Schuster, head of the Building Services Central 

Europe business segment
•	 Sakari Toikkanen, Secretary to the Management Board, 

Senior Vice President, Business Development

30 June–31 December 2013
Kari Kauniskangas, President and CEO

Other Management Board:
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Executive Vice President, deputy to the President 

and CEO 
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, head of Moskovia business division  

(Moscow Region)
•	 Jouni Forsman, head of Infraservices business division
•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Moscow and 

Russia
•	 Harri Isoviita, head of Residential Construction business division

•	 Matti Koskela, head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, head Business Premises business division
•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Juhani Nummi, Senior Vice President, Business Development
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Tom Sandvik, head of Central and Eastern Europe business 

division
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, head of St. Petersburg business division
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YIT’s risk management policy aims to identify major 
risk factors and optimally manage these factors so 
that the company achieves its strategic and finan-
cial objectives. The starting point is to manage the 
Group’s total risk exposure, not merely the manage-
ment of individual risk factors. Controlled risk-taking 
may have a favourable impact on the company’s 
development.

Process
Risk management is an integral part of the Group’s management, 
monitoring and reporting systems. Risk management covers the 
identification and assessment of risks and contingency plans for all 
major risk categories. 

The nature and probability of strategic risks is continuously 
monitored and reported on. A strategic risk assessment is carried 
out at Group level once a year in connection with the review of the 
strategy. As a result of the assessment, the major risks of the business 
segments, Corporate Services and the Group level are compiled in 
a risk register and classified into a risk matrix based on their likelihood 
of occurrence and possible impacts. The risk reports are reviewed 
by YIT’s Board of Directors, the Group’s Management Board and the 
Management Boards of the business divisions.

Operational and event risks are reported at the business unit and 
division level on a monthly basis as part of the normal monitoring of 
performance. Operational risks are related to the nature of business 
operations, and they can be managed by developing the operating 
and resolution procedures. 

Financial risks are reported at the business unit and division level 
on a monthly basis as part of the normal monitoring of performance 
and quarterly to the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee. The risks 
associated with the financial reporting process are identified and 
assessed annually. 

Organisation
The Board of Directors approves the risk management policy and its 
objectives, and guides and supervises the planning and execution of 
risk management. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
assists the Board of Directors in supervisory duties related to YIT 
Group’s reporting and accounting processes, including internal con-
trol, risk management, internal audit and guiding and supervising the 
audit. The Personnel Committee addresses matters related to person-
nel remuneration systems and successor planning.

The President and CEO retains overall responsibility for risk man-
agement. The President and CEO is responsible for the organisation 
and the design, development, coordination and monitoring of the risk 
management strategy, as well as its implementation and communica-
tion throughout the organisation. The President and CEO reports to 
the Board of Directors. 

The management of the divisions identify, assess and monitor the 
major risks facing their respective business segments, draw up con-
tingency plans for those risks and attend to the implementation and 
supervision of risk management. The management of the divisions 
report to the President and CEO. 

The Group’s financial and finance management is responsible for 
identifying and assessing financial risks, reporting to Group manage-
ment. 

The Group’s internal audit organisation supports YIT’s manage-
ment in arranging and developing risk management and internal 
control. The internal audit reports to the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors and to the President and CEO.

Risk management

manaGemenT oF realIseD rIsks 

•	 Insurance	policies
•	 Crisis	management:	minimising		

the	effect	of	realised	risks

prevenTIon 

•	 Identification	of	risks
•	 Evaluation	of	the	probability	and	

impact/significance	of	risks
•	 Corrective	measures

proTecTIon 

•	 Evaluation	of	risk	management
•	 Quality	systems
•	 Internal	control
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Focus areas for risk management in 2013

The most significant risks associated with YIT’s operations are those 
concerned with reacting to changes in the market situation as well 
as managing acquisitions and plot investments, agreements and 
projects.

Key tasks of risk management for 2013 included assessing the 
competitive environment, planning YIT’s partial demerger and ensur-
ing the success of the measures, developing capital efficiency and 
strengthening the management methods of the new YIT. 

markeT sITUaTIon
The markets continued to be uncertain and flat in 2013. Efficient 
market monitoring was maintained and a number of sales efficiency 
measures were implemented. 

A contingency plan was developed for various market situations, 
and the risk-bearing capacity of the Group was analysed during the 
second half of the year. The contingency plan includes various meas-
ures concerning, for example, sales activation efforts, adjusting the 
cost structure, renewal of procurement agreements and efforts to 
improve payment terms and conditions. 

Changes in the availability of housing loans and property financing 
are key risks related to the demand for residential units and business 
premises. 

Monitoring market changes that have an effect on consumer 
confidence is key in all countries where YIT acts as a residential 
construction company – Finland, Russia, the Baltic countries, the 
Czech Republic and Slovakia. When reviewed by country, it is key to 
manage risks related to changes in the operating environment in 
countries where the focus of operations is on investment-intensive 
residential development production.

InvesTmenTs
From the point of view of investments, there are risks related to the 
integration and development of possible acquisitions as well as plot 
investments, particularly in operating countries other than Finland.

 During the past year, YIT did not make any large company invest-
ments.  

YIT actively replenished its plot reserves by acquiring plots and 
making preliminary agreements on plots in order to ensure good 
opportunities for residential start-ups in the future as well. No write-offs 
were made on plots during 2013. YIT tests the value of its plots as 
required by IFRS accounting principles. Plot reserves are measured 
at acquisition cost and the plot value is reduced when it is estimated 
that the building being constructed on the plot will be sold at a price 
lower than the sum of the price of the plot and the construction costs. 

Investments are controlled through semi-annual budgeting and 
compliance with the resolution procedure pursuant to investment 
guidelines, according to which decisions on investments are made 
by the Group’s investment management team or by YIT Corporation’s 
CEO or Board of Directors, depending on the value of the investment. 
YIT is able to adjust the volume of investments flexibly and quickly as 
the market situation changes.

proJecT manaGemenT
The significance of the management of individual projects becomes 
more emphatic as the infrastructure services and number of major 
residential and business premises projects increase. 

Attention is continuously paid to maintaining a good culture of 
project management through training and audits. It is essential to 
ensure the professional skills of the personnel, functional systems 
and compliance with shared policies and guidelines.

YIT’s partial demerger
During 2013, YIT Group demerged into two independent listed com-
panies, YIT and Caverion. Risk management related to the demerger 
was managed through separate planning and the related contingency 
plans. The greatest risks concerned IT systems and personnel. The 
implementation of the demerger succeeded well, and none of the 
related strategic, operational or financial risks materialised.
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Most significant risks 
YIT classifies as risks those factors that might endanger the achieve-
ment of the Group’s strategic and financial goals if they should mate-
rialise. Risks are divided into strategic, operational, financial and event 
risks. The identification and management of risk factors take into 
account the special features of the business and operating environ-
ment.

Strategic risks
chanGes In The operaTInG envIronmenT
Changes in economic, demographic, technological and political fac-
tors have an effect on the demand for YIT’s services and the prevail-
ing level of costs. 

YIT’s operations have been developed with a view to achieving a 
geographical balance so that economic fluctuations impact on 
operations at different times in different markets. Large regional pro-
jects and tender-based projects also enable planned flexibility in 
different market situations.

Continuous monitoring and analysis make it possible to react 
quickly to changes in the operating environment and to utilise the 
new business opportunities provided by them.

THE MARKET OUTLOOK IS PRESENTED in the Report of the 
Board of Directors on page 32

ImplemenTaTIon oF acQUIsITIons anD 
esTaBlIshmenT oF new Branches
The implementation of acquisitions and expanding into new geo-
graphic areas requires taking note of and managing cultural, legisla-
tive and political factors. YIT’s primary goal is to expand its operations 
in countries where it currently operates by establishing new branches 
supported by the existing company structure. 

Risks associated with acquisitions and outsourcing are managed 
by selecting projects according to strict criteria and effective integra-
tion processes that familiarise new employees with YIT’s values, 
operating methods and strategy. The Group has adopted a common 
guideline and process for acquisitions. As the organisation becomes 
larger and more international, governance, operational and reporting 
systems are harmonised across different countries and business 
segments. YIT’s success factors include a strong corporate culture 
and a clear management system.

manaGemenT oF capITal 
The majority of the Group’s services are residential and business 
premises development projects, which, however, require investments 
in plots of land, and capital is also tied to the development of the plots 
as well as on-going production. 

In risk management it is essential to manage the Group’s invest-
ments. The amount of capital is adjusted by decreasing or increasing 
the number of start-ups and plot investments and developing the 
terms of purchases of plots. Investments are reviewed in accordance 
with the Group’s investment guideline by the President and CEO or 
the Board of Directors, depending on their size, taking the company’s 
total risk exposure into account and being able to react quickly to 
changes in the market situation.

Operational risks
ploT acQUIsITIons
In residential and commercial development projects, YIT is respon-
sible for the full implementation of the projects from plot acquisition 
and development. Plots are purchased in countries where YIT func-
tions as a construction company – Finland, Russia, the Baltic coun-
tries as well as the Czech Republic and Slovakia – from the private 
and public sectors.

Risk management surveys the rights of ownership to the plots, 
matters related to infrastructure connections and environmental 
requirements, among other areas, as well as reasonable terms and 
conditions of agreement. YIT does not acquire plots that do not meet 
the conditions set by the Group. Plot acquisitions are evaluated from 
the point of view of regional opportunities, needs and capital manage-
ment. 

sales rIsk
In residential development projects, YIT is responsible for selling the 
residential units, and in commercial development projects, leasing 
and selling the premises. The Group’s order backlog therefore includes 
production with sales and price risks. The sales risk included in the 
order backlog is mainly comprised of residential units under construc-
tion or completed but which are unsold. 

YIT manages sales risk by matching the number of its housing 
start-ups with the estimated residential demand and the number of 
unsold residential units. Design management ensures that the room 
division and other properties of the residential units match the market 
demand. In business premises projects, YIT normally secures key 
tenants and/or the investor prior to starting the project. Preparations 
are also made to make new contractual arrangements in order to 
secure financing for the projects. 

conTracT TenDers anD servIce aGreemenTs
YIT’s business operations consist of hundreds of projects and service 
agreements, and therefore attention must be paid to the management 
of different agreements. 

In tender-based projects, YIT is selective with regards to their risks 
and profitability. 

The contents, risks and terms and conditions of all contracts and 
agreements are reviewed in accordance with specified processes. 
Tendering authorisations are specified on the basis of the financial 
significance of the projects. 

proJecT manaGemenT
YIT’s operations have relatively few individual major projects consid-
ering the size of the Group. Project cost and implementation manage-
ment is a major area of focus, particularly in property development 
projects that are by nature individual and large-scale projects. In 
addition, effective contract management requires comprehensive 
levels of project management expertise in order to reach the desired 
profitability. In long-term service agreements, YIT commits to the 
agreed service level and the pricing principles.

Project management personnel are required to hold specified 
competences, and shared decision-making processes and operating 
systems are followed by the management. The progress of projects 
is monitored and controlled at all phases in both tender-based and 
development production. The monitoring of profitability extends 
throughout the organisation from the project to Group level. 

personnel
The majority of YIT’s business is labour-intensive, meaning that the 
availability and commitment of skilled employees is a prerequisite for 
organic growth.
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The aim is to ensure skilled and sufficient numbers of personnel 
by valuing YIT’s culture and values and maintaining a good atmos-
phere at work. The commitment of employees and YIT’s appeal as 
an employer is supported through satisfying tasks and encouraging 
compensation, offering opportunities for training and job rotation as 
well as cooperation with educational establishments. In addition, 
succession planning for key employees is ensured. 

In order to ensure ethical operations, the Group has common 
ethical guidelines and effective methods for reporting and processing 
any misdemeanours. The guidelines are reviewed on a regular basis, 
and compliance is supervised by means of internal and external audit-
ing. 

Financial risks 
Financial risks include risks related to the sufficiency of financing, 
currency and interest rates, credit and counterparty risks and risks 
related to the reporting process. Financial risks are managed through 
accounting and financing policies as well as internal and external 
auditing. 

The Group Treasury is responsible for the sufficiency of the sources 
of financing and that the maturity distribution of external loans is 
balanced. It is also responsible for the management of the counter-
party risk related to derivative contracts and cash and cash equiva-
lents. The Group Treasury implements the Group’s hedging policy.

The business units manage the liquidity risk through semi-annual 
cash flow planning and monthly cash flow estimates. They are also 
responsible for the management of risks related to accounts receiv-
able.

AN ACCOUNT OF FINANCIAL RISKS CAN BE FOUND in the 
notes to the Financial Statements for 2013 on pages 68–72

THE MAIN CHARACTERISTICS OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL 
AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS CONNECTED WITH THE 
FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS are described on page 12

Event risks
Possible event risks include accidents related to personal or informa-
tion security and sudden and unforeseen material damage to prem-
ises, project sites and other property, resulting from fire, collapse or 
theft, for example. 

YIT complies with a group-wide security policy covering the dif-
ferent areas of security. Extensive training is provided for occupational 
safety-related matters, and its development is monitored from unit 
level to the Group’s Management Board and Board of Directors. The 
IT infrastructure and practices are managed through IT policies cov-
ering guidelines on data networks, anti-virus protection and licences. 
Event risks are additionally managed through contingency plans and 
a target-oriented insurance policy. There are few projects that are 
considerably large and whose insurance should be separately sur-
veyed with regard to the overall extent of operations.

rIsk map

rIsks manaGemenT meThoDs

strategic risks

Changes in the operating environment •	 Balanced business structure 
•	 Foreseeing, monitoring and analysis processes and ability to react

Acquisitions •	 Selection criteria, integration programmes, development of governance systems
•	 Contractual terms

Management of capital •	 Balanced business structure 
•	 Amount of investments and project start-ups

operational risks

Plot acquisitions •	 Analysis of plot-related terms and conditions and opportunities
•	 Contractual terms

Sales risk •	 Adjustment of start-ups according to sales volume
•	 Design management 
•	 Contractual arrangements

Contract tenders and service agreements •	 Tender and risk analyses
•	 Contractual expertise

Project management •	 Competence of personnel and operating systems 
•	 Regular auditing 
•	 Monitoring and control of profitability and degree of completion

Personnel •	 Culture, values, work atmosphere, duties, training and career planning
•	 Ethical guidelines

Financial risks

•	 Sufficiency of financing
•	 Interest rate and currency risks
•	 Credit and counterparty risks 
•	 Risks related to the reporting process

•	 Accounting and financing policies
•	 Internal and external audit
•	 Diverse sources of finance and balanced maturity structure
•	 Continuous cash flow planning and forecasting

event risks

Accidents related to personal or data security or  
material damage to property

•	 Security policy
•	 Insurance policy and plans
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Board of Directors’ report and the tables therein describe the con-
struction business, i.e. the continuing operations after the partial 
demerger, unless otherwise noted. The demerger of Caverion Cor-
poration from YIT was registered on 30 June, 2013.

Major events during  
the financial year 
DemerGer
In its meeting on 4 February, 2013, the Board of Directors of YIT 
decided to begin preparations for splitting up the Construction Ser-
vices business and the Building Services business into two separate 
groups. In June, following a resolution of the Extraordinary General 
Meeting, the Building Services business was separated by a partial 
demerger from YIT Corporation into an independent company, Cave-
rion Corporation. YIT Corporation continues the Construction Services 
business after the demerger. The underlying reason for the demerger 
was to enable a more effective implementation of strategies and a 
more focused management of the businesses through a more trans-
parent business structure. The partial demerger was registered with 
the Finnish Trade Register on 30 June, 2013.

resolUTIons passeD aT The  
annUal General meeTInG 
YIT Corporation’s Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki on 
15 March, 2013. The Annual General Meeting approved the 2012 
financial statements and discharged the members of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO from liability. It was decided 
that a dividend of EUR 0.75 be paid per share, or a total of EUR 94.0 
million, as proposed by the Board of Directors, and the remainder of 
the earnings be retained in distributable equity. The record date was 
set as 20 March, 2013 and 27 March, 2013 as the payout date. No 
dividend was paid on treasury shares.

The Annual General Meeting resolved to elect a Chairman,  
Vice Chairman and five ordinary members to the Board of Directors. 
Henrik Ehrnrooth was elected as Chairman of the Board, Reino 
Hanhinen was elected as the Vice Chairman, and Kim Gran, Satu 
Huber, Erkki Järvinen, Ari Lehtoranta and Michael Rosenlew were 
elected as Board members.

It was resolved to pay the Board of Directors remuneration as 
follows: the Chairman EUR 6,600 per month (EUR 79,200 per year), 
the Vice Chairman EUR 5,000 per month (EUR 60,000 per year) and 
the Board members EUR 3,900 per month (EUR 46,800 per year), 
in addition an attendance fee of EUR 550 per meeting. Likewise, it 
was resolved that the members of Board Committees are paid a 
meeting fee of EUR 550 for each Committee meeting. Per diem rates 
for trips in Finland and abroad were resolved to be paid in accordance 
with the State’s travel compensation regulations.

The Annual General Meeting re-elected PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Oy, Authorised Public Accountants, to audit the administration and 
accounts of the financial period 2013. Heikki Lassila, Authorised 
Public Accountant, appointed by PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, con-
tinued as chief auditor. The auditor’s fees will be paid against their 
invoices approved by the company.

The Annual General Meeting authorised the Board of Directors to 
decide on the purchase of YIT’s own shares as proposed by the 
Board of Directors. The authorisation covers the purchasing of a 
maximum of 10,760,000 company shares using the company’s 
unrestricted equity. The authorization is valid until 31 March, 2014.

Board of Directors’ report 
1 January–31 December 2013

YIT Corporation published stock exchange releases on the reso-
lutions passed at the Annual General Meeting and the organisation 
of the Board of Directors on 15 March, 2013. The stock exchange 
releases are available on YIT’s website: www.yit.group.com.

BoarD orGanIsaTIon
The organisational meeting of YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors 
was held on 15 March, 2013. The meeting decided on the composi-
tion of the Personnel Committee, Audit Committee as well as the 
Working Committee.

The Board elected Henrik Ehrnrooth as Chairman and Kim Gran 
and Reino Hanhinen as members of the Personnel Committee from 
among its members. The Board of Directors elected from among its 
number Michael Rosenlew as the Chairman and Satu Huber and 
Erkki Järvinen as members of the Audit Committee. In addition, the 
Board of Directors elected from among its number Henrik Ehrnrooth 
as the Chairman and Reino Hanhinen and Michael Rosenlew as 
members of the Working Committee. 

resolUTIons passeD aT The eXTraorDInarY 
General meeTInG
The Extraordinary General Meeting was held on 17 June, 2013 in 
Helsinki. The Extraordinary General Meeting approved the demerger 
plan and decided on the partial demerger of YIT in accordance with 
the demerger plan. In addition, the General Meeting decided on the 
composition of the Board of Directors of Caverion Corporation and 
their fees, the election of the auditor and its fee, the authorisation of 
the Board of Directors of Caverion on the repurchase of own shares 
and share issues as well as on the composition of the Board of 
Directors of YIT.

According to the demerger plan, YIT demerged so that all of the 
assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services business were 
transferred to Caverion, a new company established in the demerger. 
YIT’s Construction Services business remained with YIT. Following 
the implementation of the demerger, Caverion Corporation is an 
independent public limited company, separate from YIT Corporation. 
The registration date of the demerger was 30 June, 2013.

The number of members of YIT’s Board was confirmed as three 
members in addition to a Chairman and a Vice Chairman. Henrik 
Ehrnrooth continued to serve as Chairman, Reino Hanhinen as Vice 
Chairman and Kim Gran, Satu Huber and Erkki Järvinen as members 
on YIT’s Board of Directors. The proposed changes to the number 
of the board members and to the board’s composition of YIT became 
valid provided that the implementation of the demerger be registered.

YIT Corporation published stock exchange releases on the reso-
lutions passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting and the organ-
isation of the Board of Directors on 17 June, 2013. The stock exchange 
releases and the presentation of the members of the Board of Direc-
tors are available on YIT’s website at www.yitgroup.com.

BoarD commITTees anD TheIr composITIon 
FollowInG The DemerGer 
YIT’s Board of Directors decided on its committees in its meeting on 
17 June, 2013. From among its members, the Board elected Satu 
Huber as chairman of the Audit Committee and Reino Hanhinen and 
Erkki Järvinen as members. The Personnel Committee remained 
unchanged: Henrik Ehrnrooth as chairman and Kim Gran and Reino 
Hanhinen as members. The Board decided to discontinue the Work-
ing Committee.
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acQUIsITIons anD capITal eXpenDITUres
In 2013, YIT increased its holding in YIT Moskovia by 5.92 percentage 
points and now holds all of the shares in the company. The purchase 
price was EUR 5.1 million. In 2013, the company did not carry out 
any other significant acquisitions.

Gross capital expenditure on non-current assets amounted to 
EUR 20.2 million in 2013 (1–12/2012: EUR 28.4 million), or 1.2% 
(1–12/2012: 1.4%) of the revenue based on Group reporting. Invest-
ments in construction equipment amounted to EUR 6.4 million 
(1–12/2012: EUR 15.8 million) and investments in information technol-
ogy to EUR 6.3 million (1–12/2012: EUR 7.9 million). Other invest-
ments, including the acquisition of the minority share in YIT Moskovia, 
amounted to EUR 7.5 million (1–12/2012: EUR 4.8 million).

During the second quarter of 2013, YIT sold information technol-
ogy assets to Caverion Corporation in connection with the demerger. 
The selling price was EUR 20.8 million.

YIT recorded EUR 17.4 million in depreciation during the review 
period (1–12/2012: EUR 20.6 million).

research anD DevelopmenT
A strong understanding of the customers and the development of 
concepts play a key role in the reform of each of YIT’s businesses. 
Development activities leverage the power of the entire personnel 
through the Generator operating model. The model improves the 
effectiveness of the early stages of the idea generation and innovation 
process by creating channels for systematic idea collection, tools for 
effective screening and procedures for refining ideas for decision 
making. 

In addition, the implementation of the strategy is facilitated by three 
Group-wide development programmes: Housing development, Wider 
financial operating space as well as Excellent leadership and balanced 
values. The aim of the “Best Living Experience” programme in hous-
ing development is to support the forerunner position and profitabil-
ity throughout the Group’s housing business. The key development 
areas of the Wider financial operating space programme are effective 
capital allocation, and improving capital turnover as well as efficient 
inventory management. YIT’s common values are specified and 
management principles have been prepared in order to support 
supervisory work. The values constitute a basis for decision-making 
for everyone. The aim is to make YIT the most desirable employer in 
the sector in its operating countries.

The Group’s investments in research and development efforts in 
2013 amounted to EUR 15.0 million (1–12/2012: EUR 7.5 million), 
representing 0.9% of revenue (1–12/2012: 0.4%) based on Group 
reporting.

chanGes In companY manaGemenT
Juhani Pitkäkoski served as YIT Corporation’s President and CEO 
until 30 June, 2013. Kari Kauniskangas has served as the President 
and CEO since 30 June, 2013. 

The Group Management Board until 30 June, 2013:
•	 Juhani Pitkäkoski, Chairman, President and CEO 
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Deputy Chairman, Executive Vice President 

and deputy to the CEO, head of the International Construction 
Services business segment

•	 Tero Kiviniemi, head of the Construction Services Finland business 
segment

•	 Juha Kostiainen, Senior Vice President, Urban Development and 
Corporate Relations

•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Matti Malmberg, head of the Building Services Northern Europe 

business segment
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Karl-Walter Schuster, head of the Building Services Central Europe 

business segment
•	 Sakari Toikkanen, Secretary to the Management Board, Senior 

Vice President, Business Development

The Group Management Board as of 30 June, 2013:
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Chairman, President and CEO
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Deputy Chairman, Executive Vice President, deputy 

to the President and CEO
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, General Director of YIT Moskovia (Moscow 

region)
•	 Jouni Forsman, head of Infra Services business division
•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Russia
•	 Harri Isoviita, head of Residential Construction business division
•	 Matti Koskela, head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, head of Business Premises business division
•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Juhani Nummi, Secretary to the Management Board, Senior Vice 

President, Business Development
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources 
•	 Tom Sandvik, head of Central Eastern Europe business division
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, General Director of YIT Lentek (St. Petersburg)

Personnel 
In 2013, the Group employed 6,575 people on average (1–12/2012: 
6 730). At the end of the year, the Group employed 6,172 people 
(12/2012: 6 691). The personnel expenses for 2013 totalled EUR 
286.9 million (1–12/2012: EUR 297.1 million).

In autumn 2013, a new mission, vision, values and leadership 
principles for the new YIT were established after the demerger. Over 
500 employees contributed to the development of the values and 
leadership principles. YIT’s mission, ‘Creating better living environ-
ments’, and its vision, ‘A step ahead. With care.’ illustrate YIT’s desire 
to be a forerunner in the industry, a leading player in the market and 
a company that is differentiated from its competitors by caring for its 
customers, partners and personnel. The values, ‘Care, A step ahead, 
Cooperation and Performance’ are the foundation for achieving the 
objectives outlined in YIT’s strategy, which was published in June. In 
order to put the values and management principles into practice 
among all employees, they were discussed in all countries, business 
units and worksites during the rest of the year.

Work safety was a key focus area for YIT in 2013. Work safety is 
developed systematically and with a long-term view in all operating 
countries. The level of the company’s work safety is monitored by the 
same indicators in all countries, and the same basic principles of 
occupational safety apply to operations, taking the local environment 
and legislation into consideration. Cooperation is also made between 
the operating countries to develop occupational safety. In 2013, safety 
at work improved compared to the previous year. The Group’s acci-
dent frequency (number of accidents per one million hours worked) 
was 11 (1–12/2012: 16).

YIT is a significant employer of young people, as evidenced by the 
recognition received for several years in the Responsible Summer 
Job competition. In 2013, YIT employed over 800 trainees in all 
operating countries combined through summer jobs, work training 
or thesis work. YIT also cooperates in a variety of ways with many 
Finnish universities and universities of applied sciences.

At the end of 2013, the company made decisions to change the 
business management structure and to make rearrangements in 
common functions. In addition, it was decided to adjust the organisa-
tion of Finnish business operations to the current market situation. In 
December 2013, the company launched cooperation negotiations 
concerning white-collar employees in Finland. A total of 750 white-
collar employees fell within the sphere of the negotiations. The nego-
tiations were completed in January 2014. The number of white-collar 
employees will decrease by approximately 90 people, with 40 through 
dismissals and the remainder through internal transfers to projects 
or through other solutions. The costs incurred for the restructuring 
are recognised in the 2013 financial statements.
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personnel by business segment 12/13 12/12 change

Construction Services Finland 3,175 3,540 -10%

International Construction Services 2,680 2,808 -5%

Corporate Services 317 343 -8%

Group, total 6,172 6,691 8%

personnel by country 12/13 12/12 change

Finland 3,515 3,917 -10%

Russia 1,968 2,087 -6%

The Baltic countries, the Czech 
Republic and Slovakia 689 687 0%

Group, total 6,172 6,691 8%

shareBaseD IncenTIve scheme
YIT has had a share-based incentive scheme to support the com-
pany’s strategy for profitable growth and supplement the other incen-
tive schemes. The scheme consisted of three earnings periods, i.e. 
the calendar years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Shares were handed over 
in 2011, 2012 and 2013 based on the performance the previous year. 
A total of approximately 700,000 shares could be rewarded annually, 
of which a maximum of 20,000 to the President and CEO. 

Employees included in the incentive scheme are obligated to not 
transfer their shares within two years of having obtained them for the 
shares based on performance in 2010 and three years for the shares 
based on performance in 2011 and 2012, i.e. throughout the duration 
of the commitment period. If the employment of an employee is 
terminated during the commitment period, the employee must return 
any shares obtained as rewards to the company free of charge. In 
the case of shares granted for 2010, the commitment period has 
ended.

According to the terms and conditions of the share-based incen-
tive scheme, YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors ratified the numbers 
of shares to be granted by key person on 25 April, 2013 on the basis 
of the objectives and results set for 2012. The conveyance was imple-
mented as a directed share issue without consideration using the 
company’s own shares possessed by the company. 

The number of shares conveyed was 224,743, and 247 key per-
sons of the Group were entitled to them.

After the registration of the partial demerger of YIT Corporation on 
30 June, 2013, persons in the employ of YIT Group had a total of 
164,405 shares granted as bonuses in 2013. 

During 2013, a total of 18,452 shares were returned to the com-
pany in accordance with the terms and conditions.

corporaTe Governance sTaTemenT
YIT has prepared a separate Corporate Governance Statement for 
2013 in accordance with the recommendation of the Finnish Corpo-
rate Governance Code. The statement is published on YIT’s website 
www.yitgroup.com/investors.

Environmental responsibility
The environmental impacts of YIT’s operations consist among other 
things of the use of energy, raw materials and building materials, as 
well as related emissions in new construction and renovations, and 
the waste generated in construction sites and how such waste is 
processed. In addition, the areas surrounding YIT’s projects and the 
adjacent land areas may in some cases involve nature values that 
must be given special consideration in the planning and implementa-
tion of projects.

Prevention of environmental damage is incorporated into the 
Company’s quality and safety work as well as risk management. 
Before commencing a new project, the project risks associated with 
personnel safety, use of chemicals and well-being at work are 
assessed. Environmental management, safety at work, systematic 

operations and material efficiency are all closely linked. In general, 
however, the environmental risks associated with YIT’s operations 
are fairly minor.

The built environment has a significant impact on the total emis-
sions of society. To date, legislative work and other developments 
have mainly focused on increasing the energy efficiency of individual 
buildings. However, in addition to the characteristics of individual 
buildings, the planning and design of larger areas with respect to 
environmental and social factors is playing an increasingly important 
role in the promotion of sustainable development. 

YIT approaches the development of the environmental effects of 
products and services from two primary perspectives: taking sustain-
able development into account in area development projects, and 
developing digital services to support lifestyles that are in line with 
sustainable development. The sustainability of the urban environment 
projects means different things from different perspectives. From the 
social point of view, it means the area is comfortable, safe and con-
venient in everyday living. From the environmental perspective, it 
means eco-efficient traffic, energy and waste management solutions 
as well as having parks and green areas. From the economic view-
point, it means that the area and its buildings must maintain their 
value for a long time, and the area must be attractive. Digital services 
support activities such as the monitoring of energy consumption 
during the use of the building.

Strategic objectives 
According to YIT Corporation’s strategy confirmed on 4 June, 2013, 
YIT aims for well-managed, profitable growth. This is pursued through 
the Group’s own-developed projects in all businesses and all current 
geographic regions. In particular, growth is pursued in emerging 
markets and residential construction. Other focal points include 
improving resistance to economic cycles and widening financial 
operating space as well as accelerating renewal.

The Board of Directors of YIT Corporation approved the revised 
strategic targets for the strategy period 2014–2016 on 5 February, 
2014. The motivation for the change stemmed from the current mar-
ket environment, and the main objective is to secure that the cash 
flow and return on investment targets are achieved. According to the 
revised growth target, YIT aims at a revenue growth of 5–10% annu-
ally on average. The other financial targets published on 4 June, 2013 
remain unchanged. The Group’s long-term strategic target levels are:

YIT's financial targets Target level

Revenue growth 5–10% annually on average

Return on investment 20%

Operating cash flow after 
investments

Sufficient for dividend payout and 
reduction of debt

Equity ratio 40%

Dividend payout 40–60% of net profit for the period

The target levels are based on figures reported by the company based 
on segment reporting in accordance with the current emphasis. 

YIT published a stock exchange release on the confirmation of the 
strategy on 4 June, 2013. A stock exchange release on the revision 
of the financial targets was published on 6 February, 2014. YIT’s 
strategy and long-term financial targets were also described in more 
detail at YIT’s Capital Markets Day, which was arranged on 19 Sep-
tember, 2013 in Moscow, Russia. The presentation materials and 
recordings from the Capital Markets Day are available in the Investors 
section of YIT’s website, at www.yitgroup.com/Investors.
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Key figures based on Group reporting (IFRS, IFRIC 15)

applIcaTIon oF The IFrIc 15 InTerpreTaTIon 
GUIDelIne
YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period begun 
on 1 January, 2010. Due to the application of the interpretation, Group-
level reporting and segment-level reporting differ. The key difference 
is that residential development projects are only recognised in Group-
level figures upon handover, while in segment reporting they are 
recognised already as construction progresses. The difference 
between the accounting policies is reported as an IFRIC 15 adjust-
ment.

The Group’s financial performance is presented both using figures 
compliant with Group-level reporting and segment reporting. 

The impacts of the application of the interpretation are described 
in more detail in the notes to the financial statement for 2013.

Income statement summary 2013 2012 2011*

Revenue, EUR million 1,743.0 1,988.9 4,382.1

Operating profit, EUR million 104.0 198.0 200.0

Operating profit margin, % 6.0 10.0 4.6

Profit before taxes, EUR million 95.0 183.8 175.2

Profit for the review period, EUR 
million 70.2 142.3 125.0

Equity holders of the parent 
company, EUR million 70.3 141.2 124.4

Minority interest, EUR million -0.1 1.1 0.6

other key figures 2013 2012 2011*

Operating cash flow after 
investments, EUR million -87.9 49.9 -17.3

Return on equity, % (2013 non-IFRS) 9.6 n.a. 13.9

Return on investment, % (2013 and 
2012 non-IFRS) 7.0 15.0 12.0

Equity ratio, % (2012 non-IFRS) 34.3 39.8 30.2

Net interest-bearing debt, EUR 
million (2012 non-IFRS) 781.7 616.0 740.4

Gearing ratio, % (2012 non-IFRS) 112.0 80.9 80.4

Net debt / EBITDA, %  
(2012 non-IFRS) 5.8 2.7 3.0

Gross capital expenditure, EUR 
million 20.2 28.4 48.7

% of revenue 1.2 1.4 1.1

Research and development 
expenditure, EUR million 15.0 7.5 20.1

% of revenue 0.9 0.4 0.5

Order backlog at end of period,  
EUR million 3,184.6 3,108.6 4,148.6

of which order backlog outside 
Finland, EUR million 1,617.8 1,484.0 2,066.9

Number of personnel at 31 Dec 6,172 6,691 25,996

Number of personnel on average 
during the year 6,575 6,730 26,254

share price trend 2013 2012* 2011*

Average price, EUR 13.01* 14.90 15.28

Low, EUR 8.67 11.87 10.04

High, EUR 17.88* 17.25 21.92

Price at 31 Dec, EUR 10.16 14.78 12.38

Market capitalisation at 31 Dec,  
EUR million 1,276.0 1,853.2 1,550.9

share turnover trend 2013 2012* 2011*

Share turnover, thousands 111,193 96,887 151,023

Share turnover, % of shares 
outstanding 88.6 77.3 120.6

Weighted average share-issue 
adjusted number of shares 
outstanding, thousands 125,529 125,352 125,210

Weighted average share-issue 
adjusted number of shares 
outstanding, diluted, thousands 125,529 125,352 125,210

Share issue-adjusted number of 
shares outstanding at 31 Dec, 
thousands 125,590 125,384 125,271

*) Includes the Building Services business.
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Key figures based on segment reporting (POC)

Income statement summary 2013 2012 2011*

Revenue, EUR million 1,858.8 1,959.0 4,524.7

Operating profit, EUR million 152.8 201.1 240.5

Operating profit margin, % 8.2 10.3 5.3

Profit before taxes, EUR million 122.8 169.6 215.8

Profit for the review period, EUR 
million 93.8 131.7 157.7

Equity holders of the parent 
company, EUR million 93.9 130.7 156.7

Minority interest, EUR million -0.1 0.9 1.0

other key figures 2013 2012 2011*

Operating cash flow after 
investments, EUR million -87.9 49.9 -17.3

Return on equity, % 11.8 n.a. 16.4

Return on investment, % 10.3 15.0 14.8

Equity ratio, % 37.8 43.1 32.9

Net interest-bearing debt, EUR 
million 707.6 543.9 642.0

Gearing ratio, % 91.3 66.2 64.4

Net debt/EBITDA 4.2 2.5 2.2

Gross capital expenditure, EUR 
million 20.2 28.4 48.7

% of revenue 1.1 1.5 1.1

Research and development 
expenditure, EUR million 15.0 7.5 20.1

% of revenue 0.8 0.4 0.5

Order backlog, 31 Dec, EUR million 2,713.7 2,765.1 3,752.7

Of which order backlog outside 
Finland, EUR million 1,285.5 1,266.1 1,823.9

sharerelated key figures 2013 2012 2011*

Earnings/share, EUR 0.75 1.04 1.25

Earnings/share, diluted, EUR 0.75 1.04 1.25

Equity/share, EUR 6.17 6.53 7.93

Dividend/share, EUR 0.38**) 0.75* 0.70

Dividend/earnings, % 50.7**) 71.9* 56.0

Effective dividend yield, EUR 3.7**) 5.1* 5.7

Price/earnings ratio (P/E) 13.6 n.a. 9.9

*) Includes the Building Services business.
**) Board of Directors’ proposal
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Formulas for the key indicators

‘Return on investment (ROI, %) =

Group’s profit before taxes + interest expenses + other financial expenses +/ 
– exchange rate differences x 100
Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities (average).

Return on operative invested capital 
(%) =

Segment’s operating profit 
Segment’s operative invested capital (average)

Segment’s operative invested capital =
Tangible and intangible assets + goodwill + shares in associated companies + investments + 
inventories + trade receivables + other non-interest bearing operational receivables *) - 
provisions – trade payables – advances received – other non-interest bearing liabilities *)
*) excluding items associated with taxes, distribution of profit and financial items

Return on equity (%) =
Net profit for the financial year x 100
Shareholders’ equity + non-controlling interest (on average)

Equity ratio (%) =
Equity + non-controlling interest x 100
Balance sheet total – advances received

Gearing ratio (%) =
Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents x 100
Shareholders’ equity + non-controlling interest

Net debt/EBITDA =
Interest-bearing liabilities – liquid financial assets
Operating profit before depreciation and impairment + interest expenses included in  
operating profit

Share issue-adjusted earnings  
per share (EUR) = 

Net profit for the financial year (attributable to equity holders)
Share issue-adjusted average number of outstanding shares during the period

Equity/share (EUR) =
Shareholders’ equity
Share issue-adjusted number of outstanding shares on 31 December

Share issue-adjusted dividend  
per share (EUR) =

Dividend per share for the financial period
Adjustment ratios of share issues during the period and afterwards

Dividend / earnings (%) =
Dividend per share x 100
Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield (%) =
Share issue-adjusted dividend per share x 100
Share issue-adjusted share price on 31 December

Price per earnings ratio (P/E ratio) =
Share issue-adjusted share price on 31 December
Share issue-adjusted earnings per share

Market capitalisation = (Number of shares – treasury shares) x share price on the closing date by share series

Share turnover (%) =
Number of shares traded x 100
Average number of outstanding shares
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Return on investment amounted to 7.0% for the last 12 months 
(1–12/2012: 15.0%), non-IFRS. At the end of December, the Group’s 
invested capital totalled EUR 1,556.3 million (12/2012: EUR 1,602.9 
million, non-IFRS). Invested capital is calculated by deducting non-
interest bearing liabilities from the balance sheet total. The consoli-
dated balance sheet total at the end of December was EUR 2,552.6 
million (12/2012: EUR 3,671.6 million).

Cash flow and financial position
cash Flow
Operating cash flow after investments for 2013 amounted to EUR 
-87.9 million (1–12/2012: EUR 49.9 million). Cash flow was negatively 
impacted by the increase in working capital especially in Construction 
Services Finland. The cash flow of plot investments in the whole year 
amounted to EUR 171.4 million (1–12/2012: EUR 192.1 million).

DIverse capITal sTrUcTUre anD  
GooD lIQUIDITY posITIon
YIT’s cash and cash equivalents totalled EUR 76.3 million at the end 
2013 (12/2012: EUR 74.9 million, non-IFRS). In addition, YIT had 
undrawn committed credit facilities amounting to EUR 330.0 million 
and undrawn overdraft facilities amounting to EUR 65.1 million. Of 
the committed credit facilities, EUR 30.0 million will fall due in Decem-
ber 2014, EUR 250.0 million in December 2015 and EUR 50.0 million 
in October 2016. During the last quarter of the year, YIT concluded 
a long-term loan agreement of RUB 1.6 billion (approximately EUR 
35.3 million). The loan was drawn in the first quarter of 2014. After 
the end of the financial year, YIT has additionally concluded a loan 
agreement to secure the refinancing of the current year. The amount 
that can be drawn on the basis of the loan agreement is EUR 62 
million, and it allows covering about half of the refinancing for long-
term loans during 2014, if necessary. 

The gearing ratio rose in 2013 to 112.0% (12/2012: 80.9%, non-
IFRS) due to increased working capital and the depreciation of the 
ruble. Net interest-bearing debt increased to EUR 781.7 million 
(12/2012: EUR 616.0 million, non-IFRS). The equity ratio decreased 
compared to the end of 2012 to 34.3% (12/2012: 39.8%, non-IFRS). 
YIT Corporation’s bank loan and credit facility agreements include a 
financial covenant linked to YIT’s equity ratio. The financial covenant 
requires an equity ratio higher than 25.0% (IFRS).

Net financial expenses decreased, totalling EUR 9.0 million 
(1–12/2012: EUR 14.2 million), or 0.5% of revenue (1–12/2012: 0.7%). 
The decrease in net financial expenses was due to an increase in the 
fair value of interest rate derivatives outside hedge accounting and 
increased capitalisation of interest expenses. The net financial 
expenses include EUR 21.0 million of capitalisations of interest 
expenses in compliance with IAS 23 (1–12/2012: EUR 17.4 million). 
The exchange rate differences included in the net financial expenses, 
totalling EUR 5.2 million (1–12/2012: EUR 5.5 million), were comprised 
almost entirely of the costs of hedging debt investments in Russia. 

The hedged ruble exposure increased from the end of December 
2012. At the end of 2013, EUR 139.4 million of the capital invested 
in Russia was comprised of debt investments (12/2012: EUR 125.2 
million) and EUR 407.7 million was equity investments or equity-like 
permanent net investments (12/2012: EUR 460.0 million). 88% of the 
debt investments were hedged against exchange rate risk, while 
equity investments are not hedged due to their permanent nature.

YIT’s financing consists of versatile sources of financing. Interest-
bearing debt increased in 2013 and amounted to EUR 858.0 million 
at the end of December (12/2012: EUR 690.9 million, non-IFRS), and 
the average interest rate was 2.7 per cent. Fixed-rate loans accounted 
for approximately 62% of the Group’s interest-bearing debt. Of the 
loans, approximately 52% was raised directly from the capital and 
money markets, approximately 37% from banks and other financial 
institutions and approximately 11% from insurance companies. The 
maturity distribution of long-term loans is balanced, and a total of 
EUR 122.5 million of long-term loans will mature in 2014. 

Group financial development 
based on group reporting  
(IFRS, IFRIC 15)

1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Revenue, EUR million 1,743.0 1,988.9 -12%

Operating profit, EUR million 104.0 198.0 -47%

Operating profit margin, % 6.0 10.0

Profit before taxes, EUR million 95.0 183.8 -48%

Profit for the review period, EUR 
million 1) 70.3 141.2 -50%

Earnings/share, EUR 0.56 1.13 -50%

Operating cash flow after 
investments, EUR million -87.9 49.9

1) Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

12/13 12/12 change

Order backlog, EUR million 3,184.6 3,108.6 2%

Return on investment  
(last 12 months), % non-IFRS 7.0 15.0

Equity ratio, % (comparison figures 
for 2012 non-IFRS) 34.3 39.8

Gearing ratio, % (comparison 
figures for 2012 non-IFRS) 112.0 80.9

After IFRS adjustments, the Group’s revenue decreased in 2013 by 
12% year-on-year to EUR 1,743.0 million (1–12/2012: EUR 1,988.9 
million). In Group reporting, own-developed residential projects are 
only recognised as income upon handover. The timing of completion 
of own-developed projects affects the Group’s revenue recognition, 
and therefore Group-level figures may fluctuate greatly between dif-
ferent quarters. In 2013, a fewer number of completed own-developed 
apartments were handed over to buyers than in 2012 in both Russia 
and Finland, and the sales of business premises projects clearly 
decreased compared to the previous year.

After IFRS adjustments, the Group’s operating profit for 2013 
decreased by 47% year-on-year to EUR 104.0 million (1–12/2012: 
EUR 198.0 million). After IFRS adjustments, the Group’s operating 
profit margin for 2013 was 6.0% (1–12/2012: 10.0%). Profitability was 
impacted among other things by the weak performance in Business 
Premises, the specification and re-allocation of area costs in projects 
in Moscow Oblast, the active investor sales in Finnish housing and 
the lower number of apartments being handed over than in the pre-
vious year. In addition, operating profit includes a non-recurring cost 
of EUR 1.2 million related to restructuring measures. The operating 
profit of the comparison period was improved by the release of a 
provision of EUR 7.0 million in International Construction Services. 

Profit before taxes of continuing operations based on Group report-
ing decreased by 48% year-on-year, amounting to EUR 95.0 million 
in 2013 (1–12/2012: EUR 183.8 million).

The profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent company 
for 2013 based of Group reporting decreased by 50% year-on-year 
to EUR 70.3 million (1–12/2012: EUR 141.2 million). The Finnish cor-
porate tax rate decreased from 24.5% to 20.0% as of 1 January 2014. 
The decrease in the tax rate had a one-time negative impact of EUR 
3.5 million on the results for 2013 due to the decrease in net deferred 
tax assets. 

Earnings per share for 2013 based on Group reporting fell by 50% 
year-on-year to EUR 0.56 (1–12/2012: EUR 1.13). 

The effective tax rate for 2013 based on Group reporting was 
26.1% (1–12/2012: 22.6%). 

The order backlog based on Group reporting amounted to EUR 
3,184.6 million at the end of 2013 (12/2012: EUR 3,108.6 million). 
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The construction-stage contract receivables sold to financial insti-
tutions totalled EUR 211.7 million at the end of December (12/2012:. 
EUR 265.5 million). Of this amount, EUR 181.4 million is included in 
current interest-bearing debt on the balance sheet (12/2012: EUR 
175.4 million) and the remainder comprises off-balance sheet items 
in accordance with IAS 39. Interest expenses on receivables sold to 
financial institutions amounted to EUR 2.9 million during the review 
period (1–12/2012: EUR 4.0 million) and these are fully included in 
the financial expenses.

Participations in the housing corporation loans of completed 
unsold apartments amounted to EUR 91.4 million at the end of 
December (12/2012: EUR 77.5 million), and they are included in cur-
rent interest-bearing debt. The interest on the participations is included 
in housing corporation charges and is thus booked in project 
expenses. Interest on the participations amounted to EUR 2.7 million 
in the review period (1–12/2012: EUR 2.2 million).

During the first quarter, YIT Corporation paid dividends of EUR 
94.0 million for the financial year 2012 in compliance with the resolu-
tion of the Annual General Meeting.

The Group’s financial position enables the implementation of YIT’s 
strategy and the investments it requires. The Group has prepared for 
macroeconomic uncertainty by diversifying the sources of financing 
and strengthening the company’s liquidity position.

During the review period, YIT commenced a voluntary invitation 
to the tender of the company’s domestic floating rate bonds expiring 
in August 2014 and March 2014. In addition, YIT offered to buy back 
the floating rate bonds due September 2016 issued in Sweden. YIT’s 
offer to prematurely buy back the bonds was related to the partial 
demerger approved by the Board of Directors of YIT on 21 February, 
2013, and executed on 30 June, 2013. The purpose of the buyback 
offer was to offer the bond holders an option to dispose of their 
holdings of the bonds prior to the implementation of YIT’s partial 
demerger.

According to the final result of the tender offer, of the bonds due 
August 2014, the share of bonds, the holders of which accepted the 
buyback offer was 0.2%. The outstanding principal amount of the 
remaining bonds due August 2014 is EUR 49.9 million. Of the bonds 
due March 2014, the share of bonds, the holders of which accepted 
the buyback offer was 43.1%. The outstanding principal amount of 
the remaining bonds due March 2014 is EUR 28.5 million. YIT decided 
on 24 June, 2013, to annul the bonds due August 2014 and bonds 
due March 2014 transferred to the company. Of the holders of the 
floating rate bonds due September 2016 issued in Sweden, the share 
of bonds, the holders of which accepted the buyback offer was 
24.0%. The outstanding principal amount of the remaining bonds 
due in September 2016 is EUR 19.0 million.

During the review period, YIT convened the holders of the fixed-rate 
bonds due 2015 issued on 26 March, 2010, and holders of the fixed-
rate bonds due 2016 issued on 20 June, 2011, to noteholders’ meet-
ings. YIT’s Board of Directors proposed that the noteholders’ meet-
ing decide that the noteholders be compensated for the effects of 
the partial demerger by increasing the payable coupon interest by 
0.868 percentage points to 5.691% (bond due 2015) and the pay-
able coupon interest by 0.817 percentage points to 5.567% (bond 
due 2016). The noteholders’ meetings unanimously accepted the 
proposals of YIT’s Board of Directors. The amendments to the cou-
pon rates entered into force from the next interest payment date.

Group financial development 
based on segment reporting 
(POC)
revenUe (seGmenT reporTInG, poc)
revenue, eUr million 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Construction Services Finland  1,219.8 1,329.0 -8%

International Construction Services 621.2 599.6 4%

Other items 17.9 30.3

Group, total 1,858.8 1,959.0 5%

In 2013, YIT’s revenue decreased by 5% year-on-year to EUR 1,858.8 
million (1–12/2012: EUR 1,959.0 million). Changes in the foreign 
exchange rates reduced the revenue by EUR 30.6 million year-on-year. 
Finland accounted for 66% (1–12/2012: 69%) of the Group’s revenue, 
while Russia accounted for 27% (1–12/2012: 24%) and the Baltic 
countries, the Czech Republic and Slovakia for 7% (1–12/2012: 7%). 
Revenue continued to grow in International Construction Services, 
but the revenue of Construction Services Finland was impacted by 
the business premises market, which was clearly weaker than in the 
previous year.

proFIT (seGmenT reporTInG, poc)
operating profit, eUr million 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Construction Services Finland 94.5 134.1 -30%

International Construction Services 71.9 80.4 -11%

Other items -13.6 -13.4

Group, total 152.8 201.1 24%

operating profit margin, % 1–12/13 1–12/12

Construction Services Finland 7.7 10.1

International Construction Services 11.6 13.4

Group, total 8.2 10.3

operating profit excluding non
recurring items, eUr million 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Construction Services Finland 95.5 134.1 -29%

International Construction Services 71.9 73.4 -2%

Other items -13.4 -13.4

Group, total 154.0 194.1 21%

operating profit margin, % 
excluding nonrecurring items 1–12/13 1–12/12

Construction Services Finland 7.8 10.1

International Construction Services 11.6 12.2

Group, total 8.3 9.9

Operating profit for 2013 decreased by 24% year-on-year to EUR 
152.8 million (1–12/2012: EUR 201.1 million). The operating profit 
margin was 8.2% (1–12/2012: 10.3%). Operating profit includes a 
non-recurring cost of EUR 1.2 million related to restructuring meas-
ures. The operating profit of the comparison period was improved by 
the release of a provision of EUR 7.0 million in International Construc-
tion Services. The profitability of Construction Services Finland was 
impacted by the weak performance in Business Premises and the 
high activity in investor deals in housing. The profitability of Interna-
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tional Construction Services was impacted negatively by the speci-
fication and re-allocation of area costs in projects in Moscow Oblast, 
the effect of which was approximately EUR 4 million. Changes in the 
foreign exchange rates reduced the operating profit by EUR 4.7 mil-
lion compared to the previous year. Due to an amendment to the 
recording method which took effect at the beginning of 2013, the 
operating profit for the review period does not include borrowing 
costs according to IAS 23 (the comparison figures have been adjusted 
accordingly).

In 2013, profit before taxes fell by 28% year-on-year to EUR 122.8 
million (1–12/2012: EUR 169.6 million).

In 2013, profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent com-
pany fell by 28% year-on-year to EUR 93.9 million (1–12/2012: EUR 
130.7 million). The Finnish corporate tax rate decreased from 24.5% 
to 20.0% as of 1 January, 2014. The decrease in the tax rate had a 
one-time negative impact of EUR 2.1 million on the results for 2013 
due to the decrease in net deferred tax assets. 

Earnings per share fell by 28% year-on-year to EUR 0.75 
(1–12/2012: EUR 1.04).

The effective tax rate was 23.6% during the review period 
(1–12/2012: 22.3%).

orDer BackloG (seGmenT reporTInG, poc)
order backlog, eUr million 12/13 12/12 change

Construction Services Finland 1,428.2 1,499.0 -5%

International Construction Services 1,285.5 1,266.1 2%

Group, total 2,713.7 2,765.1 2%

YIT’s order backlog remained at the level of the end of 2012, amount-
ing to EUR 2,713.7 (12/2012: EUR 2,765.1 million). Changes in the 
foreign exchange rates reduced the order backlog by EUR 140.1 
million compared to the previous year.

InvesTeD capITal
Return on investment amounted to 10.3% for the last 12 months 
(1–12/2012: 15.0%). At the end of December, the Group’s invested 
capital based on segment reporting amounted to EUR 1,558.8 million 
(12/2012: EUR 1,440.6 million). Invested capital is calculated by 
deducting non-interest bearing liabilities from the balance sheet total.

DevelopmenT BY BUsIness seGmenT
Development by business segment is presented using figures com-
pliant with segment reporting.

consTrUcTIon servIces FInlanD
1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Revenue, EUR million 1,219.8 1,329.0 -8%

Operating profit, EUR million 94.5 134.1 -30%

Operating profit margin, % 7.7 10.1

Operating profit excluding non-
recurring items, EUR million 95.5 134.1 -29%

Operating profit margin, % 
excluding non-recurring items 7.8 10.1

12/13 12/12 change

Operative invested capital,  
EUR million 683.1 581.7 17%

Order backlog, EUR million 1,428.2 1,499.0 -5%

1–12/13 1–12/12

Return on operative invested 
capital (last 12 months), % 14.9 23.5

In 2013, the revenue of Construction Services Finland decreased by 
8% compared to the previous year to EUR 1,219.8 million (1–12/2012: 

EUR 1,329.0 million). Revenue declined particularly in business prem-
ises construction.

Operating profit for 2013 decreased by 30% year-on-year to EUR 
94.5 million (1–12/2012: EUR 134.1 million). Operating profit includes 
a non-recurring cost of EUR 1.0 million related to restructuring meas-
ures. Profitability was impacted by the weak performance in Business 
Premises and active investor sales in housing.

The order backlog at the end of the year decreased by 5% year-
on-year, amounting to EUR 1,428.2 million (12/2012: EUR 1,499.0 
million).

The business segment’s return on operative invested capital for 
the last 12 months was 14.9%, which is below the Group’s strategic 
target (20%). YIT aims to increase the return on investment in Finland 
by reducing the number of completed unsold apartments, selling 
business premises projects currently under construction and recorded 
on the balance sheet and improving cost-efficiency. The importance 
of utilising off-balance sheet partnerships in the acquisition of plots 
also increases.

The business segment’s capital tied into plot reserves totalled EUR 
282.3 million at the end of December (12/2012: EUR 284.2 million). 
The plot reserve included building rights of 1,854,000 floor square 
metres for residential plots (12/2012: 1,796,000) and 1,051,000 floor 
square metres of business premises (12/2012: 877,000).

InvesTor Deals sUpporTeD resIDenTIal sales
In 2013, the demand for apartments was at a normal level, but the 
demand for detached and terraced houses was modest. At the begin-
ning of the year, residential sales were supported by the change in 
asset transfer tax legislation taking force in March 2013, increasing 
the asset transfer tax from 1.6% to 2.0%. Correspondingly, demand 
was lower than normal during the months following the change, as 
expected. In 2013, investor sales again played a key role in maintain-
ing sales volume, but consumer sales also showed cautious signs of 
picking up towards the end of the year.

In 2013, demand focused particularly on apartments close to 
completion and completed apartments. The consumer prices of 
housing have continued to be stable, and the interest rates for mort-
gages have remained low. Customers’ access to financing was more 
challenging than in the previous year, although there was slight 
improvement in the lending terms of banks towards the end of the 
year. YIT has developed cross-border sales between the different 
operating countries. The demand for residential and leisure time hous-
ing in Eastern Finland among Russian customers has remained at a 
good level.

residential construction in 
Finland, number of apartments 1) 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Sold 2,779 2,757 1%

– of which directly to consumers 2,057* 1,869 10%

Start-ups 2,483 2,856 -13%

– of which directly to consumers 1,761 1,968 -11%

Completed 3,161 2,722 16%

– of which directly to consumers 2,094 2,364 -11%

Under construction at the end of 
the period 3,562 4,240 -16%

– of which sold at the end of the 
period 2,087 2,409 -13%

For sale at the end of the period 1,988 2,282 -13%

– of which completed 513 451 14%

1) Changes in the number of apartments may take place after the start of 
construction due to the division or combination of apartments.

* Includes 502 apartments sold to Ålandsbanken and OP-Pohjola housing funds 
and Orava Residential REIT.

In 2013, YIT started construction on 1,761 apartments as the com-
pany’s own development projects. In addition, YIT started construc-
tion on a total of 722 apartments as tender-based projects. The lower 
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level of housing start-ups compared to the previous year reflected a 
need to adjust the number of housing start-ups to demand. YIT has 
replenished its plot reserves by acquiring plots and making preliminary 
agreements on plots in order to also ensure good opportunities for 
housing start-ups in the future.

At the end of December 2013, 59% of the apartments under 
construction have been sold (12/2012: 57%), which reduces YIT’s 
sales risk. The number of completed unsold apartments rose from 
the end of last year, but the trend was successfully reversed in the 
last quarter of 2013 due to active sales efforts. In addition, the sales 
portfolio was adjusted to be better in line with the current market. 
The sales inventory is focused on medium-range residential produc-
tion: approximately 62% of the apartments for sale are priced at less 
than EUR 300,000.

YIT is well prepared to adjust its residential production according 
to the market situation. The costs of completing the current residen-
tial and business premises development projects for sale amounted 
to EUR 300.8 million at the end of December 2013 (12/2012: EUR 
306.9 million).

challenGes In The BUsIness premIses markeT
The business premises market was challenging in 2013, and YIT’s 
backlog in business premises construction decreased from the pre-
vious year. The profitability of Business Premises was reduced by the 
low volume and rising investor yields. The leasing of commercial and 
business premises under construction progressed reasonably well. 
Rents for business premises remained stable in 2013.

In September, an evaluation team appointed by the City of Helsinki 
and the Finnish state proposed YIT as the winner of the design and 
implementation tender for the Central Pasila centre in Helsinki. The 
Tripla Centre is a hybrid project combining residential, business prem-
ises and infrastructure construction with a total value of approximately 
EUR 1 billion. The construction of the project will begin when the local 
plan is confirmed, which is estimated to take place in 2015, and it will 
be implemented in phases over approximately 10 years. The result 
of the competition was confirmed by way of a decision of the Helsinki 
City Council, the Board of Directors of Senate Properties and the 
Parliament of Finland in December 2013.

In December, YIT concluded agreements for the sale of the office 
properties of the commercial centre Dixi to be constructed in Tikkurila 
and MotorCenter Espoonlahti to be constructed in Espoo for Etera 
Mutual Pension Insurance Company. The total value of the transac-
tions is approximately EUR 60 million, of which just over a quarter 
was recognised as revenue for 2013. YIT will continue the active sales 
of its own-developed business premises projects under construction 
in 2014.

DevelopmenT oF InFrasTrUcTUre servIces 
remaIneD sTaBle
In 2013, the demand for infrastructure construction remained stable, 
while YIT’s order backlog decreased from the previous year. In the 
second year-half, YIT obtained the rights for the first significant own 
development wind farm in Lestijärvi. In addition, YIT began the devel-
opment of new wind power parks in Central Finland and Northern 
Ostrobothnia. In 2013, YIT also signed new regional maintenance 
contracts amounting to approximately EUR 70 million.

Rakennuslehti selected the E18 Koskenkylä–Kotka project of TYL 
Pulteri, the labour consortium formed by YIT and Destia, as the win-
ner of the “Construction Site of the Year” competition. According to 
the jury, the schedules and production management were excellently 
realised in the project due to the life cycle model, and the cooperation 
with the client was exemplary.

Significant route projects in progress proceeded as planned.

InTernaTIonal consTrUcTIon servIces
1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Revenue, EUR million 621.2 599.6 4%

Operating profit, EUR million 71.9 80.4 -11%

Operating profit margin, % 11.6 13.4

Operating profit excluding non-
recurring items, EUR million 71.9 73.4 -2%

Operating profit margin, % 
excluding non-recurring items 11.6 12.2

12/13 12/12 change

Operative invested capital,  
EUR million 732.5 708.3 3%

Order backlog, EUR million 1,285.5 1,266.1 2%

1–12/13 1–12/12

Return on operative invested 
capital (last 12 months), % 10.0 12.3

In International Construction Services, the revenue for 2013 increased 
by 4% from the previous year to EUR 621.2 million (1–12/2012: EUR 
599.6 million). At comparable exchange rates, the growth was 9%. 
The growth in revenue was supported by the high volume of housing 
production and continued good residential sales in Russia.

Operating profit for 2013 decreased by 11% year-on-year to EUR 
71.9 million (1–12/2012: EUR 80.4 million). The operating profit of the 
comparison period was improved by the release of a provision of 
EUR 7.0 million. Excluding non-recurring items, operating profit for 
2013 decreased by 2% compared to the previous year. Profitability 
was impacted negatively by the specification and re-allocation of area 
costs in projects in Moscow Oblast, the effect of which was approx-
imately EUR 4 million.

The order backlog for the end of December increased by 2% 
year-on-year to EUR 1,285.5 million (12/2012: EUR 1,266.1 million). 
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on the order backlog 
compared to the end of the previous year was EUR -140.1 million. 
The growth of the order backlog was supported particularly by 
regional development projects launched in Russia.

The costs of completing the current residential and business 
premises development projects for sale amounted to EUR 589.8 
million at the end of December 2013 (12/2012: EUR 554.0 million).

The business segment’s return on operative invested capital for 
the last 12 months was 10.0%, which is below the Group’s strategic 
target (20%). YIT aims to increase the return on investment in inter-
national operations primarily by increasing the volume of operations, 
improving project-level profitability and further increasing capital 
efficiency. 

The business segment’s capital tied into plot reserves and plot 
development costs totalled EUR 399.0 million at the end of Decem-
ber (12/2012: EUR 389.3 million). The reserves included 2,754,000 
sq. m. of building rights for residential plots (12/2012: 2,590,000) and 
574,000 square metres for business premises plots (12/2012: 574,000) 
in Russia, the Baltic countries, the Czech Republic and Slovakia.

rUssIan resIDenTIal sales conTInUeD well
Russia accounted for 80% of the revenue of International Construc-
tion Services for 2013 (1–12/2012: 77%). Revenue in Russia increased 
by 7% year-on-year to EUR 496.0 million (1–12/2012: EUR 463.1 
million). 

The capital tied into plot reserves in Russia totalled EUR 320.1 
million at the end of 2013 (12/2012: EUR 302.0 million). The reserves 
included 2,393,000 square metres of building rights for residential 
plots (12/2012: 2,179,000) and 405,000 square metres for business 
premises plots (12/2012: 446 000).
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residential construction in 
russia, number of apartments 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Sold 4,480 4,209 6%

Start-ups 5,099 5,487 -7%

Completed* 2,976 4,197 -29%

Under construction at the end of 
the period 10,780 8,662 24%

– of which sold at the end of the 
period 4,019 3,020 33%

For sale at the end of the period 7,177 6,530 10%

– of which completed 416 888 -53%

Under construction at the end 
of the period 12/13 12/12 change

St. Petersburg 3,267 2,686 22%

Moscow Oblast 4,309 3,796 14%

Yekaterinburg, Kazan, Rostov-on-
Don, Tyumen and Moscow 3,204 2,180 47%

* Completion of the residential projects requires commissioning by the authorities.

In 2013, residential sales in Russia continued well, and the demand 
for small apartments, in particular, was good. YIT’s residential sales 
have also been supported by the company’s established position as 
a reliable construction company in Russia, its diverse housing offer-
ing, its own marketing and sales promotion measures and extensive 
mortgage cooperation with partner banks. The importance of mort-
gages has remained high in Russia, and, in 2013, customers took 
out housing loans in 44% of YIT’s residential deals. YIT has also 
developed cross-selling between the different operating countries.

In 2013, the supply of housing by competitors in YIT’s market areas 
increased particularly in the so-called economy price range, and 
therefore the average prices of apartments remained stable. Construc-
tion costs have continued growing moderately. 

In St. Petersburg, the authorities’ permit process was slow in the 
early part of the year, but it normalised during the year, which enabled 
an increase in the number of start-ups during the second half of the 
year. In 2013, YIT started several significant regional development 
projects, such as the construction of a premium apartment complex 
called Smolny prospekt in the historic centre of St. Petersburg with 
a total value in excess of EUR 300 million. In addition, YIT started the 
construction of a new residential area in Pushkin, a suburb of St 
Petersburg, and an area development project named Novo Orlovsky, 
located to the north of St. Petersburg as well as the first project in 
Tyumen. There were delays in the authorities’ permit processes in 
Moscow Oblast towards the end of the year, due to which some 
start-ups were postponed to 2014.

In 2013, YIT acquired actively several new plots in Russia so as to 
ensure its growth opportunities in the future, too.

The number of apartments for sale has been increased in a con-
trolled manner, and the sales inventory at the end of December was 
balanced. Of the apartments under construction, 37% were sold 
(12/2012: 35%). The number of completed unsold apartments 
decreased in 2013.

After the handover of residential projects, YIT offers its customers 
service and maintenance in St. Petersburg, Moscow Oblast, Yekat-
erinburg and Rostov-on-Don. In addition, YIT expanded its service 
and maintenance to Kazan, where it acquired a maintenance com-
pany. At the end of December 2013, YIT was responsible for the 
service and maintenance of just under 16,000 apartments.

In The BalTIc coUnTrIes anD cenTral easTern 
eUrope, The FocUs Is shIFTeD To ownDevelopeD 
resIDenTIal proDUcTIon
Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Czech Republic and Slovakia accounted 
for 20% of the revenue of the International Construction Services 
segment for 2013 (1–12/2012: 23%). The revenue of these countries 
fell by 8% compared with the previous year to EUR 125.2 million 
(1–12/2012: EUR 136.5 million) due to lower tender-based sales. The 
capital tied into plot reserves in the Baltic countries, the Czech Repub-
lic and Slovakia totalled EUR 78.8 million at the end of December 
(12/2012: EUR 87.3 million). The reserves included 361,000 square 
metres of building rights for residential plots (12/2012: 411,000) and 
74,000 square metres for business premises plots (12/2012: 128,000).

In the Baltic countries and Central Eastern Europe, YIT has shifted 
the focus of operations to its own residential development, and the 
development has been favourable. In 2013, residential sales improved 
steadily in every quarter compared to the previous year, the number 
of housing start-ups increased clearly from the previous year’s level, 
and the number of completed unsold apartments decreased. Russian 
customers have also been interested in YIT’s residential projects in 
Riga, Latvia, and Prague, the Czech Republic.

residential construction in the Baltic 
countries and central eastern 
europe, number of apartments 1–12/13 1–12/12 change

Sold 521 384 36%

Start-ups 723 530 36%

Completed 382 421 -9%

Under construction at the end of the 
period 1 062 715 49%

– of which sold at the end of the period 223 108 106%

For sale at the end of the period 950 743 28%

– of which completed 111 136 -18%

In the review period, the selling prices of housing increased slightly 
in the Baltic countries and Central Eastern Europe, and, as a whole, 
the demand for YIT’s apartments has remained good. YIT’s residen-
tial sales inventory has grown in the Baltic countries, the Czech 
Republic and Slovakia, and YIT aims to increase the number of apart-
ments for sale in accordance with demand. 

BUsIness premIses consTrUcTIon In The BalTIc 
coUnTrIes anD slovakIa
In 2013, YIT concluded an agreement on the construction of techni-
cal maintenance buildings for the Klaipeda port terminal in western 
Lithuania. The project is part of the contract signed by a consortium 
between Lemminkäinen and YIT for the renewal of the cargo terminal 
at Klaipeda Port. YIT Group’s Lithuanian subsidiary YIT Kausta is 
responsible for YIT’s role in the consortium. The total value of the 
project is EUR 28 million, of which YIT’s share represents slightly over 
EUR 6 million. In Vilnius, Lithuania, the construction of a Prisma shop-
ping centre for SOK was started. Euromoney magazine selected YIT 
as the best real estate developer in Latvia for 2013.
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Most significant short-term 
business risks and risk 
management 
YIT classifies as risks those factors that might endanger the achieve-
ment of the Group’s strategic and financial goals if they should mate-
rialise. Risks are divided into strategic, operational, financial and event 
risks. The identification and management of risk factors take into 
account the special features of the business and operating environ-
ment. Risk management is an integral part of the Group’s manage-
ment, monitoring and reporting systems. The nature and probability 
of strategic risks is continuously monitored and reported on. A stra-
tegic risk assessment is carried out at Group level once a year in 
connection with the review of the strategy. 

In accordance with the strategy of the continuing operations 
approved by the company’s Board of Directors on 3 June, 2013, 
improving resistance to economic cycles and widening financial 
operating space are key targets of YIT’s business operations. In con-
nection with the ratification of the strategy, risk management was 
highlighted as one of the key focus areas over the next years.

YIT is developing the Group’s business structure to be balanced 
and resistant to economic fluctuations. The Group operates in seven 
countries and therefore economic fluctuations impact operations at 
different times in different countries and markets. However, following 
the partial demerger, the geographical diversification has decreased. 
The business model has also been developed so that the Construc-
tion Services business can operate independently after the demerger. 
The Group’s business areas balance each other and improve the 
Group’s resistance to economic fluctuations. Fluctuation in consumer 
demand for housing in Finland has been balanced through investor 
deals of residential projects, which has contributed to decreasing the 
Group’s exposure to such fluctuations. The company aims to react 
to changes in the operating environment in time and to utilise the new 
business opportunities provided by them through continuous moni-
toring and analysis.

YIT’s typical operational risks include risks related to plot invest-
ments, sales risk of own-developed residential and business premises 
projects, and risks related to contract tenders, service agreements, 
project management and personnel. YIT manages sales risk by 
matching the number of housing start-ups with the estimated resi-
dential demand and the number of unsold apartments (the figures 
for residential production are presented under Development by busi-
ness segment) and as a rule by securing anchor tenants prior to 
starting a business premises project and the investor at the early 
stage of construction of the project. Changes in the availability of 
mortgages and real estate financing are key risks related to the 
demand for apartments. 

No write-offs were made to plots in the review period. YIT tests 
the value of its plots as required by IFRS accounting principles. Plot 
reserves are valued at acquisition cost and the plot value is impaired 
when it is estimated that the building being constructed on the plot 
will be sold at a price lower than the sum of the price of the plot and 
the construction costs. 

Financial risks include risks related to the sufficiency of financing, 
currency and interest rates, credit and counterparty risks and risks 
related to the reporting process. Financial risks are managed through 
accounting and treasury policies, internal control as well as internal 
and external auditing.

Euro countries accounted for approximately 69% of the revenue 
of YIT in 2013. The Russian ruble is one of the Group’s key currencies, 
and its significance has increased following the demerger. The Group’s 
most significant currency risk is related to investments denominated 
in rubles. The capital invested in Russia totalled EUR 547.2 million at 
the end of 2013 (12/2012: EUR 585.2 million). The amount of equity 
or equity-like net investments at the end of the period came to EUR 
407.7 million (12/2012: EUR 460.0 million). The equity investments in 

the Russian subsidiaries are unhedged in accordance with the treas-
ury policy, and a potential weakening of the ruble would have an equal 
negative impact on the Group’s shareholders’ equity. Debt invest-
ments amounted to EUR 139.4 million at the end of the review period 
(12/2012: EUR 125.2 million), and approximately 88% of this position 
was hedged. The differences in the interest rates between the euro 
and ruble have an effect on hedging costs and therefore net financial 
expenses. 

Possible event risks include accidents related to personal or infor-
mation security and sudden and unforeseen material damage to 
premises, project sites and other property, resulting from fire, collapse 
or theft, for example. YIT complies with a group-wide security policy 
covering the different areas of security. A more detailed account of 
YIT’s risk management policy and the most significant risks will be 
published in the Annual Report 2013. Financial risks are described in 
more detail in the notes to the 2013 financial statements.

Shares
The company has one series of shares. Each share carries one vote 
and confers an equal right to a dividend.

share capITal anD nUmBer oF shares
YIT Corporation’s share capital and the number of shares outstand-
ing did not change during the review period. YIT Corporation’s share 
capital was EUR 149,216,748.22 at the end of 2013 (2012: EUR 
149,216,748.22), and the number of shares outstanding was 
127,223,422 (2012: 127,223,422). 

TreasUrY shares anD aUThorIsaTIons oF The 
BoarD oF DIrecTors 
In accordance with the Limited Liability Companies Act, the General 
Meeting decides on the buyback and conveyance of shares, as well 
as any decisions leading to changes in the share capital. The Annual 
General Meeting of YIT Corporation resolved on 15 March, 2013, to 
authorise the Board of Directors to purchase YIT’s own shares as 
proposed by the Board of Directors. In addition to this, the Board of 
Directors maintains a valid share issue authorisation issued by YIT’s 
Annual General Meeting on 10 March, 2010. The authorisation is valid 
for five years after its granting. The share issue authorisation also 
includes an authorisation to decide on the conveyance of treasury 
shares.

YIT Corporation held 1,839,577 treasury shares at the beginning 
of the review period purchased on the basis of the authorisation given 
by the General Meeting on 6 October, 2008. During the review period, 
the company conveyed 224,743 shares without consideration to the 
key persons participating in the Share Ownership Plan under the 
authorisation granted by the Annual General Meeting to the Board of 
Directors on 10 March, 2010. During the financial period, 18,452 
shares were returned to the company in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the share-based incentive scheme, after which the 
company held 1,633,286 treasury shares at the end of December 
2013.

TraDInG on shares
The price of YIT’s share was EUR 15.08 at the beginning of the 2013 
(2 January, 2012: EUR 12.38). The closing price of the share on the 
last trading day of the review period on 30 December 2013 was EUR 
10.16 (28 December 2012: EUR 14.78). The share price decreased 
in 2013 by roughly 33%. The highest price of the share during the 
review period was EUR 17.88 (1–12/2012: EUR 17.25), while the low-
est was EUR 8.67 (1–12/2012: EUR 11.87) and the average price was 
EUR 13.01 (1–12/2012: EUR 14.90). The turnover of the YIT share 
on Nasdaq OMX Helsinki in 2013 amounted to 111,193 thousand 
shares (1–12/2012: 96,887 thousand). The value of the share turno-
ver was EUR 1,400.8 million (1–12/2012: EUR 1,443.9 million), source: 
Nasdaq OMX. 

YIT Financial review 201330



ownershIp BY shareholDer GroUps, 31 DecemBer, 2013
number of 

owners proportion, %
number of 

shares proportion, %

Nominee registered and non-Finnish 225 0.5 42,983,600 33.8

Households 40,466 92.5 31,278,958 24.6

Public institutions 46 0.1 16,835,563 13.2

Financial and insurance corporations 129 0.3 13,523,573 10.6

Non-profit institutions 536 1.2 9,374,848 7.4

Non-financial corporations and housing corporations 2,350 5.4 13,226,880 10.4

Total 43,752 100.0 127,223,422 100.0

ownershIp BY nUmBer oF shares helD, 31 DecemBer, 2013

number of shares
number of 

shareholders proportion, %
number of 

shares proportion, %

1–100 11,775 26.9 762,740 0.6 

101–500 18,265 41.7 5,132,741 4.0 

501–1,000 6,599 15.1 5,229,952 4.1 

1,001–5,000 5,864 13.4 12,759,575 10.0 

5,001–10,000 656 1.5 4,686,809 3.7 

10,001–50,000 454 1.0 9,395,194 7.4 

50,001–100,000 59 0.1 4,012,448 3.2 

100,001–500,000 54 0.1 10,834,636 8.5 

500,001– 26 0.1 74,409,327 58.5 

Total 43,752 100.0 127,223,422 100.0 

In addition to the Helsinki Stock Exchange, YIT shares are also 
traded in other marketplaces, such as Chi-X, BATS and Turquoise. 
The share of trade volume in alternative marketplaces increased clearly 
compared to the previous year during the review period. During 2013, 
73,167,000 YIT Corporation shares changed hands in alternative 
marketplaces (1–12/2012: 31,183 thousand), which corresponds to 
approximately 40 per cent of the entire trading volume of the share 
(1–12/2012: 25%). Of the alternative marketplaces, YIT shares 
changed hands particularly in Chi-X, source: Fidessa Fragmentation 
Index. 

YIT Corporation’s market capitalisation on the last trading day of 
the review period on 30 December 2013 was EUR 1,276 million 
(12/2012: EUR 1,853 million). The market capitalisation has been 
calculated excluding the treasury shares. The business operations of 
Caverion Corporation, which was established in the partial demerger, 
were included in the YIT share and its value until 30 June, 2013. For 
this reason, pre-demerger figures are not comparable to the figures 
after the demerger.

Shareholders
At the end of December 2013, the number of registered shareholders 
was 43,752 (12/2012: 36 064). At the end of December 2013, a total 
of 33.8% of the shares were owned by nominee-registered and non-
Finnish investors (12/2012: 34,8%).

During 2013, the company received no “flagging notifications” of 
change in ownership in YIT Corporation in accordance with Chapter 
2, Section 9, of the Securities Market Act.

shareholDers on 31 DecemBer, 2013
number of 

shares
% of shares 

and votes

1. Structor S.A. 12,930,000 10.16

2. Varma Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 8,432,100 6.63

3. Mandatum Life Insurance Company 
Limited 4,370,951 3.44

4. Herlin Antti 4,274,180 3.36

5. LocalTapiola Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 3,000,000 2.36

6. Odin funds 1,772,095 1.39

7. Svenska litteratursällskapet i Finland r.f. 1,680,400 1.32

8. Nordea funds 1,659,625 1.30

9. YIT Corporation 1,633,286 1.28

10. State Pension Fund 1,570,000 1.23

11. Danske Invest funds 1,475,832 1.16

12. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company 1,457,115 1.15

13. Brotherus Ilkka 1,304,740 1.03

14. Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 1,100,000 0.86

15. Aktia funds 1,011,000 0.79

Nominee-registered shares total 27,405,097 21.54

Other shareholders 52,147,001 40.99

Total 127,223,422 100.00

This information is based on the shareholder register maintained by 
Euroclear Finland Ltd. Each nominee-registered shareholder is 
recorded in the share register as a single shareholder. The portfolios 
of many investors can be managed through one nominee-registered 
shareholder.
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Events after the review period
YIT changed its business segment structure to better correspond to 
the company’s new management structure and business areas. As 
of 1 January, 2014, YIT Corporation’s two reporting segments will be 
“Housing” and “Business Premises and Infrastructure”. Under the 
Housing segment, key financial figures such as revenue, operating 
profit and invested capital will also be reported for two geographical 
regions: 1) Finland, the Baltic countries and Central Eastern Europe, 
and 2) Russia. The Business Premises and Infrastructure segment 
comprises business premises construction in Finland, the Baltic 
countries and Central Eastern Europe, as well as infra services in 
Finland. Reporting under the new segment structure will begin from 
the January–March 2014 interim report, which will be published on 
25 April, 2014. The 2013 comparison figures for the new segment 
structure will be published in March 2014. 

In the same context, the composition of the Group’s Management 
Board was condensed to match the new management structure.

The Group Management Board as of 1 January, 2014:
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Chairman, President and CEO, head of the 

Housing segment
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Vice Chairman, Executive Vice President and deputy 

to the CEO, head of the Business Premises and Infrastructure 
segment

•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Juhani Nummi, Secretary to the Management Board, Senior Vice 

President, Business Development
•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Russia

In addition to the above, the extended Management Board also 
includes, as of 1 January, 2014:
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, General Director of YIT Moskovia (Moscow 

region)
•	 Jouni Forsman, Head of Infraservices business division
•	 Harri Isoviita, Head of Residential Construction business division
•	 Matti Koskela, Head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, Head of Business Premises business division
•	 Tom Sandvik, Head of Central Eastern Europe business division
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, General Director of YIT Lentek (St. Petersburg)

The agreements concerning the development of the Central Pasila 
Centre between YIT, Senate Properties, the City of Helsinki, Finland, 
and the Finnish Transport Agency were signed on 29 January, 2014. 
The three agreements signed comprise the design and build agree-
ment on the Central Pasila Centre, a preliminary agreement on the 
real estate transaction and a turnkey contract on the public sections.

On 5 February, 2014, YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors con-
firmed YIT’s financial targets, revised in terms of growth target, for 
the strategy period of 2014–2016. More information on this is pre-
sented in section Strategic objectives.

Outlook for 2014
GUIDance For 2014: The Group revenue based on segment 
reporting is estimated to grow by 0–10% at comparable exchange 
rates. The operating profit margin based on segment reporting is 
estimated to be in the range of 7.5–8.5% excluding non-recurring 
items.

Continuing uncertainty over the general macroeconomic develop-
ment impacts YIT’s business operations and customers.

hoUsInG
In the long term, residential demand in Finland will be supported by 
migration to growth centres. Furthermore, the population and the 
number of households will increase with continued migration and the 
increasing number of one-person households. YIT estimates that the 
demand for small apartments, in particular, will remain good.

According to Euroconstruct’s November 2013 estimate, the con-
struction of 25,000 apartments will start in Finland during 2014. 
According to a report published by VTT Technical Research Centre 
of Finland in January 2012, the annual need for the production of new 
apartments amounts to 24,000–29,000 apartments. YIT’s goal is to 
strengthen its position as the leading housing developer in Finland.

YIT estimates that housing prices in Finland will remain stable in 
2014. Construction costs are estimated to increase, mainly due to 
new energy norms, but the increase is expected to be moderate in 
2014. The interest rates of mortgages are forecasted to remain low, 
and slight improvement in consumers’ access to financing is expected. 
There are plans for legislation on a binding debt ceiling for mortgages 
in Finland. However, planned terms for the debt ceiling are largely in 
line with current market practices. 

Residential demand in the Baltic countries is expected to receive 
support from economic growth. Furthermore, the poor condition of 
residential buildings creates a need for new high-quality apartments. 
The volume of residential construction is estimated to grow in the 
Baltic countries (VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Decem-
ber 2013). Euroconstruct estimated in November 2013 that residen-
tial start-ups will decline slightly in the Czech Republic and Slovakia 
in 2014. In the Baltic countries and Central Eastern Europe, the prices 
of apartments are expected to increase slightly.

The volume of housing construction is estimated to continue grow-
ing in Russia in 2014, but the growth is expected to slow down 
somewhat from the level of the previous years (VTT Technical Research 
Centre of Finland, December 2013). YIT expects housing prices to 
be stable in 2014. Residential demand has been supported by low 
unemployment rates and favourable development in the mortgage 
market. Moreover, the increase in the interest rates on mortgages 
has levelled off in recent times. Forecasts of economic growth in 
Russia have been lowered recently and Russian ruble has weakened 
significantly against euro. 

The long-term outlook for Russian residential construction is good. 
Living space per person is still clearly lower than in Western Europe 
and existing buildings are in poor condition, which creates the need 
for new, high-quality apartments. Furthermore, the middle class is 
expected to grow in proportion to the population and the number of 
households is expected to increase. The development of the mort-
gage market in Russia has also contributed to the expansion of the 
potential buyer base. YIT has promoted the availability of mortgages 
to consumers through extensive cooperation with partner banks.

BUsIness premIses anD InFrasTrUcTUre
The business premises market is expected to continue to be weak 
in Finland in 2014. Real estate investors are still cautious due to the 
general economic situation and, in order to control risks, the Helsinki 
metropolitan area and good tenants are appreciated. The low level 
of long-term interest rates increases investors’ interest in high-yield 
properties. Vacancy rates for offices are still high, with vacant building 
stock also including relatively old office premises in poor condition. 
YIT believes that the demand will focus on modern and energy-efficient 
offices. Commercial construction is supported by investments in retail 
trade and the expansion of foreign retail chains in the Finnish market. 
Vacancy rates for commercial premises are quite low.

In the Baltic countries, non-residential construction is estimated 
to increase by 5% in 2014 (VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, 
December 2013). In Slovakia, non-residential construction is expected 
to decrease by 8% in 2014 (Euroconstruct, November 2013).

Infrastructure construction is estimated to decrease slightly in 
comparison with 2013 (Euroconstruct, November 2013). The com-
petition especially for smaller contracts has increased.
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eUr million note 2013
restated 

2012

continuing operations

revenue 2,4,5 1,743.0 1,988.9

Other operating income 6 15.7 18.6

Change in inventories of finished goods 
and in work in progress 207.5 201.8

Production for own use 0.6 0.4

Materials and supplies -392.7 -477.7

External services -928.1 -923.0

Personnel expenses 9 -286.9 -297.1

Other operating expenses 7,10 -237.7 -293.5

Share of results in associated companies 16 0.0 0.2

Depreciation and value adjustments 8 -17.4 -20.6

operating profit 104.0 198.0

Financial income 9.6 4.6

Exchange rate differences (net) -5.2 -5.5

Financial expenses -13.3 -13.3

Financial income and expenses 11 -9.0 -14.2

profit before taxes 95.0 183.8

Income taxes 12 -24.8 -41.5

net profit for the financial year 70.2 142.3

attributable to

Equity holders of the company 70.3 141.2

Non-controlling interests -0.1 1.1

Discontinued operations 35

Net profit for the financial year 287.5 37.5

Equity holders of the company 287.5 37.4

Non-controlling interests 0.1

continuing and discontinued operations total

Net profit for the financial year 357.6 179.8

Equity holders of the company 357.7 178.6

Non-controlling interests -0.1 1.2

earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of 
the company during the financial year

Earnings/share, EUR, 
diluted and undiluted 13

Continuing operations 0.56 1.13

Discontinued operations 2.29 0.30

Continuing and discontinued 
operations total 2.85 1.43

Consolidated 
income statement

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated  
financial statements.

eUr million note 2013
restated 

2012

continuing operations

profit for the financial year  70.2 142.3

Items that may be subsequently 
recognised through profit or loss

Cash flow hedging 30 3.0 0.6

 – Deferred tax -0.8 -0.1

Change in fair value of 
available-for-sale assets 17 0.0

 – Deferred tax 0.0

Change in translation differences -50.3 13.5

Other comprehensive income, total  -48.1 14.1

Total comprehensive income  22.1 156.5

attributable to

Equity holders of the company 22.2 155.4

Non-controlling interests -0.1 1.1

Discontinued operations

Profit for the financial year 287.5 52.0

Equity holders of the company 287.5 51.9

Non-controlling interests 0.1

continuing and discontinued operations total

Profit for the financial year 309.5 208.5

Equity holders of the company 309.6 207.3

Non-controlling interests -0.1 1.2

Statement of 
comprehensive 
income
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eUr million note
31 Dec  

2013

restated
31 Dec 

2012

asseTs

noncurrent assets

Tangible assets 14 65.2 110.6

Goodwill 15 10.9 346.6

Other intangible assets 15 7.1 61.8

Investments in associated 
companies and joint ventures 16 0.5 0.6

Available-for-sale financial assets 17 0.8 3.4

Receivables 18 0.6 6.3

Deferred tax receivables 19 41.1 49.8

Total noncurrent assets  126.2 579.0

current assets

Inventories 20 2,062.1 1,901.5

Trade and other receivables 3, 21 273.5 1,008.0

Tax receivables 14.5 7.5

Cash and cash equivalents 22 76.3 175.7

Total current assets 2,426.4 3,092.7

ToTal asseTs 2,552.6 3,671.6

eUr million note
31 Dec  

2013

restated
31 Dec 

2012

eQUITY anD lIaBIlITIes

equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the company 23

Share capital 149.2 149.2

Legal reserve 1.5 1.9

Other reserves 0.0 3.8

Treasury shares -8.2 -9.2

Translation differences -64.1 -6.1

Fair value reserve -1.2 -3.4

Retained earnings 620.5 869.7

697.7 1,005.9

Non-controlling interest 0.4 3.3

Total equity 698.2 1,009.2

noncurrent liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 19 14.4 89.4

Pension obligations 24 0.7 52.4

Provisions 25 42.5 48.5

Borrowings 26 305.1 517.1

Other liabilities 27 35.0 32.6

Total noncurrent liabilities 397.7 739.9

current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities 27 884.6 1,447.8

Income tax liabilities 0.2 14.9

Provisions 25 19.0 54.9

Borrowings 26 552.9 404.9

Total current liabilities 1,456.7 1,922.5

Total liabilities 1,854.4 2,662.3

ToTal eQUITY anD lIaBIlITIes 2,552.6 3,671.6

Consolidated balance sheet

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

eUr million 2013
restated

2012

cash flow from operating activities

Net profit for the financial year 70.2 142.3

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and value adjustments 17.4 20.6

Reversal of accrual-based items 11.6 9.8

Financial income and expenses 9.0 14.2

Gains on the sale of tangible 
and intangible assets -1.5 -0.5

Taxes 24.8 41.5

Total adjustments 67.8 85.7

Change in working capital:

Change in trade and other receivables -42.8 6.4

Change in inventories -296.8 -198.0

Change in trade and other payables 186.9 93.6

Total change in working capital 152.7 98.0

Interest paid -34.8 -30.4

Other financial items, net cash flow 5.2 -6.6

Interest received 2.0 3.2

Dividends received 0.0 0.0

Taxes paid -43.7 -24.1

Continuing operations, total -92.5 72.1

Discontinued operations -30.7 49.3

net cash generated from operating 
activities 123.2 121.5

eUr million note 2013
restated

2012

cash flow from investing 
activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, 
net of cash 3 -4.9

Purchases of property, plant and 
equipment 14 -9.4 -21.5

Purchases of intangible assets 15 -5.7 -7.5

Disposals of subsidiaries and 
operations, net of cash 4 0.0

Disposal of affiliated companies 2.9

Proceeds from sale of tangible and 
intangible assets 24.6 3.8

Proceeds from sale of 
available-for-sale financial assets  0.1 0.1

Continuing operations, total 4.7 -22.2

Discontinued operations -17.2 -8.8

net cash used in investing 
activities 12.5 31.2

operating cash flow after 
investments 135.7 90.4

cash flow from financing 
activities

Proceeds from borrowings 26 27.7 150.0

Repayment of borrowings 26 -132.9 -121.6

Change in loan receivables 5.1 -13.9

Change in current liabilities, net 26 133.2 -34.9

Payments of financial leasing debts -0.3 -0.2

Dividends paid and other 
distribution of assets -94.0 -88.1

Continuing operations, total -61.2 -108.7

Discontinued operations 147.2 -15.5

net cash used in financing 
activities 86.0 124.2

net change in cash and cash 
equivalents 49.7 33.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year 174.6 204.8

Cash and cash equivalents 
transferred in demerger -43.8

Foreign exchange rate effect on 
cash and cash equivalents -4.7 3.8

cash and cash equivalents 
at end of period 22 76.3 174.6

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of  
changes in equity

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

eUr million note s
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 c
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equity on 1 January 2013 149.2 1.9 3.8 6.1 3.4 9.2 869.8 1,005.9 3.3 1,009.2

Comprehensive income     

Profit for the financial year  357.7 357.7 -0.1 357.6

Other comprehensive 
income:    

Cash flow hedges 30  3.0 3.0  3.0

– Deferred tax  -0.8 0.8  0.8

Change in fair value of 
available for sale 
investments 17  0.0 0.0  0.0

– Deferred tax  0.0 0.0  0.0

Translation differences  -50.3 50.3  50.3

comprehensive income, 
total    50.3 2.2  357.7 309.6 0.1 309.5

Transactions with owners     

Dividend distribution, 
EUR 0.75 per share  -94.0 94.0 0.0 94.0

Share-based incentive 
schemes 23  -3.8 1.0 4.5 1.7  1.7

Assets transferred in the 
demerger, fair value       -515.2 515.2  515.2

Demerger effect  -0.4  -7.7 0.1   8.0 -0.6 8.6

Transactions with owners, 
total  0.4 3.8 7.7 0.1 1.0 604.7 615.7 0.6 616.3

Changes in ownership shares 
in subsidiaries no loss of 
control           

Acquisition of non-
controlling interest       -2.2 2.2 -2.2 4.4

changes in ownership 
shares in subsidiaries, total       2.2 2.2 2.2 4.4

equity on 31 December 
2013 149.2 1.5 0.0 64.1 1.2 8.2 620.5 697.7 0.4 698.2

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of  
changes in equity

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

eUr million note s
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equity on 1 January 2012 149.2 1.9 2.8 23.4 3.6 9.7 801.5 918.7 2.5 921.1

Defined benefit pension, 
remeasurement due to 
IAS 19 change        -37.0 37.0  37.0

adjusted equity on 
1 January 2012  149.2 1.9 2.8 23.4 3.6 9.7 764.5 881.7 2.5 884.1

Comprehensive income    

Profit for the financial year  178.7 178.7 1.2 179.9

Profit for the period 
remeasurement due to  
IAS 19        -0.1 0.1  0.1

Other comprehensive 
income:    

Change in fair value of 
defined benefit pension, 
remeasurement due to 
IAS 19 change        15.3 15.3  15.3

– Deferred tax        -4.2 4.2  4.2

Cash flow hedges 30  0.6 0.6  0.6

– Deferred tax  -0.1 0.1  0.1

Change in fair value of 
available for sale 
investments 17  -0.4 0.4  0.4

– Deferred tax  0.1 0.1  0.1

Translation differences  17.4 17.4  17.4

comprehensive income, 
total     17.4 0.2  189.7 207.3 1.2 208.5

Transactions with owners    

Dividend distribution,  
EUR 0.70 per share   -87.7 87.7 -0.4 88.1

Share-based incentive 
schemes 23  1.0 0.5 3.3 4.8  4.8

Transactions with owners, 
total    1.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 84.4 82.9 0.4 83.3

equity on 31 December 
2012  149.2 1.9 3.8 6.1 3.4 9.2 869.7 1,005.9 3.3 1,009.2

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
1.  Accounting principles of the 

financial statement

General InFormaTIon
YIT Group provides services for the construction sector. The services 
provided by the Group companies include construction services for 
the industrial and public sectors, residential construction services for 
consumers and road maintenance services in Finland. Furthermore, 
in Russia the Group provides after-sales service and maintenance for 
consumer customers’ new homes. The main market areas are Fin-
land, Russia, the Baltic countries, the Czech Republic and Slovakia. 
YIT Group’s segments are Construction Services Finland and Inter-
national Construction Services.

YIT’s partial demerger was implemented on 30 June, 2013. In the 
partial demerger, the assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building 
Services business were transferred to Caverion Corporation. Until the 
execution date of the partial demerger (30 June 2013), the transac-
tions included in YIT’s Building Services business transferred to 
Caverion Corporation are presented on a separate line in discontinued 
operations in YIT’s income statement and cash flow statement. In the 
comparative information in accordance with IFRS, the balance sheet 
is not adjusted and includes also the items related to the building 
services business, thus corresponding to the previously reported 
balance sheet of YIT Group. Therefore, the balance sheet presented 
as comparative information does not reflect the financial position of 
continuing operations in this respect.

The Group’s parent company is YIT Corporation. The parent com-
pany is domiciled in Helsinki, and its registered address is Panuntie 
11, 00620 Helsinki, Finland. The parent company’s shares have been 
listed on Nasdaq OMX Helsinki Oy Helsinki stock exchange since 
1995. 

Copies of the consolidated financial statements are available at 
www.yitgroup.com or the parent company’s head office, address 
Panuntie 11, 00620 Helsinki, Finland. YIT Corporation’s Board of 
Directors approved these consolidated financial statements for pub-
lication in its meeting held on 5 February 2014. In accordance with 
the Finnish Companies Act, shareholders may approve or reject the 
financial statements in an Annual General Meeting held after their 
release. The General Meeting also has the right to pass a resolution 
on changing the financial statements.

sUmmarY oF sIGnIFIcanT accoUnTInG polIcIes
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accord-
ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). All 
of the IAS/IFRS standards and SIC/IFRIC interpretations approved 
by the EU Commission by 31 December 2013 have been complied 
with. International Financial Reporting Standards refer to the Finnish 
Accounting Act and related legal code based on EU regulation 
1606/2002 concerning the adoption of IFRS standards and interpre-
tations in the EU. The notes to the consolidated financial statements 
also comply with the Finnish GAAP and the Companies Act that 
complement the IFRS standards. The figures in the financial state-
ments are presented in thousands of euro. In the Annual Report the 
figures are presented in million euros doing the roundings on each 
line, which may cause some rounding inaccuracies in column and 
total sums.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historic cost convention, as modified by revaluation of available-

for-sale investments, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss and derivative instruments at fair value. Share-based 
payments are measured at fair value at the time of granting.

application of revised standards and interpretations as from  
1 January 2013
The effects of other standards and interpretations adopted on  
1 January 2013 on the reporting period have been as follows:
•	 IAS 1 (amendment): Presentation of Financial Statements. The 

most important amendment is the requirement for grouping other 
comprehensive income items according to whether they will 
possibly be subsequently recognised through profit or loss 
(reclassification adjustments). This amendment does not define 
what is presented in other comprehensive income items. As a 
result of the amendment, the Group has regrouped its 
comprehensive income items and presents the items in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the manner required by 
the amendment to the standard.

•	 IAS 19 (amendment): Employee benefits: The amendments mean 
that the corridor approach is eliminated and finance costs are 
calculated on a net funding basis. All actuarial gains and losses 
will be recognised in the other comprehensive income as they 
occur. The revised standard requires retroactive application to the 
presented financial statements figures, and they have been 
adjusted in the manner required by the amended standard. In 
addition, the cumulative effect of the adjustments resulting from 
the adoption of the standard on the consolidated figures is 
presented in the notes.

•	 IFRS 7 (amendment): Financial instruments – disclosures The 
disclosure requirements are expanded in order to improve the 
presentation of when different financial instruments can be offset. 
As a result of the amendment, the Group has expanded its 
disclosure of the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (note 
30).

•	 Annual improvements 2012: Improvements that were published 
as a result of the 2009–2011 cycle result in changes to the following 
standards: IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”; IAS 16 
“Property, Plant and Equipment”; IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: 
Presentation”; IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”. As a result of 
the amendment, the Group has regrouped its comprehensive 
income items and expanded its disclosure.

•	 The purpose of IFRS 13 is to improve the consistency of the 
definition of fair value and provide new disclosure requirements 
when an IFRS standard so requires or allows measurement at fair 
value. According to the standard, fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between the market parties on the measurement date. 
As a result of the amendment, the Group has expanded its 
disclosure of fair values. The amendment has no material effect 
on the valuation of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

consolIDaTIon
subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include YIT Corporation and 
the subsidiaries it owns either directly or indirectly and in which it has 
over 50% of the voting rights, or in which the Group otherwise has 
the controlling interest. “Controlling interest” means the right to dictate 
a company’s financial and business principles in order to benefit from 
its operations. The existence of potential voting rights has also been 
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity, if the potential voting rights are currently exercisable. The pur-
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chase cost method has been used in eliminating the acquisition of 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
the control is transferred to the Group, and they are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases. All intra-group transactions, 
receivables, liabilities and profits are eliminated in the consolidation. 
Unrealised losses are not eliminated if they are due to impairment.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account 
for business combinations. The total consideration to be transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets trans-
ferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The total consideration includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acqui-
sition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition 
date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s assets.

associated companies
The consolidated financial statements include associated companies 
in which the YIT Group either holds 20%-50% of the voting rights or 
in which the Group has a significant influence otherwise but not a 
controlling interest. Associated companies have been consolidated 
using the equity method. If the Group’s share of associates’ losses 
exceeds the carrying amount, losses in excess of the carrying amount 
are not consolidated unless the Group has committed itself to fulfill-
ing the obligations of the associates. Unrealised profits between the 
Group and associates have been eliminated in accordance with the 
Group’s holding. An investment in an associate includes the goodwill 
arising from acquisition, which has been tested for impairment.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are companies in which YIT Group exercises a shared 
controlling interest with other parties. YIT Group’s holdings in joint 
ventures are consolidated using the equity method. The Group’s 
investments in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and the 
post-acquisition movements in net assets of the joint venture are 
adjusted against the carrying value of the investment. The Group’s 
share of joint ventures profits or losses is recognised in the income 
statement. Unrealised profits between the Group and joint ventures 
have been eliminated in accordance with the Group’s holding.

Transactions with noncontrolling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as trans-
actions with equity owners. When the Group purchases from non-
controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid 
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of 
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any remaining interest in 
the entity is re-measured at fair value, with the change in the carrying 
amount recognised through profit or loss. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 
that entity are accounted for as realised and booked to income state-
ment. If the interest is reduced but control is retained, only a propor-
tionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other compre-
hensive income are booked to non-controlling interest in equity.

The Group has applied the new accounting principles to transac-
tions occurring on or after 1 January 2010. Previously, disposals with 
non-controlling interest resulted in gains or losses through profit or 
loss and purchases resulted in the recognition of goodwill. On disposal 
or partial disposal, a proportionate share in reserves attributable to the 
subsidiary was reclassified to profit and loss. When the Group ceased 
to have control, the remaining proportionate interest was valued at 
cost. The Group applied the new amendment to the standard pro-
spectively; no adjustments to previous figures have been made.

ForeIGn cUrrencY TranslaTIon
The financial statement items of each Group company are measured 
using the currency of its business environment (functional currency). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which 
is the Group’s functional and reporting currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional cur-
rency using the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction 
or valuation, where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange rate 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
in the income statement. Foreign exchange gains and losses that 
relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in 
the income statement within “Finance income and costs”. All other 
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income state-
ment above operating profit. Non-monetary items are mainly valued 
at the transaction date’s foreign exchange rates. The foreign exchange 
rate gains or losses related to non-monetary items valued at fair value 
are included in the change of the fair value.

Translation of financial statements of  
foreign Group companies
The income statements of foreign Group companies have been 
translated to euro using the average exchange rate quoted for the 
calendar months of the reporting period. The balance sheets have 
been translated using the rates on the closing date. The translation 
of the result for the period using different exchange rates in the income 
statement and balance sheet results in a translation difference, which 
is entered in equity in the retained earnings.

Translation differences arising from the elimination of the acquisi-
tion cost of foreign subsidiaries and items classified to be a part of 
net investments and the hedging result of these net investment are 
entered in shareholders’ equity. When a foreign subsidiary is disposed 
of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are 
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on 
sale. Translation differences arising before 1 January 2004, are 
recorded in the retained earnings at the transition to IFRS and they 
will not be entered in the income statement in the event of the sale 
of a subsidiary. 

Both the goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign unit and 
the adjustments of acquired assets and liabilities to their fair values 
have been treated as the assets and liabilities of the foreign unit in 
question and translated at the rate on the closing date. The goodwill 
and fair value adjustments related to acquisitions before 1 January 
2004, have been denominated in euro.

cUrrencY eXchanGe raTes UseD In YIT 
consolIDaTeD FInancIal sTaTemenTs

1 eUr =

Income 
statement

JanDec 
2013

Income 
statement

JanDec
2012

Balance 
sheet

 31 Dec  
2013

Balance 
sheet

31 Dec 
2012

CZK 25.9904 25.1460 27.4270 25.1510

DKK 7.4579 7.4438 7.4593 7.4610

HUF 296.9644 289.3200 297.0400 292.3000

MYR 4.1858 3.9687 4.5221 4.0347

NOK 7.8075 7.4752 8.3630 7.3483

PLN 4.1971 4.1843 4.1543 4.0740

RUB 42.3362 39.9239 45.3246 40.3295

SEK 8.6514 8.7061 8.8591 8.5920

SGD 1.6610 1.6059 1.7414 1.6110

USD 1.3281 1.2854 1.3791 1.3194

LVL 0.7015 0.6973 0.7028 0.6977

LTL 3.4528 3.4528 3.4528 3.4528
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TanGIBle asseTs 
Tangible asset are stated at historical cost less depreciation and 
impairment.

Depreciation on tangible assets is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost to over their estimated useful lives. Land 
is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of tangible assets are 
the following:

Buildings 40 years

Constructions 5–10 years

Productive machinery and equipment 10 years

Office furniture 5 years

Computers and computer supplies 3–5 years

Cars and trasferable vehicles 3–8 years

Other property, plant and equipment 10–40 years

The residual values and economic lifetimes of assets are assessed 
in each closing. If necessary, they are adjusted to reflect the changes 
in expected financial benefits. Capital gains or losses on the sale of 
property, plant and equipment are included in other operating income 
or losses.

GovernmenT GranTs
Government grants are recognised as decreases in the carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment. Grants are recognised as 
revenue through smaller depreciations over the economic life of an 
asset. Government grants relating to costs are recognised in the 
income statement in the same period when the costs are expensed.

InvesTmenT properTY
YIT Group has no assets that are classified as investment properties.

GooDwIll 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the 
acquired subsidiary on the date of acquisition. The net identifiable 
assets include the assets and liabilities acquired and the liabilities 
assumed as well as the contingent liabilities. The acquisition cost is 
valued at fair value. Goodwill on the consolidation of business func-
tions before 1 January 2004, corresponds to the carrying amount as 
per the previously employed accounting standards, which has been 
used as the deemed cost in the IFRS transition. Goodwill is subjected 
to an annual impairment test. To this end, goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units. Goodwill is measured at the original acquisition 
cost less impairment. Impairment is expensed directly in the income 
statement. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

oTher InTanGIBle asseTs
An intangible asset is initially entered in the balance sheet at acquisi-
tion cost when the acquisition cost can be reliably determined and 
the intangible asset is expected to yield economic benefit to the 
Group. Intangible assets with a known or estimated limited economic 
lifetime are expensed in the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over their economic lifetime. Intangible assets with an unlimited eco-
nomic lifetime are not depreciated, but are instead subjected to an 
impairment test annually.

Other intangible assets acquired in connection with business 
acquisitions are recognised separately from goodwill if they fulfil the 
definition of an asset: they can be specified or are based on agree-
ments or legal rights. Intangible assets recognised in connection with 
business acquisitions include the value of customer agreements and 
associated customer relationships, prohibition of competition agree-
ments, and the value of acquired technology and industry-related 
process competence. The value of customer agreements and asso-
ciated customer relationships and industry-related process compe-

tence is defined on the basis of cash flows estimated according to 
the durability and duration of the assumed customer relations.

Acquired computer software and licences are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. The acquisition cost is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life. Computer maintenance costs are 
expensed as they are incurred. In IT projects that are classified as 
strategic, own work is capitalised in the balance sheet insofar as the 
capitalisation criteria are met in respect of cost monitoring, etc. Amor-
tisation begins when the IT project is ready for use.

Research expenditure is expensed in the income statement. 
Expenditure on the design of new or more advanced products is 
capitalised as intangible assets in the balance sheet as from the date 
when the product is technically feasible, can be utilised commercially 
and is expected to yield future financial benefits. Capitalised develop-
ment expenditure is amortised over the economic life. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is ready for use. Incomplete assets are tested 
annually for impairment. Development expenses that are not expected 
to yield financial benefits are expensed in the income statement. To 
date, the Group’s research and development expenditure has not 
met capitalisation criteria.

The amortisation periods of other intangible assets are as follows:

Customer relations and contract bases 3–5 years

Unpatented technology 3–5 years

Computer software and other items 2–5 years

Prohibition of competition 2–3 years

ImpaIrmenT oF TanGIBle anD InTanGIBle asseTs 
At each closing date, YIT Group evaluates whether there are indica-
tions of impairment in any asset item. If impairment is indicated, the 
recoverable amount of said asset is estimated. In addition, the recov-
erable amount is assessed annually for each of the following asset 
items regardless of whether impairment is indicated: goodwill, intan-
gible assets with an unlimited economic lifetime and incomplete 
intangible assets. The need for impairment is assessed at the level 
of cash-generating units. 

The recoverable amount is the fair value of the asset item less the 
higher of selling costs or the value in use. The value in use is deter-
mined based on the discounted future net cash flows estimated to 
be recoverable from the assets in question or cash-generating units. 
The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset items. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of the asset item is higher than its recoverable amount. The impair-
ment loss is entered directly in the income statement and is initially 
allocated to the goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and 
thereafter equally to other asset items. An impairment loss is reversed 
when the situation changes and the amount recoverable from the 
asset item has changed since the date when the impairment loss 
was recorded. However, impairment losses are not reversed beyond 
the carrying amount of the asset exclusive of impairment losses. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are never reversed. The calculation of 
recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates. For more informa-
tion on impairment testing, see note 15.

InvenTorIes 
Inventories are measured either at the lower of acquisition cost or net 
realisable value. The acquisition cost of materials and supplies is 
determined using the weighted average price method. The acquisition 
cost of work in progress and shares in completed housing and real 
estate companies comprises the value of the plot and other raw 
materials, planning costs, direct costs of labour, other direct costs 
and the appropriate portion of the variable general costs of manu-
facture and fixed overhead. The net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in ordinary business operations less the estimated 
expenditure on product completion and sales. In estimating the net 
realisable value of shares in completed housing and real estate com-
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panies, the available market information and the level of the yield on 
the properties are taken into account. In assessing the net realisable 
value of plots of land, their intended use is taken into account. In the 
valuation of plots of land used for construction, the completed prod-
ucts in which they will be included are taken into consideration. The 
carrying amount of plots of land is decreased only when the com-
pleted products are expected to be sold at a price lower than the 
acquisition cost. The net realisable value of other plots of land is based 
on the market price of the land.

lease aGreemenTs
Group as lessee
Lease agreements concerning assets in which the Group holds a 
material share of the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as 
financial lease agreements. A financial lease agreement is entered in 
the balance sheet at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset on 
the starting date of the lease agreement or the current value of the 
minimum rents. Assets acquired under financial lease agreements 
are depreciated over their economic lifetime or the period of lease, 
whichever is shorter. Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the 
finance balance outstanding per financial period. The lease commit-
ments of financial lease agreements are included in the financial lia-
bilities. 

Lease agreements in which the risks and benefits of ownership 
are retained by the lessor are treated as other lease agreements. 
Rents paid on other lease agreements are expensed in even instal-
ments in the income statement over the duration of the rental period. 
Incentives received are deducted from the rents paid on the basis of 
the time pattern of the benefit.

noncUrrenT asseTs anD DIsconTInUeD 
operaTIons helD For sale 
Non-current assets or assets related to discontinued operations are 
classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be 
recovered principally through a sale or disposal transfer transaction. 
An asset is to be classified as held for sale when the sale or disposal 
is highly probable, the asset is available for sale in its present condi-
tion and on customary terms, the management is committed to sell 
the asset and the sale is expected to be completed within one year 
from the date of classification. Assets held for sale are valued at the 
lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. The 
depreciation of these assets will be discontinued at the time of reclas-
sification.

The disposal group includes assets, which do not fall within the 
scope of IFRS 5, while liabilities are measured in accordance with the 
applicable IFRS standards also after the classification.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either 
has been disposed of or is classified as held of sale and meets the 
following conditions:
•	 It represents a separate major line of business or geographical 

area of operations
•	 It is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate 

major line of business or geographical area of operations
•	 It is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Revenue from discontinued operations is presented as a separate 
item in the Group’s OCI. Assets held for sale, disposal groups, items 
related to the assets held for sale and recognised directly in the 
shareholders’ equity, and liabilities related to the disposal group are 
presented separately from other assets in the balance sheet.

emploYee BeneFITs
pension liabilities
The Group has different defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans in its various operating areas. The local regulations and 
practices of the countries in question are applied in these plans. 
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans are entered in 

the income statement in the financial period during which the charge 
applies. 

The Group has defined benefit pension plans in Finland. The Build-
ing Services business that was transfered to Caverion Corporation 
in the partial demerger had defined benefit pension plans in Norway, 
Austria and Germany. Obligations connected with the Group’s defined 
benefit plans are calculated by independent actuaries. The discount 
rate used in calculating the present value of the pension liability is the 
market rate of high-quality corporate bonds or the interest rate of 
treasury notes. The maturity of the reference rate substantially cor-
responds to the maturity of the calculated pension liability. In defined 
benefit plans, the pension liability presented is the current value of 
future pension payments at the closing date less the fair value of the 
plan assets at the closing date together with adjustments for actu-
arial gains or losses and past service costs. Pension expenditure is 
expensed in the income statement, periodising the costs over the 
time in employment of the employees. Actuarial profits and losses 
are entered through profit and loss for the average remaining time in 
employment of the employees. Occupational pensions in Sweden 
had been insured under a pension scheme shared with numerous 
employers. It has not been possible to acquire sufficient information 
about these pension liabilities to divide liabilities and assets by 
employer. Occupational pensions in Sweden have been treated on 
a defined contribution basis. 

sharebased payments
At the balance sheet date, the Group did not have a share-based 
incentive scheme for key employees in force. The rewards of the 
expired incentive scheme were paid as a combination of YIT Corpo-
ration shares and cash settlement based on achieved financial target 
levels. The cost effect of equity-settled share was recognised as 
personnel expenses and equity reserve. The cost was based on the 
market price of the YIT Corporation share at the grant date and it will 
be expensed over the vesting period. The cash-settled reward is 
based on the market value of YIT’s share at the balance sheet date 
and it was expensed to personnel expenses and current liabilities 
until the settlement date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by 
the Group before normal retirement. The Group recognises termina-
tion benefits when it is committed to terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without pos-
sibility of withdrawal. In Finland a provision is charged at the beginning 
of the statutory “YT procedure”. In addition, benefits that the Group 
has offered in connection with terminations to encourage voluntary 
redundancy are expensed. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date are discounted to present value. Other 
possible liabilities arising from the termination of employees in differ-
ent legislations are assessed at the closing date and recognised as 
an expense and liability.

provIsIons 
Provisions are recorded when the Group has a legal or constructive 
obligation on the basis of a prior event, the materialisation of the 
payment obligation is probable and the size of the obligation can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are valued at the current value of the 
costs required to cover the obligation. If compensation for a share of 
the obligation can be received from a third party, the compensation 
is recorded as a separate asset item, but only when it is practically 
certain that said compensation will be received. Provisions are booked 
for loss-making agreements when the obligatory expenditure required 
to meet obligations exceeds the benefits yielded by the agreement. 
The amount of the guarantee and Finnish 10-year provisions for com-
mitments in the construction industry provision is set on the basis of 
experience of the materialisation of these commitments. Provisions 
for restructuring are recognised when the Group has made a detailed 
restructuring plan and initiated the implementation of the plan or has 
communicated about it. Provisions are not recognised for the con-
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tinuing operations of the Group. A contingent liability is an obligation 
that has possibly arisen as a result of past events and whose existence 
is confirmed only when the uncertain event that is beyond the Group’s 
control is realised. In addition, an existing obligation that probably 
does not require the fulfilment of debt or whose amount cannot be 
reliably assessed is considered a contingent liability. Contingent lia-
bilities are presented in the notes. 

Income TaXes
Tax expenses in the income statement comprise taxes on the taxable 
income for the financial period and deferred tax liabilities. Taxes are 
entered in the income statement except when they are associated 
with items recognised under shareholders’ equity. Taxes on the tax-
able income for the financial period are calculated on the taxable 
income on the basis of the tax rate stipulated for each country by the 
balance sheet date. Taxes are adjusted for the taxes of previous 
financial periods, if applicable. The management evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. The tax provisions entered in 
such situations are based on evaluations by the management.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences between 
the carrying amount and taxable value. No deferred taxes are calcu-
lated on goodwill impairment that is not deductible in taxation and 
no deferred taxes are recognised on the undistributed profits of 
subsidiaries to the extent that the difference is unlikely to be dis-
charged in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxes have been calcu-
lated using the statutory tax rates or the tax rates whose confirmed 
content has been announced by the closing date. Deferred tax assets 
have been recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
income against which the temporary difference can be applied will 
materialise in the future. The most significant temporary differences 
arise from differences of the partial debiting and taxable income of 
long-term projects, depreciation differences of property, plant and 
equipment, defined benefit pension plans, provisions deductible at a 
later date, measurement at fair value in connection with acquisitions, 
unused tax losses and voluntary provisions.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either 
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

FInancIal asseTs anD lIaBIlITIes
classification and entry of financial assets
The Group records financial assets at the settlement day. Financial 
assets are derecognised from the balance sheet when the right to 
cash flows from an item included in financial assets ends or when 
control over said cash flows has been assigned outside the Group 
with the related risks and revenue.

The fair values of the financial assets are market rates if one has 
been reliably available, or otherwise discounted values or accounting 
values if this is reasonably close to the fair value. The discount rate 
used is the rate at which the Group could possibly sell a correspond-
ing batch on the closing date.

The Group has, at the initial recognition, classified its financial 
assets into the following categories on the basis of the purpose for 
which they have been acquired:

Financial assets originally measured at fair value through 
profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are 
financial assets or derivatives held for trading that do not meet the 
criteria for hedge accounting according to IAS 39. Currency forward 
contracts and interest rate swaps associated with business operations 
and financing to which IAS 39-compliant hedging is not applied have 
been classified into this category. Derivatives are originally measured 
at fair value when the Group becomes a contractual party to an 
agreement and are subsequently measured at fair value. Currency 

forward contracts are used for hedging against the currency exposure 
of exchange rates and resulting changes in fair value are entered in 
other operating income and expenses or financial income and 
expenses based on their nature in the financial period in which they 
were incurred. Interest rate swaps are used to hedge against changes 
in market interest rates, and changes in the fair value of interest rate 
swaps are entered in financing income or expenses in the financial 
period in which they were incurred. Derivatives are non-current assets 
when their maturity is more than 12 months (Receivables) and current 
assets (Trade and other receivables) when the remaining maturity is 
less than 12 months. Derivatives may also be liabilities; their account-
ing principles are specified below under “Financial liabilities.”

loans and receivables
Loans and receivables consist of loan receivables, trade receivables 
and certain other receivables. Loan receivables are current if the 
maturity date is within 12 months after the closing date, otherwise 
they are non-current. They are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently valued at the periodised acquisition costs using the 
effective yield method less any impairment. The changes are recog-
nised in the income statement under financial income or expenses.

Trade and other receivables are current if the maturity date is within 
12 months after the closing date, otherwise they are non-current. 
They are initially measured at fair value and subsequently valued at 
the periodised acquisition costs using the effective yield method less 
any impairment. The changes are recognised under other operating 
income or expenses.

availableforsale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets not falling into the categories pre-
sented above. They are non-current financial assets that the Group 
will not actively dispose of in the short-term. Available-for-sale finan-
cial assets primarily comprise shares and participations acquired to 
support business operations, e.g. in local telecom, water and environ-
ment service companies. They are not primarily quoted in well-
functioning markets and they are measured at acquisition cost less 
any impairment. Quoted shares are measured at fair value and others, 
when the fair value cannot be evaluated reliably, at the original acqui-
sition cost. When fair value can be evaluated reliably, the changes in 
fair value are entered in the comprehensive income statement and 
are presented in the fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity, taking 
the tax impact into consideration. Changes in fair value are transferred 
from the fair value reserve to financing income or expenses when the 
Group disposes of an available-for-sale financial asset or its value has 
declined such that an impairment loss must be recognised on it. 
Impairment of an equity investment classified as an available-for-sale 
financial asset is not derecognised through profit or loss.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits withdraw 
able on demand and liquid short-term investments whose original 
maturity is no more than three months. They are recorded in the 
balance sheet at the original acquisition cost and the yield under 
financing income. The available overdraft facilities are included in 
current liabilities in the balance sheet and netted as the Group has a 
contractual offsetting right to execute the net amount to the creditor.

Impairment of financial assets
Assessment as to whether there is objective evidence of an impair-
ment of an item included in the financial assets occurs on the closing 
date. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of the 
asset item is higher than its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed if the recoverable amount has changed from the date it 
was recognised due to a change in circumstances. 

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is considered 
decreased when their value has decreased significantly over a longer 
term. In this case, changes to the fair value are entered from share-
holders’ equity to the income statement. Impairment losses to equity 
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investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are not 
derecognised through profit or loss.

The value of loan and trade receivables in other receivables is 
considered to have decreased when it is apparent that the Group will 
not be able to collect the receivable in accordance with the original 
terms and conditions. The Group recognises the impairment loss 
concerning sales receivables immediately when there is objective 
evidence that the receivable cannot be collected in full. In addition, 
delay or default on a payment by the debtor or known financial difficul-
ties of the debtor are considered additional factors indicative of an 
impairment of trade receivables. According to the Group’s principle 
concerning the valuation of trade receivables, 50% of unsecured and 
uncertain receivables overdue more than 180 days and 100% of those 
overdue more than 360 days is recognised as an expense. Due to the 
application of the percentage of completion method, part of the items 
considered write-downs is included in the project cost estimate and 
taken into consideration as weakened margin forecast. Write-downs 
on loss-making projects are included in the provisions for losses.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recorded in the balance sheet at the settlement 
day and derecognised from the balance sheet when the related 
obligations expire or transfer outside the Group in accordance with 
the agreements. 

The Group has classified its financial liabilities into the following 
categories:

Financial liabilities at periodised acquisition cost using  
the effective interest rate method
These are originally measured at fair value. Transaction costs arising 
in connection with taking out the loan have been included in the 
original carrying amount. Financial liabilities may be current or non-
current. Financial liabilities are later valued at the periodised acquisi-
tion cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs 
arising as a result of the acquisition, construction or manufacturing 
of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the acquisition cost of 
the asset in question when it is probable that they will produce future 
financial benefit and can be reliably determined. Other borrowing 
costs are expensed in the period during which they emerged. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as expenses 
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Developer contracting-related debts from contract receivables 
sold to financing companies are also presented in financial liabilities. 
The receivables sold to financing companies are included in the cur-
rent borrowings during the loan period to the extent they are related 
to housing production or commercial real estates recognised as 
revenue upon completion. Loans from external financial institutions 
drawn down by housing corporations have been accounted for as 
liabilities to the extent that they apply to unsold shares. 

The Group has applied from 1 January 2010 the IFRIC15 interpre-
tation, according to which sold residential units in own residential 
development projects are recognised when projects are complete. 
As a result, all construction-stage contract receivables related to 
residential housing production or business premises recognised as 
revenue upon completion must be reported as part of the interest-
bearing liabilities on the balance sheet. Previously, this part of the 
construction-stage contract receivables was reported as an off-
balance sheet item.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are market rates if one has 
been reliably available, or otherwise discounted values or accounting 
values if this is reasonably close to the fair value. The discount rate 
used is the rate at which the Group could possibly buy a correspond-
ing item on the closing date.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps associated with 
business operations and financing to which IAS 39 compliant hedg-
ing is not applied have been classified into this category. Derivatives 
are originally measured at fair value when the Group becomes party 

to an agreement and is subsequently measured at fair value. Currency 
forward contracts are used for hedging against the currency exposure 
of exchange rates and resulting changes in fair value are entered in 
other operating income and expenses or financial income and 
expenses in the financial period in which they were incurred. Interest 
rate swaps are used to hedge against changes in market interest 
rates, and changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps are entered 
in financing income or expenses in the financial period in which they 
were incurred. Derivatives are non-current liabilities when their matu-
rity is more than 12 months (Other liabilities) and current liabilities 
when the remaining maturity is less than 12 months (Trade and other 
payables).

Fair value of derivative instruments and hedge accounting
The fair value of derivative instruments equals the value the Group 
would receive or pay if the derivative contract would be terminated. 
The fair value of exchange rate forward agreements has been 
assessed by using the market prices at the closing day. The fair value 
of interest rate forward agreements are based on the counterparts’ 
quoted prices. These quoted prices for interest rate swap agreements 
are derived from the discounted future cash flows, and the quoted 
prices for other agreements are based on general market conditions 
and common pricing models. The fair value of commodity derivatives 
is based on average market price on the balance sheet date.

Derivative instruments used in hedge accounting that meet the 
hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39 are entered in the balance 
sheet at fair value on the day that the Group becomes counterpart 
to the agreement. The Group has applied hedge accounting for hedg-
ing against the reference rate of floating rate loans (cash flow hedging). 
The Group documents the relationship between the target and the 
hedging instruments and assesses the effectiveness of the hedging 
ratio. The effectiveness of hedging is evaluated in connection with 
the preparation of each financial statement, at minimum. Changes in 
the fair value of the effective part of derivative instruments meeting 
the criteria for cash flow hedging are entered in the fair value reserves 
in shareholders’ equity, taking the tax impact into consideration. Gains 
and losses recognised in shareholders’ equity are transferred to 
financial income or expenses within the same financial periods as the 
items of the hedging target. When a hedging instrument acquired to 
hedge cash flow matures or is sold, or when the criteria of hedging 
accounting are no longer satisfied, the profit or loss accrued from the 
hedging instrument remains in equity until the forecasted transaction 
is realised. Nevertheless, if the forecasted hedged transaction is no 
longer expected to be implemented, the profit or loss accrued in 
equity is recognised immediately in the income statement.

TreasUrY shares
If a Group company acquires YIT Corporation shares, the consid-
eration paid for the shares and acquisition-related costs are decreased 
from shareholders’ equity until the shares are nullified or re-circulated. 
When the company sells its own shares, the direct transaction costs 
can be decreased from the consideration received, which is then 
entered in shareholders’ equity.

Income recoGnITIon 
Income from product and service sales is recorded as revenue at fair 
value with the indirect taxes, discounts.

Goods and services sold
YIT Group designs, constructs and sells residential units and business 
premises and develops and maintains living infrastructure. Further-
more, in Russia, the Group provides after-sales service and mainte-
nance for consumer customers’ new homes. Income from sales of 
products is recorded when the significant risks, benefits and control 
associated with the ownership of the goods have transferred to the 
buyer. Income from short-term services is recorded when the service 
has been performed.
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longterm service agreements and construction contracts
Long-term service agreements and construction contracts are 
recorded as revenue on the basis of the degree of completion when 
the end result of the project can be estimated reliably. The degree of 
completion of long-term service agreements is calculated on the basis 
of the share of the estimated total cost of a contract represented by 
the costs realised at the time of assessment. The revenue from devel-
oper contracting is recognised on the basis of the percentage of 
degree of completion and the degree of sale. Costs in excess of the 
degree of completion are capitalised in work in progress included in 
inventories. Revenue from construction projects including leasing 
liabilities is recognised as revenue on the basis of the percentage of 
degree of completion, degree of sale and occupancy rate. Leasing 
liabilities are treated as contract expenses. A provision for leasing 
liabilities is made if the remaining unrecognised margin of the construc-
tion project is lower than the amount of the remaining leasing liability.

YIT group may also carry out a certain construction contract or 
long-term service agreement through a construction consortium. A 
construction consortium is not an independent legal unit; instead the 
contracting parties are directly responsible for its operations and 
liabilities. Constructions contracts and long-term service agreements 
carried out trough a consortium are included in the relevant group 
company’s reporting and are recorded as revenue on the basis of the 
degree of completion and group’s share in the consortium.

own residential and commercial real estate development 
projects (IFrIc 15)
From 1 January 2010, the revenue generated by YIT’s own residen-
tial development projects is recognised when the project is complete 
i.e. when the residential units are ready to be handed over to the 
client. Revenue recognition of completed projects is based on degree 
of sale. Under the old practice, the revenue was recognised during 
the construction phase based on the percentage of degree of com-
pletion and the degree of sale. 

In the case of YIT’s commercial real estate development projects, 
the recognition practice will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis 
and in accordance with the terms and conditions of each contract. 
These projects will be recognised when the construction work has 
started or when the project is complete. The share of income and 
expenses to be recognised is calculated by using the formula percent-
age of completion multiplied by the percentage of sale multiplied by 
the occupancy rate. YIT normally secures the key tenants prior to 
starting a business premises project and the investor at the early 
stage of construction of the project. 

If it is probable that the total expenditure required to complete a 
contract will exceed the total income from the project, the expected 
loss is expensed immediately in all circumstances. Revenue recogni-
tion on the basis of the degree of completion related to long-term 
service agreements and construction contracts is based on estimates. 
If the estimates of the end result of a contract change, the sales and 
profits recognised are adjusted in the reporting period when the 
change first becomes known and can be evaluated.

Interest and dividends
Interest income is recognised using the effective yield method and 
dividend income when the right to dividend has materialised.

crITIcal accoUnTInG esTImaTes anD JUDGemenTs
When financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, 
the Group management must make estimates and exercise judge-
ment in the application of the accounting policies. Estimates and 
assumptions have an effect on the amounts of assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities in the balance sheet of the financial statements 
and the final actual results may differ from the estimates. The follow-
ing presents the critical accounting estimates and judgements 
included in the financial statements:

estimated impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is tested for any impairment annually in accordance with 
the accounting policy stated in note 15. The recoverable amounts of 
cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations. The cash flows in the value-in-use calculations are based 
on the management’s best estimate of market development for the 
subsequent years.

The cash flows in the value-in-use calculations reflect the best 
estimate for different time period, and the sensitivity analysis for dis-
count rate, profitability as well as terminal value have been made. On 
31 December 2013, goodwill amounted to EUR 10.9 million.

percentage of completion revenue recognition  
of longterm projects
Due to estimates included in the revenue recognition of long-term 
service agreement and construction projects, revenue and profit 
presented by financial period only rarely correspond to the equal 
distribution of the total profit over the duration of the project. When 
revenue recognition from long-term projects is based on the percent-
age of completion method, the final result of the projects is regularly 
and reliably estimated. Calculation of the total income of projects 
includes estimates on the total expenditure required to complete the 
project as well as the development of sales prices. If the estimates 
of the end result of a contract change, the sales and profits recognised 
are adjusted in the reporting period when the change first becomes 
known and can be evaluated. If it is probable that the total expendi-
ture required to complete a contract will exceed the total income from 
the project, the expected loss is expensed immediately. In 2013, 
revenue recognition through percentage of completion method 
amounted to EUR 1,229.3 million, representing 66 per cent of the 
Group’s revenue (Note 5).

Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in several countries. Evaluating 
the total amount of income taxes at the Group level requires significant 
consideration, so the amount of total tax includes uncertainty. On 31 
December 2013, deferred tax receivables amounted to EUR 41.1 
million and deferred tax liabilities amounted to EUR 14.4 million (Note 
19).

provisions
The recognition of provisions is associated with estimates concerning 
probability and quantity. Provisions are booked for loss-making agree-
ments when the obligatory expenditure required to meet obligations 
exceeds the benefits yielded by the agreement. A guarantee provision 
and Finnish 10-year provisions for commitments are recorded when 
a project is recognised in the income statement. The amount of the 
guarantee and Finnish 10-year provisions for commitments in the 
construction industry provision is set on the basis of experience of 
the materialisation of these commitments. On 31 December 2013, 
provisions amounted to EUR 61.4 million (Note 25).

pension benefits
The current value of pension obligations depends on various actu-
arial factors and the discount rate used. Changes in the assumptions 
and discount rate have an effect on the carrying amount of pension 
liabilities. The discount rate used is the market rate of high-quality 
corporate bonds or the interest rate of treasury notes for the currency 
in which the benefits will be realised. The maturity of the reference 
rate used corresponds substantially to the maturity of the calculated 
pension liability. Other assumptions are based on actuarial statistics 
and prevailing market conditions. On 31 December 2013, pension 
liabilities amounted to EUR 0.7 million (Note 24).

Inventories
On each closing date, the Group assesses the valuing of inventory 
and possible decrease in value based on its best estimate. The esti-
mates are based on systematic and continuous monitoring. Plot 
reserves are measured at acquisition cost and the value is impaired 
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only when it is estimated that the building being constructed on the 
plot will be sold at a price lower than the sum of the price of the plot 
and the construction costs. The valuing of plot reserves has been 
made by using time period of 3–4 years. On 31 December 2013, 
work in progress amounted to EUR 1,053.4 million, completed hous-
ing units amounted to EUR 235.7 million and plot reserves amounted 
to EUR 681.2 million (Note 20).

Trade receivables
The Group books write-offs or provision on receivables when it is 
evident that no payment can be expected. Group adopts its policy 
of valuing trade receivables and the bookings include estimates and 
critical judgements. The estimates are based on experience on real-
ised write-offs in previous years, empirical knowledge of debt collect-
ing, analysis made by clients and general market situation at the time. 
On 31 December 2013, trade receivables amounted to EUR 114.8 
million (Note 21). 

evalUaTIon oF The FUTUre ImpacT oF new 
sTanDarDs anD InTerpreTaTIons
IASB has published the following new or amended standards and 
interpretations, which group has not applied for or EU commission 
has not approved yet. YIT Group will adopt them in the financial 
statements for the year 2014 or later.
•	 IFRS 9: Financial Liabilities – Classification and Measurement. The 

part of IFRS 9 concerning the classification and measurement was 
published in November 2009. It represents the first milestone in 
the process to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments – Recognition 
and Measurement” with a new standard. IFRS 9 includes new 
kinds of requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets, and it will probably have an impact on accounting 
for financial assets in the Group. The Group will adopt the standard 
in its 2013 financial statements. The Group management is 
assessing the impact of the standard on the financial statements 
of the Group.

•	 IFRS 10, 11 and 12 transition rules (amendment): These 
amendments provide additional transition relief to IFRSs 10, 11 
and 12, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative 
information to only the preceding comparative period. For 
disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities, the 
amendments will remove the requirement to present comparative 
information for periods before IFRS 12 is first applied. The Group 
management is assessing the impact of the standard on the 
financial statements of the Group.

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The aim of IFRS 10 
is to define principles applied to the preparation and presentation 
of consolidated financial statements when the entity has control 
in one or several entities. The standard specifies the principle of 
control, and control is defined as grounds for consolidation. The 
standard provides guidelines on the application of the concept of 
control in determining whether the investor has control and must 
therefore consolidate the investee in its consolidated financial 
statements. The standard also includes requirements for the 
procedure of preparing consolidated financial statements. The 
Group management is assessing the impact of the standard on 
the financial statements of the Group.

•	 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 provides for a more realistic 
reflection of joint arrangements. In accordance with it, the focus 
is on the rights and obligations of the arrangement rather than its 
legal form. There are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations 
and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint operator 
has rights to the assets and obligations and accounts for its interest 
in assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise 
when a joint venturer has rights to the net assets of the arrangement 
and accounts for its interest using the equity method. Proportional 
consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed. The Group 
management is assessing the impact of the standard on the 
financial statements of the Group.

•	 IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 includes 
all of the disclosure requirements for all types of interests. It applies 
to joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and 
other off-balance sheet vehicles. The Group management is 
assessing the impact of the standard on the financial statements 
of the Group.

•	 IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements: The revised standard sets 
out the requirements for separate financial statements remaining 
after the provisions concerning control were included in the new 
IFRS 10. The Group management is assessing the impact of the 
standard on the financial statements of the Group.

•	 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: The revised 
standard outlines the accounting for investments in associates 
and joint ventures. As a result of the publication of IFRS 11, the 
equity method is applied to both. The Group management is 
assessing the impact of the standard on the financial statements 
of the Group.

•	 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: The amendments 
concern the implementation guideline of IAS 32. They clarify certain 
requirements concerning the offsetting of financial assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet. The Group management is 
assessing the impact of the standard on the financial statements 
of the Group.

•	 Amendment to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 concerning the 
consolidation of investment entities: These amendments mean 
that many funds and similar entities are exempted from 
consolidating most of their subsidiaries in the consolidated financial 
statements. Instead, subsidiaries are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The exemption applies to entities which 
meet the definition of “investment entity” and have certain specific 
characteristics. Disclosure requirements for investment entities 
have been added to IFRS 12. The Group management is assessing 
the impact of the standard on the financial statements of the 
Group.

•	 IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: The amendment concerns 
information on the recoverable amount that must be disclosed for 
impaired assets if their value is based on fair value less costs of 
disposal. The Group management is assessing the impact of the 
standard on the financial statements of the Group.

•	 IAS 39 Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement: 
The amendment provides for an easement according to which 
hedge accounting can be continued under certain criteria when 
a derivative instrument is novated to a central counterparty. The 
Group management is assessing the impact of the standard on 
the financial statements of the Group.

•	 IFRIC 21 Levies: The interpretation concerns the standard IAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. IAS 37 
outlines the accounting for liabilities. One of them is the requirement 
that the company has an existing obligation resulting from a past 
event (obligating event). The interpretation defines the obligating 
event for a levy as the activity that triggers the payment of the levy 
in accordance with the relevant legislation. 

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The purpose of this standard is to 
supersede IAS 39. At this stage, IFRS 9 contains measurement 
principles of financial assets and liabilities and hedge accounting. 
The different measurement requirements have been carried 
forward unchanged, but they have been simplified by dividing 
financial assets into two classifications: amortised cost and fair 
value. The classification depends on the business model of the 
entity and cash flow characteristics of an asset included in financial 
assets. The new guidance on hedge accounting brings hedge 
accounting and risk management closer to each other. In addition, 
the requirements for effectiveness testing have been simplified. In 
the future, hedged items can include risk components associated 
with commodities, combinations of exposures, groups of several 
items when hedging against foreign currency risk as well as equity 
investments. The guidance included in IAS 39 on the impairment 
of financial assets and hedge accounting will remain in force.
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The possible restatements made in the previous year’s figures are 
only done in order to remain the comparability with the actual year’s 
figures.

2. Segment information
YIT’s business and reportable segments are Construction Services 
Finland and International Construction Services. Segments’ operating 
activities are organised as follows:

consTrUcTIon servIces FInlanD
•	 Residences: block of flats, single-family houses, leisure solutions. 
•	 Maintenance of roads, streets and properties.
•	 Construction investments, renovation and property development 

projects, as well as infrastructure property development projects.

InTernaTIonal consTrUcTIon servIces 
•	 Block of flats, single-family houses and leisure solutions. 

Maintenance of properties.
•	 Construction investments, renovation and property development 

projects.

oTher ITems
Other items include Group internal services, rental revenue from 
external customers and Group level unallocated costs.

accoUnTInG prIncIples In seGmenT reporTInG
In Construction Services Finland and International Construction Ser-
vices segments’ reporting to the management the revenue from own 
residential and commercial development projects is recognised by 
multiplying the degree of completion and the degree of sale, i.e. 
according to the percentage of completion method, which does not 
fully comply with Group’s IFRS accounting principles. According to 
the Group’s IFRS accounting principles revenue from own residential 
construction projects is recognised on completion and the com-
mercial development projects the recognition practice will be evalu-
ated on a case-by-case basis and in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of each contract. The share of income and expenses to 
be recognised is calculated by multiplying the percentage of comple-
tion by the percentage of sale multiplied by the occupancy rate. YIT 

normally secures the key tenants prior to starting a business premises 
project and the investor at the early stage of construction of the 
project. The impact of the difference in reporting principles is shown 
in the line IFRS adjustment. As a result of the accounting policy, Group 
figures can fluctuate greatly between quarters. The chief operating 
decisionmaker is the YIT Group’s Management Board, which reviews 
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and 
allocate resources to the segments.

On 1 January 2013, the Group adopted a new recording method 
in segment reporting, according to which the capitalisation of bor-
rowing costs according to the IAS 23 is not applied in segment 
reporting. IAS 23 defines the recording method of borrowing costs 
in long-term construction projects. The comparison figures have been 
adjusted to correspond with the new accounting practice. The change 
increased the operating profit based on segment reporting by  
EUR 13.6 million in January–December 2012.

The operative invested capital and return on operative invested 
capital (%) are included in the reports regularly reviewed by the YIT 
Group’s Management Board. These key indicators are reported 
regularly to Group’s Management. Operative invested capital is deter-
mined as follows:

+ Tangible and intangible assets
+ Goodwill
+ Investments in associates and joint ventures 
+ Inventories
+ Trade receivables and other non-interest-bearing receivables 

(excl. items related to taxes, interests and distribution of assets)
= Segments’ assets
– Provisions
– Trade payables
– Advances received
– Other non-interest-bearing liabilities (excl. items related to taxes, 

interests and distribution of assets)
= Segments’ liabilities

Segment’s assets – Segment’s liabilities = Operative invested capital

Return on operative invested capital %

= Segment’s operating profit
 Operative invested capital (average) *100

•	 IAS 19 Employee benefits: Defined Benefit Plans – Employee 
Contributions The amendment allows contributions associated 
with employee service and whose amount does not vary based 
on the employee’s period of employment to be deducted from the 
costs of benefits earned during which the services are rendered. 
The Group management is assessing the impact of the standard 
on the financial statements of the Group.

•	 Annual improvements 2010–2012: Improvements that were 
published as a result of the 2010–2012 cycle result in changes to 
the following standards: 
•	 IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations
•	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments
•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
•	 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible 

Assets IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The Group management is assessing the impact of the improvements 
on the financial statements of the Group.
•	 Annual improvements 2011–2013: Improvements that were 

published as a result of the 2011–2013 cycle result in changes to 
the following standards: 
•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations
•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
•	 IAS 40 Investment Property

The Group management is assessing the impact of the amendments 
on the financial statements of the Group.
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operaTInG seGmenTs 2013

eUr mill.

construc tion 
services 

Finland

International
construction

services

other
items and

eliminations

continuing 
operations,

total
Discontinued

operations eliminations

Items 
allocated to 

segments

Segments' revenue 1,219.8 621.2 17.8 1,858.8   1,858.8

Group internal -1.1 -0.3 1.4 0.0   0.0

revenue from external customers 1,218.8 620.9 19.2 1,858.8   1,858.8

Share of profit from associates and joint 
ventures 0.0 0.0   0.0

operating profit segment/Group 94.5 71.9 13.6 152.8   152.8

Operating profit includes:

Depreciation and amortization -0.2 -3.1 -14.2 -17.4   -17.4

Change in provisions 0.8 -6.8 2.7 -3.3   -3.3

segments' assets 1,028.9 986.8 61.1 2,076.8   2,076.8

Total assets include:

Investments 0.3 7.5 12.4 20.2   20.2

Investments in associates and joint 
ventures 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5   0.5

segments' liabilities 345.8 254.3 15.4 615.5   615.5

Segment's operative invested capital 683.1 732.5

Return on operative invested capital  
(last 12 months) % = 14.9 10.0

operaTInG seGmenTs 2012

eUr mill.

construc tion 
services 

Finland

International
construction

services

other
items and

eliminations

continuing 
operations,

total
Discontinued

operations eliminations

Items 
allocated to 

segments

Segments' revenue 1,329.0 599.6 64.8 1,993.4 2,803.4  4,796.8

Group internal -1.1 -0.2 -33.2 -34.5 -0.2 -86.2 -120.9

revenue from external customers 1,328.0 599.4 31.6 1,959.0 2,803.2 86.2 4,675.9

Share of profit from associates and joint 
ventures 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.0  0.2

operating profit segment/Group 134.1 80.4 13.4 201.1 61.1 0.1 262.2

Operating profit includes:

Depreciation and amortization -0.1 -4.2 -16.4 -20.6 -24.2  -44.9

Change in provisions -0.8 5.1 0.1 4.4 -4.0  0.4

segments' assets 944.9 918.3 78.0 1,941.2 1,235.9 0.7 3,176.4

Total assets include:

Investments 0.0 3.9 24.5 28.4 16.2  44.6

Investments in associates and joint 
ventures 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.1  0.6

segments' liabilities 363.2 210.0 1.8 574.9 758.7 16.2 1,349.9

Segment's operative invested capital 581.7 708.3

Return on operative invested capital  
(last 12 months) % = 23.5 12.3
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seGmenT InFormaTIon reconcIlIaTIon

eUr mill.
Group 

2013

continuing 
operations, 

restated 2012

Discontinued 
operations, 

restated 2012
eliminations 

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

revenue reconciliation

Revenue, segment reporting 1,858.8 1,959.0 2,803.2 -86.2 4,675.9

IFRS adjustment -115.9 29.9   29.9

revenue, group 1,743.0 1,988.9 2,803.2 86.2 4,705.9

reconciliation of net profit for the financial year   

Operating profit, segment reporting 152.8 201.1 61.1 0.1 262.2

Unallocated items:   

Financial income and expenses -30.0 -31.5 -7.0 -0.2 -38.7

Profit before taxes, segment reporting 122.8 169.6 54.1 0.0 223.7

Taxes -29.0 -37.9 -16.6  -54.5

Non-controlling interests 0.1 -0.9 -0.1  -1.0

net profit for the financial year, segment reporting 93.9 130.7 37.4 0.0 168.1

IFRS adjustment:   

Operating profit -48.8 -3.1   -3.1

Financial income and expenses 21.0 17.4   17.4

Deferred taxes 4.2 -3.5   -3.5

Non-controlling interests 0.0 -0.2   -0.2

net profit for the financial year, group 70.2 141.2 37.4 0.0 178.6

eUr mill.
Group 

2013

continuing 
operations, 

restated 2012

Discontinued 
operations, 

restated 2012
eliminations 

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

assets

Assets allocated to segments 2,076.8 1,941.2 1,235.9 -0.7 3,176.4

Unallocated items:

Cash and cash equivalents 76.3 74.9 100.8  175.7

Non-current receivables 10.9 14.8 2.5  17.3

Tax related items 47.3 37.9 10.2  48.2

Periodisations of financial items 8.2 3.4  11.6

assets total, segment reporting 2,211.3 2,077.0 1,352.8 0.7 3,429.1

IFRS adjustment:

Inventories 387.8 322.1   322.1

Other current receivables -54.8 -66.8   -66.8

Deferred tax receivables 8.3 9.1   9.1

assets total, group 2,552.6 2,341.5 1,352.8 0.7 3,693.6

liabilities

Liabilities allocated to segments 615.5 574.9 758.7 16.2 1,349.9

Unallocated items:   

Interest-bearing liabilities 783.9 618.9 91.0 140.0 849.9

Tax related items 25.3 35.7 76.1  111.8

Periodisations of financial items 11.7 25.6 0.6  26.2

liabilities total, segment reporting 1,436.4 1,255.1 926.4 156.2 2,337.8

IFRS adjustment:

Interest-bearing current liabilities 74.1 72.0   72.0

Other current liabilities 354.6 260.0   260.0

Deferred tax liabilities -10.7 -7.5   -7.5

liabilities total, group 1,854.4 1,579.7 926.4 156.2 2,662.3
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GeoGraphIcal InFormaTIon
In geographical segments revenues are presented by location of customers and assets are presented by location of assets.

revenUe From eXTernal cUsTomers

eUr mill.
Group 

2013

continuing 
operations, 

restated 2012

Discontinued 
operations, 

restated 2012
eliminations 

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

Finland 1,254.5 1,402.5 585.8 -59.7 1,928.6

Sweden 2.9 4.6 723.8 -4.7 723.8

Norway 2.1 3.7 564.6 -3.7 564.6

Germany 1.7 3.8 521.1 -3.8 521.1

Russia 362.5 441.7 32.0 -10.7 463.0

Denmark 0.4 1.7 142.8 -1.7 142.8

Baltic countries 95.7 102.8 25.5 -1.3 127.1

Other Europe 23.2 28.1 191.8 -0.8 219.1

Other countries  15.9 0.0 15.9

Group total 1,743.0 1,988.9 2,803.2 86.2 4,705.9

noncUrrenT asseTs

eUr mill.
Group 

2013

continuing 
operations, 

restated 2012

Discontinued 
operations, 

restated 2012
eliminations 

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

Finland 60.1 83.4 121.1  204.5

Sweden  58.5  58.5

Norway  96.1  96.1

Germany  97.6  97.6

Russia 12.3 17.8 1.0  18.8

Denmark  10.6  10.6

Baltic countries 10.6 10.5 0.2  10.7

Other Europe 1.5 2.4 23.5 26.0

Other countries  0.1  0.1

Group total 84.5 114.1 408.7  522.9
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3. Acquisitions
acQUIsITIons In 2013
In December 2013, International Construction Services acquired 
100% holding of company LLC Sovremennik, which engages in build-
ing technology contracts and maintenance in Russia. The acquisition 
did not have a direct economic impact to YIT Group and goodwill 
was not generated.

acQUIsITIons In 2012
In Sweden, YIT acquired the share capital of Elektriska Installationer 
i Finspång AB, a company specialising in electricity, telecommunica-
tions, data, alarm and low voltage installations, and its sister company 
Kraftmontage i Finspång AB, specialising in electrical installations in 
February. In Norway, YIT acquired the share capital of electrical instal-
lations specialist Madla Elektro AS in March. In Sweden, YIT acquired 
the security business operations of Level5 security in April and the 
share capital of electrical installations company Dala Elmontage 
Lindkvist & Bodin AB in May.

During the first half of the year 2012, YIT made two acquisitions 
in the Building Services Central Europe segment. In Austria, YIT 
acquired the share capital of P&P Kältenangebau GmbH, a cooling 
solutions and services provider, and the share capital of WM 
Haustechnik GmbH, an HVAC solution provider, in January 2012.

The Swedish, Norwegian and Austrian companies mentioned 
above were transferred to the Caverion Group as part of the partial 
demerger.

In December 2012 International Construction Services acquired 
100% holding in LLC Maintenance Company “Vesta”, a company 
specialising in contracting and services within technical building 
systems in Russia.

The total acquisition price amounted to EUR 9.5 million and good-
will was not generated.

composITIon oF acQUIreD neT asseTs anD 
GooDwIll
eUr mill. 2013 2012

consideration

Cash 0.0 8.5

Contingent consideration 1.1

Total consideration 0.0 9.5

Acquisition-related costs recognised as 
expenses 0.2

recoGnIseD amoUnTs oF IDenTIFIaBle asseTs 
acQUIreD anD lIaBIlITIes assUmeD

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 1.1

Property, plant and equipment 0.5

Intangible assets:

Customer base 1.6

Order backlog 4.5

Other intangible rights 12.9

Inventories 0.0 0.9

Trade and other receivables 0.0 6.6

Deferred tax liabilities, net -2.0

Trade and other liabilities 0.0 -16.6

Total identifiable net assets 0.0 9.5

Non-controlling interest

Goodwill

Total 0.0 9.5

Revenue included in the income statement for 
the period 0.0 17.4

Profit for the period included in the income 
statement for the period 0.0 0.2

Revenue had the consolidation taken place from 
the beginning of financial year 0.0 19.2

Profit for the period had the consolidation taken 
place from the beginning of the financial year 0.0 0.4

The assets and liabilities of year 2012 were transferred to the Cave-
rion Group as part of the demerger.
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4. Disposals
DIsposeD BUsInesses In 2013
There were no disposed businesses in 2013.

DIsposeD BUsInesses In 2012
International Construction Services sold the shares held in a Russian 
company called UJUT Service. The sale had no significant relevance 
to the YIT Group.

eFFecT on revenUe, neT proFIT anD cash Flow

eUr mill.
JanuaryDecember 

2012

Revenue 0.1

Operating expenses -0.1

Operating profit 0.0

Financial expenses 0.0

Profit before taxes 0.0

Taxes 0.0

net profit 0.0

Received in cash 0.0

Direct costs related to disposals 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents in disposed entity 0.0

cash flow on disposals 0.0

eFFecT on consolIDaTeD asseTs anD lIaBIlITIes
eUr mill. 2012

Trade and other receivables 0.5

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets 0.5

Deferred tax liability

Trade and other liabilities 0.5

Total liabilities 0.5

net assets 0.0

5.  Long-term construction 
contracts

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Contract revenue recognised as 
revenue in the period 1,229.3 1,571.5

Contract costs incurred and recognised profits 
less recognised losses to date for work in 
progress 1,178.8 1,243.8

eUr mill. 2013 2012

Accrued income from long-term projects 1) 61.5 329.3

Advances received 2) 149.1 340.4

1) EUR 49.9 million of the item for the comparison year 2012 is allocated to the 
construction business.

2) EUR 203.6 million of the item for the comparison year 2012 is allocated to the 
construction business.

The expenditure incurred and the profits recognized for the long-term 
projects, that exceed the amount invoiced for the project, the differ-
ence is disclosed in “Trade and other receivables” in the balance 
sheet. Advances received and difference that arises if the expenditure 
and recognised income are lower than the amount of invoiced for the 
project, the difference is disclosed in “Trade and other payables”.

6. Other operating income

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Gains on the sale of tangible and intangible assets 1.6 0.7

Rent income 0.0 7.5

Gains on disposed companies or businesses 8.0

Other income 6.1 10.4

Total 15.7 18.6

7. Other operating expenses

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Losses on the sale of tangible and intangible 
assets 0.0 0.2

Rent expenses 55.6 57.8

Voluntary indirect personnel expenses 9.6 9.9

Other variable expenses for work in progress 129.8 174.9

Travel expenses 11.3 12.0

IT expenses 4.3 1.9

Premises expenses 11.2 12.3

Other fixed expenses 15.9 24.5

Total 237.7 293.5

aUDIT Fee
eUr million 2013 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Audit fee 0.8 0.9

Statements 1) 0.2 0.0

Tax services 0.0 0.4

Other services 1) 0.8 0.3

Total 1.8 1.6

1) In 2013 the statement and other services include EUR 0.9 million of costs related 
to the demerger. Of the audit fee for 2012, EUR 1.0 million is allocated to 
discontinued operations.
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8. Depreciation and impairment 

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Depreciation

Intangible assets

Allocations 0.8 1.0

Other intangible assets 3.2 4.9

Tangible assets

Buildings and structures 0.8 1.0

Machinery and equipment 11.0 11.7

Machinery and equipment, finance lease 0.3 0.3

Other tangible assets 1.5 1.7

Depreciation and impairment, total 17.4 20.6

9. Employee benefit expenses

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Wages and salaries 231.4 235.8

Pension costs, defined contribution plan 13.5 18.4

Pension costs, defined benefit plan 0.0 0.0

Other post-employment benefits 0.0 0.1

Share-based compensations 2.0 3.4

Other indirect employee costs 40.1 39.5

Total 286.9 297.1

nUmBer oF personnel BY BUsIness seGmenT

average 2013
restated 

2012

Construction Services Finland 3,453 3,619

International Construction Services 2,786 2,763

Other 337 348

Total 6,575 6,730

The key management compensation in total is disclosed in Note 34 
Related party transactions.

10.  Research and development 
expenses

YIT group’s research and development expenses amounted to about 
15.0 million euros in 2013 and 7.5 million euros (restated) in 2012. The 
research and development expenses have been mainly recognised 
as a part of the costs of long-term projects and have been recorded 
as a project costs.

11.  Financial income and 
expenses

eUr mill. 2013
restated 

2012

Financial income

Dividend income on available for sale 
investments 0,0 0,0

Interest income on loans and other receivables 0,8 4,1

Realized gains on available for sale investments 0,0

Changes in fair values on financial instruments 
at fair value through profit and loss account 7,7 0,4

Other financial income on loans and other 
receivables 1,1 0,1

Financial income, total 9,6 4,6

Financial expenses

Interest expenses on liabilities  
at amortized cost 1) -16,8 -18,1

Interest expenses on receivables sold to 
financing companies -3,0 -4,0

Other financial expenses on liabilities at 
amortized cost -3,7 -3,4

Interest expenses on hedging derivatives -2,5

Interest expenses on non-hedging derivatives -8,2 -2,5

Changes in fair values on financial instruments 
at fair value through profit and loss account 0,0 -2,7

Interest expenses on finance leases -0,1 0,0

Financial expenses 34,3 30,7

Interest expenses capitalised on qualifying 
assets 2) 21,0 17,4

Financial expenses, total 13,3 13,3

exchange rate differences

Exchange rate gains 23,7 34,3

Exchange rate losses -28,9 -39,7

exchange rate differences, net 3) 5,2 5,5

Financial expenses, net 9,0 14,2

1) Interest expenses on liabilities at amortised cost include EUR 2.6 million  
(EUR 2.0 million in 2012) of interest expenses on derivatives with hedge 
accounting applied.

2) Capitalisation of interest expenses is based on the effective weighted average 
interest of the Group loan portfolio. Currency-specific factors include the impact 
of hedging.

3) Exchange rate differences, net, were mainly caused by realised losses from 
hedging the rouble against the euro.
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12. Income taxes
Income TaXes In The Income sTaTemenT

eUr mill. 2013
restated 

2012

Current taxes 26.1 32.3

Taxes for prior years 0.1 -0.4

Deferred taxes -1.3 9.5

Total income taxes 24.8 41.5

The reconciliation between income taxes in the consolidated income 
statement and income taxes at the statutory tax rate in Finland 24,5% 
is as follows:

eUr mill. 2013
restated 

2012

profit before taxes 95.0 183.8

Income taxes at the tax rate in Finland (24.5%) 23.3 45.0

Effect of different tax rates outside Finland -1.7 -3.3

Tax exempt income and non-deductible 
expenses 3.7 0.6

Net results of associated companies and joint 
ventures 0.0 -0.1

Impact of the changes in the tax rates on 
deferred taxes 1) 3.1 0.0

Impact of losses for which deferred tax asset is 
recognised -4.7 -4.7

Impact of losses for which deferred taxes is not 
recognised 1.2 0.4

Reassessment of deferred taxes -0.1 3.8

Taxes for prior years 0.1 -0.4

Income taxes in the income statement 24.9 41.5

1) The affect of the change of tax rate in Finland from 24.5% to 20.0% in year 2014 
and in Slovakia from 19.0% to 23.0% in 2013.

14. Tangible assets
2013

eUr mill.
land and 

water areas

Buildings  
and  

structures

machinery  
and  

equipment

other 
tangible 

assets
advance 

payments Total

Historical cost at 1 January 4.6 44.2 239.7 31.5 0.9 320.9

Historical cost transferred in partial demerger -1.6 -17.5 -69.9 -17.0 -1.2 -107.2

Translation differences 0.0 -0.9 -3.0 -0.7 -4.6

Increases 0.0 0.3 9.4 1.7 1.4 12.8

Decreases -0.1 -1.9 -10.5 -0.7 -0.4 -13.6

Reclassifications 0.1 1.1 -0.5 0.4 -0.3 0.8

historical cost at 31 December 3.0 25.2 165.2 15.2 0.4 209.1

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -24.5 -166.5 -19.3 -210.2

Accumulated depreciation transferred in partial demerger  11.2 57.4 8.8  77.3

Translation differences 0.2 2.0 0.3 2.5

Depreciation -1.1 -13.9 -2.7 -17.7

Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications 0.4 3.1 0.8 4.3

accumulated depreciation at 31 December  13.8 117.9 12.1 0.0 143.8

 

Carrying value 1 January 4.6 19.7 73.2 12.2 0.9 110.6

carrying value 31 December 3.0 11.4 47.3 3.1 0.4 65.2

13. Earnings per share

2013
restated 

2012

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company, EUR mill.

– Continuing operations 70.3 141.2

– Discontinued operations 287.5 37.4

– Continuing and discontinued operations, total 357.7 178.6

Weighted average number of shares, million 125.5 125.4

Earnings per share, EUR

– Continuing operations 0.56 1.13

– Discontinued operations 2.29 0.30

– Continuing and discontinued operations, total 2.85 1.43

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting number of shares 
to assume conversion of all diluting potential shares. There were no 
diluting effects in 2013 and 2012.
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FInance lease asseTs
Tangible assets include assets leased by finance lease agreements as follows:

eUr mill.

Buildings and 
structures 

2013

mashinery  
and  

equipment 
2013

Total  
2013

Buildings and 
structures 

2012

mashinery  
and  

equipment 
2012

Total  
2012

Historical cost at 1 January 14.7 14.7 13.5 13.5

Historical cost transferred in partial demerger -8.0 -8.0    

Translation differences -0.5 -0.5 0.3 0.3

Increases 0.7 0.7 1.0 1.0

Decreases -0.4 -0.4 0.0 0.0

Reclassifications 0.6 0.1 0.7 -0.1 -0.1

Historical cost at 31 December 0.6 6.6 7.2  14.7 14.7

Accumulated depreciation 0.0 -13.1 -13.1 -13.0 -13.0

carrying value 31 December 0.6 0.5 1.1  1.7 1.7

No impairment losses have been recognised in the years 2013 and 2012. The government grants received are not material and have been 
deducted from the carrying value.

2012

eUr mill.
land and 

water areas

Buildings  
and  

structures

machinery  
and  

equipment

other 
tangible 

assets
advance 

payments Total

Historical cost at 1 January 4.2 48.6 233.1 30.9 3.0 319.7

Translation differences 0.0 0.2 2.0 0.4 0.0 2.6

Increases 0.5 0.7 25.4 2.5 -1.4 27.7

Acquisitions 0.0 0.5 0.5

Decreases -0.1 -2.4 -21.8 -1.5 -0.7 -26.5

Reclassifications 0.0 -2.9 0.4 -0.8 0.0 -3.3

historical cost at 31 December 4.6 44.2 239.7 31.5 0.9 320.9

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -24.6 -167.3 -17.1 -209.0

Translation differences 0.2 -1.4 -0.2 -1.4

Depreciation -1.6 -18.0 -4.2 -23.8

Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications 1.6 20.2 2.2 23.9

accumulated depreciation at 31 December 24.5 166.5 19.3  210.2

 

Carrying value 1 January 4.2 24.0 65.8 13.8 3.0 110.8

carrying value 31 December 4.6 19.7 73.2 12.2 0.9 110.6
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15. Intangible assets
2013

eUr mill. Goodwill

allocations 
from business 
combinations

other 
intangible 

assets
advance 

payments

Total other 
intangible 

assets

Historical cost at 1 January 346.6 80.7 49.8 7.8 138.2

Historical cost transferred in partial demerger -335.7 -74.8 -30.0 -0.8 -105.6

Increases  14.4 5.6 20.0

Decreases  -19.0 -7.1 -26.1

Reclassifications  2.2 -1.9 0.3

Translation differences  -2.6 -0.5 0.0 -3.1

historical cost at 31 December 10.9 3.3 16.9 3.5 23.7

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -43.5 -33.0 -76.5

Accumulated depreciation transferred in partial demerger 44.9 15.0  59.9

Depreciation -6.2 -3.8 -10.0

Translation differences 1.5 0.2 1.7

Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications 8.3 8.3

accumulated depreciation at 31 December 3.3 13.3 0.0 16.6

Carrying value 1 January 346.6 37.2 16.8 7.8 61.8

carrying value 31 December 10.9 0.0 3.6 3.5 7.2

2012

eUr mill. Goodwill

allocations 
from business 
combinations

other 
intangible 

assets
advance 

payments

Total other 
intangible 

assets

Historical cost at 1 January 347.5 60.7 67.2 3.0 130.9

Increases  0.0 3.2 5.2 8.4

Acquisitions  18.9 0.0 18.9

Decreases -0.9 -0.5 -21.7 -0.1 -22.3

Reclassifications  -0.3 0.8 -0.5 0.0

Translation differences  1.9 0.3 2.2

historical cost at 31 December 346.6 80.7 49.8 7.8 138.2

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -28.5 -48.3 -76.8

Depreciation -14.5 -5.6 -20.2

Translation differences -1.1 -0.2 -1.3

Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications 0.6 21.2 21.7

accumulated depreciation at 31 December 43.5 33.0  76.5

Carrying value 1 January 347.5 32.2 18.9 3.0 54.1

carrying value 31 December 346.6 37.2 16.8 7.8 61.8
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allocaTIons From BUsIness comBInaTIons:
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Customer relations and contract bases 0.0 20.1

Unpatented technology 0.2

Order backlog 16.2

Prohibition of competition clause 0.6

Total 0.0 37.2

Of the customer relations and contract bases for the comparison 
year 2012, EUR 0.8 million is allocated to the construction business. 
The remainder of the allocations were transferred to Caverion Group 
as part of the demerger.

YIT GroUp’s GooDwIll Is allocaTeD To The 
BUsIness seGmenTs anD To The cash GeneraTInG 
UnITs (cGU) as Follows:
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Building Services Northern Europe   

Finland 68.9

Sweden 41.8

Norway 69.7

Denmark 7.6

Industrial services  41.8

Total Building services northern europe 229.7

Building Services Central Europe

Germany 86.0

Austria 16.5

Poland 2.4

Czech 1.1

Building services central europe  106.0

International Construction Services 10.9 10.9

Total goodwill 10.9 346.6

The recoverable amount of all cash generating units (CGU) is based 
on value in use calculations. The recoverable cash flows are based 
on the set out budget for 2014 and the set out strategy of 2015–2016. 
A growth rate for the terminal value of 2% has been used in the 
impairment testing in 2013. The estimated business volumes are 
based on the current Group structure. The estimates include e.g. the 
outlook for residential demand in Central Eastern Europe and Russia. 
The estimates rest on the former experience and trends in these 
markets. Forecast of several research institutes related to growth, 
demand and price trends have also been utilised when preparing the 
estimates.

The discount factor employed is YIT’s latest confirmed pre-tax 
WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital). Goodwill is allocated in 
its entirety to International Construction Services. A WACC of 15.8 
per cent was used in testing of goodwill.

The goodwill test results are evaluated by comparing the recover-
able amount (E) with the carrying amount of the CGU (T), as follows:

 ratio estimate

E < T Impairment

E 0–20 % > T Slightly above

E 20–50 % > T Clearly above

E 50 %– > T Substantially above

The recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount substantially 
in the cash generating unit that has goodwill.

The sensitivity analysis for the recoverable cash flows has been 
made assessing the impact of changes in e.g. discount rate, profit-
ability and terminal value. Even a remarkable negative change in these 
factors would not lead to impairment losses of tested assets.

16.  Investments in associated 
companies and joint ventures

2013

eUr mill.
associated
companies

Joint  
ventures Total

Historical costs on 
1 January 0.5 0.1 0.6

Historical cost 
transferred in partial 
demerger -0.1  0.1

Increased 0.0 0.0 0.0

Disposals

historical costs on 
31 December 0.4 0.1 0.5

2012

eUr mill.
associated
companies

Joint  
ventures Total

Historical costs on 
1 January 3.1 0.1 3.1

Increased 0.2 0.0 0.2

Disposals -2.8 2.8

historical costs on 
31 December 0.5 0.1 0.6

In year 2012 YIT sold the 25% ownership of Estonian company AS 
Tartu Maja Betoonitooted. The profit of EUR 0.3 million was con-
solidated into YIT’s Income statement from period 1 January – 29 
June 2012.

The carrying amounts of the shares in associated companies do 
not include goodwill in 2013 and 2012.
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YIT GroUp’s assocIaTeD companIes anD JoInT venTUres anD TheIr comBIneD asseTs,  
lIaBIlITIes, revenUe anD proFIT/loss

2013
eUr mill. Domicile assets liabilities revenue profit/loss ownership 

YIT Kuntatekniikka Oy 1) Mikkeli 2.7 1.8 14.5 0.1 40.00%

Ruoholahti 23 Oy 2) Helsinki 0.5 0.5 0.0 0.0 50.00%

Valtatie 7 Group 2) Helsinki 284.6 298.9 0.0 0.0 10.05%

Total  287.8 301.2 14.5 0.1

2012
eUr mill. Domicile assets liabilities revenue profit/loss ownership 

Arandur Oy 1) Vantaa 4.0 3.7 5.4 0.0 33.00%

YIT Kuntatekniikka Oy 1) Mikkeli 2.5 1.8 15.4 -0.2 40.00%

Ruoholahti 23 Oy 2) Helsinki 2.3 2.2 1.2 0.1 50.00%

Valtatie 7 Group 2) Helsinki 167.2 170.3 0.0 0.0 10.05%

Total  176.0 178.0 22.0 0.1

1) Associated company
2) Joint venture

Arandur Oy was part of the Building Services business and was transferred to Caverion Group as part of the demerger.

17. Available for sale investments
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Carrying value 1 January 3.4 3.8

Assets transferred in partial demerger -2.3  

Increases 0.1

Decreases 0.0 -0.2

Changes in fair values 0.0 -0.4

Translation difference -0.2 0.1

carrying value 31 December 0.8 3.4

available for sale investments consist of as 
follows:

Quoted 0.1 2.1

Unquoted 0.7 1.3

Total 0.8 3.4

18. Non-current receivables

eUr mill.

carrying 
value 
2013

Fair  
value 
2013

restated 
carrying 

value, 
2012

restated 
fair value, 

2012

Trade receivables 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7

Other receivables 1) 5.7 5.7

Accrued receivables of 
derivatives 0.0

Total 0.6 0.6 6.3 6.3

1) Other receivables include defined benefit plan pension assets of EUR 1.9 million 
in 2012. The pension plan assets were transferred to Caverion Group in the 
partial demerger.

reconcIlIaTIon To The noTe 29 FInancIal asseTs 
anD lIaBIlITIes BY caTeGorY

eUr mill. 2013
restated

2012

Trade receivables 0.6 0.7

Other receivables 5.7

Total 0.6 6.3

Defined benefit pension asset -1.9

remainder 0.6 4.4

Non-current receivables do not include receivables from related par-
ties.

19.  Deferred tax receivables and 
liabilities

eUr mill. 2013
restated 

2012

Deferred tax receivable 41.1 49.8

Deferred tax liability -14.4 -89.4

Deferred tax liability, net 26.7 39.6

changes in deferred tax receivables and 
liabilities:

Deferred tax liability, net 1 January -39.6 -13.3

Deferred tax liability transferred in 
partial demerger, net 64.1  

Translation difference 1.5 -2.3

Changes recognised in income statement 1.2 -17.8

Changes recognised in comprehensive income -0.5 -4.2

Business acquisitions -2.0

Deferred tax liability, net 31 December 26.7 39.6
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chanGes In DeFerreD TaX receIvaBles anD lIaBIlITIes BeFore The oFFseT

2013

eUr mill. 1 January
Transferred in 

demerger
Translation 
difference

recognised in 
the income 
statement

recognised 
in compre

hensive 
income/

equity 31 December 

Deferred tax receivables:

Provisions 18.8 -4.7 -0.3 -1.3 12.5

Tax losses carried forward 11.2 -11.4 -0.3 7.8 7.4

Pension obligations 7.9 -8.1 0.0 0.3 0.1

Percentage of completion method 14.9 -0.2 -0.5 -4.9 9.4

Inventories 9.1 0.0 -0.8 6.1 14.3

Other items 16.4 -1.3 -0.9 4.5 -0.8 17.8

Total deferred tax receivables 78.3 25.7 2.8 12.5 0.8 61.5

Deferred tax liabilities:

Allocation of intangible assets 46.8 -45.3 -1.5 0.8 0.8

Accumulated depreciation differences 12.6 -7.5 -0.1 -0.5 4.5

Pension obligations 0.0 -0.8 -0.6 1.4 0.0

Percentage of completion method 42.7 -33.4 -2.0 8.0 15.2

Inventories 6.9 -1.8 -0.1 2.5 7.5

Available-for-sale investments 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Other items 9.1 -1.1 0.1 -1.0 -0.3 6.7

Total deferred tax liabilities 118.0 89.8 4.3 11.2 0.3 34.7

2012

eUr mill. 1 January
Transferred in 

demerger
Translation 
difference

recognised in 
the income 
statement

recognised 
in compre

hensive 
income/

equity 31 December

Deferred tax receivables:

Provisions 18.9 0.2 -0.3 0.0 18.8

Tax losses carried forward 11.2 0.1 -0.1 11.2

Pension obligations 13.1 -1.4 0.4 -4.2 7.9

Percentage of completion method 23.5 0.5 -9.1 14.9

Inventories 4.4 0.0 4.7 9.1

Other items 11.8 0.0 4.7 -0.1 0.0 16.4

Total deferred tax receivables 83.0 0.6 0.3 4.3 0.0 78.3

Deferred tax liabilities:

Allocation of intangible assets 40.0 0.6 4.1 2.1 46.8

Accumulated depreciation differences 13.6 0.2 -1.3 12.6

Pension obligations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Percentage of completion method 33.9 0.6 8.1 42.7

Inventories 2.7 -0.2 4.3 6.9

Available-for-sale investments 0.1 0.0 -0.1 0.0

Other items 5.9 0.4 2.8 -0.1 9.1

Total deferred tax liabilities 96.2 1.8 18.1 0.1 2.0 118.0

The deferred tax receivables on the taxable losses will be booked to 
extend the benefit is expected to be able to deduct from the taxable 
profit in the future. No deferred tax asset of EUR 1.3 million (EUR 1.9 
million in 2012) has been recognised on accumulated losses, of which 
some part is not approved by tax authorities. Deferred tax liability on 

undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, where the tax will be paid on 
the distribution of earnings, has not been recognised in the consoli-
dated balance sheet, because distribution of the earnings is in the 
control of the Group and it is not probable in the near future.
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20. Inventories
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Raw materials and consumables 10.2 36.2

Work in progress 1,053.4 894.8

Land areas and plot-owing companies 681.2 673.5

Shares in completed housing and real estate 
companies 235.7 232.0

Advance payments 81.0 64.1

Other inventories 0.4 0.9

Total inventories 2,062.1 1,901.5

The write-downs of inventories were EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.2 million 
in 2012). Work in progress include capitalised interests EUR 24.7 
million (EUR 16.3 million in 2012). 

YIT Group has acquired land areas in Finland and abroad for the 
construction activities. The acquisition of a land area may be done 
by buying the ownership of property or of shares of a plot-owing 
company. The goodwill arisen from the acquisitions of plot-owing 
companies have been included in the total amount of Land areas or 
Work in progress in inventories.

21. Trade and other receivables

eUr mill.

2013 
carrying 

value

2012 
carrying 

value

Trade receivables 114.8 571.1

Loan receivables 8.8 13.9

Accrued income from long-term projects 61.5 329.3

Accrued income 18.8 52.2

Receivables from derivative agreements 1.3 0.0

Other receivables 68.3 41.6

Total 273.5 1,008.0

The trade receivables were on average EUR 122.3 million during 2013 
(EUR 542.7 million in 2012 including the trade receivables transferred 
to Caverion Group in the partial demerger). The Group has not 
received collateral.

reconcIlIaTIon To The noTe 29 FInancIal asseTs 
anD lIaBIlITIes BY caTeGorY
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Loan receivables 8.8 13.9

Trade receivables 114.8 571.1

Accrued income from long-term projects 61.5 329.3

Other receivables 68.1 41.6

Total 244.4 941.9

22. Cash and cash equivalents

eUr mill.

2013 
carrying 

value
2013  

Fair value

2012 
carrying 

value
2012

Fair value

Cash and cash 
equivalents 76.3 76.3 175.7 175.7

cash anD cash eQUIvalenTs presenTeD In GroUp 
cash Flow sTaTemenT:
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 76.3 175.7

Accounts with overdraft facility -1.1

Total 76.3 174.6

23. Equity
share capITal anD share premIUm reserve

eUr mill.

number of
outstanding

shares

share
capital

eUr mill.

Treasury
shares

eUr mill.

1 January 2012 125,271,008 149.2 -9.7

Transfer of treasury shares 130,976 0.6

Return of treasury shares -18,139

31 December 2012 125,383,845 149.2 -9.2

1 January 2013 125,383,845 149.2 -9.2

Transfer of treasury shares 224,743 1.0

Return of treasury shares -18,452

31 December 2013 125,590,136 149.2 8.2

The total number of YIT Oyj’s shares was 127,223,422 and the share 
capital amounted to EUR 149.217 thousand euros at 31 December 
2013. All the issued and subscribed shares have been fully paid to 
the company. Shares do not have a nominal value.

TreasUrY shares
Changes in own shares if YIT corporation during the accounting 
period:

aika amount, pcs.

1 January 2013 1,839,577

Treasury shares granted for years 2012 option scheme -224,743

Return of treasury shares 18,452

31 December 2013 1,633,286

The consideration paid for the treasury shares amounted to EUR 8.2 
million and is disclosed as a separate fund in equity. The considera-
tion paid on treasury shares decreases the distributable equity of YIT 
Corporation. YIT Corporation holds the own shares as treasury shares 
and has the right to return them to the market in the future.

leGal anD oTher reserves
Legal reserves include the distributable earnings that have been 
booked to legal reserve based on the rule of Articles of Associations 
or by decision of Annual General Meeting. Other reserves include 
reserve of unrestricted equity in parent company and other reserves 
based on the regulation of local group companies.

TranslaTIon DIFFerences
Translation differences include the exchange rate differences recog-
nised in Group consolidation. In addition, on the net investment in 
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foreign subsidiaries, which are hedged with currency forwards, the 
portion of the gains and losses of effective hedges is recognised in 
translation differences. There were no hedges of a net investment in 
a foreign operation in 2013 and 2012.

FaIr valUe reserves
Fair value reserves include movements in the fair value of the availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets and the derivative instruments used for 
cash flow hedging.

DIvIDenDs
After the balance sheet date the Board has proposed to Annual 
General meeting a dividend of 0.38 euros per share.

shareBaseD IncenTIve plan
From 2010, the Group has had a long-term share-based incentive 
plan for it’s key personnel. The incentive plan has three separate 
earning periods for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. The reward is 
based on the achievement of the set financial targets, which are the 
revenue increase and the return on investment (ROI). The possible 
reward will be settled in YIT’s shares and in cash. The cash-settled 
reward will cover the tax and tax related obligations. The shares 
received are forbidden to sell during the commitment period. The 
commitment period in scheme 2010 is two years and in schemes 
2011 and 2012 three years. For each earning period will be approved 
separate financial targets and the list of key personnel. Every year it 
is possible to grant maximum 700,000 shares in the scheme. Into 
share-based incentive plan belongs to 255 persons for 2010, 260 
persons for 2011 and 250 persons for 2012.

GranTeD shares In The IncenTIve plans

Year
Grant
date

maximum 
amount of 

shares
market value
at grant date

2010 6 April 2010 700,000 17.52

2011 18 March 2011 700,000 20.67

2012 29 February 2012 700,000 15.80

number of shares granted 2013 2012

1 January 700,000 700,000

Granted shares, maximum 700,000 700,000

Granted shares, realised -224,743 -130,976

Exercised -475,257 -569,024

31 December 700,000 700,000

The granted shares are the maximum amount to be delivered from 
the year 2010. The final outcome of the financial key targets set, 
affects the realised number of granted shares. The difference between 
the maximum and realised share number will be shown in the exer-
cised shares.

Shares granted in 2011 were based on the performance of the 
year 2010, shares granted in 2012 based on the performance of the 
year 2011 and shares granted in 2013 based on the performance of 
the year 2012.

cosTs recoGnIseD For The shareBaseD IncenTIve plan

earning period persons
Group  

2013

continuing 
operations 

2012

Discontinued 
operations 

2012
Group  

2012

2010 255 1.7 0.7 0.4 1.1

2011 260 0.5 0.5 0.6 1.1

2012 250 -0.2 2.1 0.7 2.9

2.0 3.4 1.7 5.1

The accrued liabilities related to the cash-settled part of the compensation amount to EUR 0.4 million (in 2012 EUR 1.7 million). EUR 0.5 
million (EUR 0.8 million in 2012, with regard to continuing operations EUR 0.4 million) of the cost recognised is related to YIT Group’s Manage-
ment Board.
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24. Employee benefit obligations

eUr mill.
Group

2013

continuing
operations

 2012

Discontinued
operations

2012

Group,  
restated

2012

Balance sheet obligations for pension benefits 0.7 0.8 51.8 52.4

Balance sheet assets for pension benefits  -1.9 -1.9

Income statement charge for pension benefits 0.0 0.1 9.1 9.1

In 2013, the Group had defined benefit pension plans resulting from supplementary pension insurance in Finland. In all plans the pension 
liability has been calculated based on the number of years employed and the salary level. All the pension plans are managed in insurance 
companies, which follow the local pension legislation in their management. In addition to these, the Group had defined benefit pension plans 
in Norway, Germany and Austria related to the Building Services business until the demerger date 30 June 2013. In the demerger, the obliga-
tions related to these plans were transferred to Caverion Group.

The amoUnTs are DeTermIneD as Follow:

eUr mill.
Group  

2013

continuing 
operations  

2012

Discontinued 
operations  

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

Present value of funded obligations 4.1 4.2 101.8 106.0

Fair value of plan assets -3.4 -3.4 -74.4 -77.9

Deficit/surplus 0.7 0.8 27.4 28.1

Present value of unfunded obligations  22.4 22.4

pension liability, net 0.7 0.8 49.8 50.6

Disclosed in the balance sheet as follows:

Pension obligations 0.7 0.8 51.8 52.4

Defined benefit pension assets (Note 18)  -1.9 -1.9

The movemenT In The DeFIneD BeneFIT oBlIGaTIon over The Year Is as Follows:

eUr mill.
Group  

2013

continuing 
operations  

2012

Discontinued 
operations  

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

1 January 130.1 5.0 134.0 139.0

Obligations transferred in partial demerger -125.9   

Exchange differences  6.0 6.0

Current service cost  5.5 5.5

Interest cost  3.6 3.6

Contributions by plan participants 0.6 0.6

Actuarial profits/losses 0.1 -0.6 -21.5 -22.1

Benefits paid -0.1 -0.2 -3.9 -4.1

31 December 4.2 4.2 124.2 128.4
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The movemenT oF plan asseTs oF The Year Is as Follows:

eUr mill.
Group  

2013

continuing 
operations  

2012

Discontinued 
operations  

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

1 January 77.9 4.3 69.1 73.4

Assets transferred in partial demerger -74.4    

Exchange differences  3.8 3.8

Expected return of plan assets 0.1 0.2 3.0 3.2

Actuarial profits/losses -0.9 -3.1 -3.9

Employer contribution 0.2 0.2 4.0 4.1

Benefits paid -0.3 -0.3 -2.5 -2.8

31 December 3.4 3.4 74.4 77.9

Expected return on the plan assets 3.0 3.0

The amoUnTs recoGnIseD In The Income sTaTemenT are as Follows:

eUr mill.
Group  

2013

continuing 
operations  

2012

Discontinued 
operations  

2012

Group,  
restated  

2012

Current service cost   5.4 5.4

Interest cost  3.6 3.6

Expected return on plan assets 0.1 0.3 -3.0 -2.7

Actuarial gains (-) and losses (+) -0.1 -0.2 3.1 2.9

Total, included in personnel expenses 0.0 0.1 9.1 9.1

acTUarIal assUmpTIons are as Follows
2013 2012

Discount rate 3.5% 3.5–3.8%

Rate of salary increase 2.0% 1.3–3.5%

Rate of pension increases 0%/2.1% 0.2–2.3%
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25. Provisions

eUr mill.
Guarantee 

reserve

10year 
commitments in 

construction

provisions for 
loss making 

projects
restructuring 

provisions
legal 

provisions

rental 
guarantee 
provisions

other 
provisions Total

1 January 2013 18.7 42.5 11.3 2.1 3.1 3.0 22.6 103.3

Provisions transferred 
in partial demerger -12.6  -3.1 -2.5 -2.5  -5.9 -26.7

Translation difference -0.7 0.0 -0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.5 -1.7

Additions 8.3 4.7 1.9 2.0 0.4 3.0 4.2 24.6

Released during the 
period -6.8 -4.7 -2.3 -1.6 -0.2 -2.2 -15.8 -33.5

Reversals of unused 
provisions -0.2 -0.1 -3.5 0.0 -0.6 0.0 -0.2 -4.6

31 December 2013 6.7 42.5 3.9 0.0 0.1 3.9 4.4 61.4

Current 2.4 35.2 1.9 0.0 0.1 2.8 0.0 42.5

Non-current 4.3 7.3 2.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 4.4 19.0

Total 6.7 42.5 3.9 0.0 0.1 3.9 4.4 61.4

Provisions for contractual guarantees and for Finnish 10-year commitments in construction are determined on the basis of experience of the 
realisation of commitments.

In the table are included all other liabilities than presented in Note 27. 
The fair values of bonds are based on the market price at the closing 
date.

The fair values of other non-current loans are based on discounted 
cash flows. The discount rate is defined to be the rate YIT Group was 
to pay for equivalent external loans at year-end. It consists of a risk-
free market rate and a company and maturity-related risk premium 
of 1.60–3.30% (0.80–4.00%) p.a.

1) The construction-stage contract receivables sold to banks and other financing 
companies totalled EUR 211.7 million (EUR 265.5 million) at year-end. Of this 
amount, EUR 181.4 million (175.4 million) is included in interest-bearing liabilities 
on the balance sheet and the remainder comprises receivables which qualify for 
derecognition according to IAS 39.15–37 and AG 36–52. Possible re-purchase 
liabilities in off-balance sheet items are related to violations in contract 
agreements. The interest paid on receivables sold to financing companies, EUR 
2.9 million (EUR 4.0 million), is included in net financial expenses.

2) The interest on shares in the housing corporation loans of unsold completed 
residences is recognised in project expenses, because it is included in housing 
corporation maintenance charges.

26. Borrowings

eUr mill.

2013
carrying 

value

2013  
Fair  

value

2012
carrying 

value

2012
 Fair 

value

noncurrent liabilities

Bonds 210.5 218.9 320.9 330.3

Loans from financial 
institutions 20.0 21.0 88.4 93.9

Pension loans 73.6 72.8 104.6 99.1

Other loans 0.6 0.6 2.6 2.9

Finance lease liabilities 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.5

noncurrent liabilities, 
total 305.1 313.6 517.1 526.7

eUr mill.

2013
carrying 

value

2013  
Fair  

value

2012
carrying 

value

2012
 Fair 

value

current liabilities

Bonds 83,8 83,9 7,1 6,9

Loans from financial 
institutions 17,7 17,7 62,0 62,0

Overdraft facility used 1,1 1,1

Pension loans 21,0 21,0 37,0 37,0

Commercial papers 157,5 157,5 43,8 43,8

Developer contracting 
liabilities

Receivables sold to 
financing companies 1) 181,4 181,4 175,4 175,4

Liability in housing 
corporation loans 2) 91,3 91,3 77,5 77,5

Other loans 0,1 0,1 0,4 0,4

Finance lease liabilities 0,2 0,2 0,6 0,6

current liabilities, total 552,9 553,1 404,9 404,6
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BonDs

Interest 
rate, % currency

 nominal 
value,  

eUr mill.

Floating-rate bonds

2/2006–2016 1) 0.774 EUR 16.3

1/2007–2014 2) 0.802 EUR 28.5

1/2012–2014 5) 1.968 EUR 49.9

Fixed-rate bonds

1/2010–2015 3) 5.323 6) EUR 100.0

1/2011–2016 4) 5.300 6) EUR 100.0

Total   294.7

Terms of the bonds in brief:
1) Loan-period 28 September 2006–28 September 2016, interest payments 

annually at 28 December, 28 March, 28 June and 28 September in arrears. 
Interest rate is 3-month Euribor +0.48%. Amortisations à EUR 3,570,000 semi-
annually at 28 March and 28 September, starting at 28 March 2010. The loan is 
not secured. ISIN code SE0001826686. 

2) Loan period 26 March 2007–26 March 2014, interest payments annually at 26 
March, 26 June, 26 September and 26 December in arrears. Interest rate is 
3-month Euribor +0.51%. The loan is not secured. ISIN code FI0003024216.

3) Loan period 26 March 2010–26 March 2015, interest payments annually at 26 
March in arrears. The loan is not secured. ISIN code FI4000012067.

4) Loan-period 20 June 2011–20 June 2016, interest payments annually at 20 June 
in arrears. The loan is not secured. ISIN code FI4000026653.

5) Loan period 17 February 2012–18 August 2014, interest payments annually at 
17 February, 17 May, 17 August and 17 November in arrears. Interest rate is 
3-month Euribor +1.75%. The loan is not secured. ISIN code FI4000037874.

6) During the review period, YIT convened the holders of the fixed-rate bonds due 
2015 issued on 26 March 2010, and holders of the fixed-rate bonds due 2016 
issued on 20 June 2011, to noteholders’ meetings. YIT’s Board of Directors 
proposed that the noteholders’ meeting decide that the noteholders be 
compensated for the effects of the partial demerger by increasing the payable 
coupon interest by 0.868 percentage points to 5.691 per cent (bond due 2015) 
and the payable coupon interest by 0.817 percentage points to 5.567 per cent 
(bond due 2016). The noteholders’ meetings unanimously accepted the 
proposals of YIT’s Board of Directors.

FInance lease lIaBIlITIes
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Finance lease liabilities fall due in as follows:

Minimum lease payments

No later than 1 year 0.2 0.6

1–5 years 0.3 0.5

Later than 5 years  0.0

Total minimum lease payments 0.6 1.1

Present value of minimum lease payments

No later than 1 year 0.3 0.5

1–5 years 0.3 0.5

Later than 5 years  0.0

Total present value of minimum lease 
payments 0.6 1.1

eUr mill. 2013
restated 

2012

Future finance charges 0.1 0.0

Finance expenses charged to income statement 0.1 0.0

YIT Group’s main finance lease agreements are the agreements of 
cars, machinery and equipment both in production and offices.

27. Trade and other payables

eUr mill.

2013
carrying 

value

2012
carrying 

value

noncurrent liabilities   

Trade payables 25.3 11.1

Liabilities of derivative instruments 2.4 12.6

Other liabilities 7.3 8.9

Total noncurrent payables 35.0 32.6

current liabilities

Trade payables 139.2 343.4

Accrued expenses 75.2 210.3

Liabilities of derivative instruments 0.3 3.5

Accrued expenses in work in progress 82.2 171.6

Advances received 514.3 566.6

Other payables 73.5 152.3

Total current payables 884.7 1,447.8

accrUeD eXpenses
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Accrued employee-related liabilities 35.6 152.6

Interest expenses 9.0 10.2

Other accrued expenses 30.6 47.6

The carrying value of the non-interest bearing liabilities reflects nearly 
the fair value of them.

reconcIlIaTIon To The noTe 29 FInancIal asseTs 
anD lIaBIlITIes BY caTeGorY
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Non-current liabilities 35.0 32.6

Derivatives -2.4 -12.6

Accrued expenses -2.2 -2.8

Total 30.4 17.2

Current trade and other payables 884.7 1,447.8

Accrued expenses -75.2 -210.3

Derivatives -0.3 -3.5

Accrued expenses in work in progress -82.2 -171.6

Total 727.0 1,062.4

YIT Financial review 201364



28. Nominal values and fair values of derivative instruments
nomInal valUes
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Commodity derivatives 1)

Steel derivatives 1.9

Foreign exchange forward contracts 146.5 220.4

Interest rate forward contracts

Hedge accounting applied

Interest rate swaps 110.0 275.5

Hedge accounting not applied

Cancellable interest rate swaps 0.0 52.0

Interest rate swaps 178.0 148.0

Interest rate caps 50.0 104.1

Interest rate forward contracts, total 338.0 579.6

FaIr valUes

eUr mill.

2013
positive  

fair value 
(carrying 

value)

2013
negative  
fair value 
(carrying 

value)
2013

net value

2012
positive  

fair value
(carrying 

value)

2012
negative 
fair value
(carrying 

value)
2012

net value

Foreign exchange forward contracts

Hedge accounting applied

Hedge accounting not applied 1.3 0.0 1.3 0.0 -1.6 -1.6

Total 1.3 0.0 1.3 0.0 1.6 1.6

Interest rate derivatives

Hedge accounting applied -1.5 -1.5 -4.7 -4.7

Hedge accounting not applied -1.2 -1.2 -8.9 -8.9

Total 2.7 2.7 13.6 13.6

Commodity derivates

Hedge accounting not applied -0.9 -0.9

Total  0.9 0.9

All derivatives are hedges according to the Group’s financial risk 
management policy, but hedge accounting, as defined in IAS 39, is 
only applied to certain derivative contracts. Foreign exchange forward 
contracts are mainly designated as hedges of financial items and 
have been charged to P/L in financial income/expenses. Foreign 
exchange forward contracts’ maturity dates are mainly within 2014. 
The duration of Group’s interest bearing loans has been increased 
by interest rate derivatives. Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
with hedge accounting applied are recognised in the fair value reserve 

in equity and changes in the fair value of derivatives with hedge 
accounting not applied are recognised through profit or loss (Notes 
27 and 29). All the interest rate derivatives to which hedge account-
ing is applied are long-term agreements corresponding to the matu-
rity of the hedged liability.

A variety of interest rate derivatives are designated as hedges of 
sold receivables linked to floating Euribor interest rates. Changes in 
the fair value of these interest rate derivatives have been charged to 
P/L.
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29. Financial assets and liabilities by category
2013

eUr mill.

available for 
sale 

investments

loans and 
other 

receivables
held for 
trading

Derivatives/ 
hedge 

accounting
Finance 

liabilities
carrying 

value
Fair

 value note

valuation Fair value

measured at 
amortised 

cost Fair value Fair value

measured 
at 

amortised 
cost

noncurrent financial assets

Available for sale investments 1) 0.8 0.8 0.8 17

Receivables   

Trade receivables and 
other receivables 0.6 0.6 0.6 18

current financial assets

Receivables   

Loan receivables 8.8 8.8 8.8 21

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting not applied) 1.3 1.3 1.3 21

Trade and other receivables 244.4 244.4 244.4 21

Cash and cash equivalents  76.3    76.3 76.3 22

Total by valuation group 0.8 330.1 1.3 332.4 332.4  

 

noncurrent financial liabilities  

Borrowings 305.1 305.1 313.6 26

Other liabilities  

Trade payables and other liabilities 30.1 30.1 30.1 27

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting applied) 1.2 1.2 1.2 27, 28

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting not applied) 1.2 1.2 1.2 27, 28

current financial liabilities  

Borrowings 552.9 552.9 553.1 26

Trade payables and other liabilities  

Trade payables and other liabilities 727.0 727.0 727.0 27

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting applied) 0.3 0.3 0.3 27, 28

Total by valuation group 1.2 1.5 1,615.4 1,618.1 1,626.8  

1) Quoted shares valued at fair value EUR 0.1 million and unquoted shares valued at cost less impairments EUR 0.7 million.
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2012

eUr mill.

available for 
sale 

investments

loans and 
other 

receivables
held for 
trading

Derivatives/ 
hedge 

accounting
Finance 

liabilities
carrying 

value
Fair

 value note

valuation Fair value

measured at 
amortised 

cost Fair value Fair value

measured 
at 

amortised 
cost

noncurrent financial assets

Available for sale investments 1)) 3.4 3.4 3.4 17

Receivables   

Trade receivables and other 
receivables 4.4 4.4 4.4 18

current financial assets

Receivables

Loan receivables 13.9 13.9 13.9 21

Trade receivables and other 
receivables 941.9 941.9 941.9 21

Cash and cash equivalents  175.7 175.7 175.7 22

Total by valuation group 3.4 1,135.9 1,139.3 1,139.3  

noncurrent financial liabilities

Borrowings 517.1 517.1 526.7 26

Other liabilities  

Trade payables and other liabilities 17.2 17.2 17.2 27

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting applied) 3.7 3.7 3.7 27, 28

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting not applied) 8.9 8.9 8.9 27, 28

current financial liabilities  

Borrowings 404.9 404.9 404.6 26

Trade payables and other liabilities  

Trade payables and other liabilities 1,062.4 1,062.4 1,062.4 27

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting applied) 1.0 1.0 1.0 27, 28

Derivatives 
(hedge accounting not applied)  2.5   2.5 2.5 27, 28

Total by valuation group 11.4 4.7 2,001.5 2,017.5 2,026.9  

1) Quoted shares valued at fair value EUR 2.1 million and unquoted shares valued at cost less impairments EUR 1.3 million.
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30. Financial risk management
YIT Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks in its business 
operations. Main risks are liquidity risk, credit risk and market risks 
including foreign exchange and interest rate risk. The objective of the 
Group’s financial risk management is to minimise the uncertainty 
which the changes in financial markets cause to the Group’s financial 
performance.

The Board of Directors has approved a treasury policy for the 
Group. The Group Treasury is responsible for the practical implemen-
tation of the policy together with the business units. In the operating 
units and subsidiaries the financial personnel and operative manage-
ment are responsible for the matters related to finance. Responsi-
bilities between the Group Treasury and operating units are defined 
in the Group’s treasury policy. Operating units are responsible for 
providing the Group Treasury with timely and accurate information 
on financial position, cash flows and foreign exchange position in 
order to ensure the Group’s efficient cash and liquidity management, 
funding and risk management. In addition to the above, the Group’s 
treasury policy defines the principles and methods for financial risk 
management, cash management and specific treasury-related areas 
e.g. commercial guarantees, relationships with financiers and cus-
tomer financing.

InTeresT raTe rIsk
The Group has interest-bearing receivables related to cash and cash 
equivalents. Otherwise its revenues and operating cash flows are 
mostly independent of changes in market interest rates

Interest rate risk arises mainly from the Group’s current and non-
current loans, receivables sold to banks and financial institutions and 
the related interest rate derivatives. In addition, the Group has interest-
bearing receivables from banks. Loans issued at floating interest rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, which is hedged 
using interest rate swaps. To manage the interest rate risk, the Board 
o f  
Directors has defined a duration target of two years for loans and for 
the related interest rate derivative hedges. The duration may be devi-
ated from by +/- 1.5 years at the decision of Vice President, Group 
Treasurer. In order to meet the duration target, part of the loans at 
floating rates are converted to fixed rate using interest rate swaps. 
At the end of 2013 the duration of loans including the derivatives was 
1.33 years (1.84 years).

The cash flow risk related to floating-rate loans is hedged by using 
interest rate swaps. At the end of 2013, the nominal amounts of the 
loans hedged were EUR 25 million (EUR 35 million) and EUR 85 
million (EUR 100 million) and their reference interest rates were 
1-month Stibor and 3-month Euribor, respectively. The hedged cash 
flows will be realised within five years. As a rule, the Group applies 
hedge accounting as set out in IAS 39 to hedge its cash flow interest 
rate risk (Notes 28–29). The hedges are effective and according to 
accounting policies changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps 
are recognised in the fair value reserve in equity.

In addition to non-current loans, the duration target guides the 
management of the cash flow interest rate risk related to receivables 
sold to banks and financial institutions. Hedging decisions for this 
exposure are made by the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Group. 
At the end of 2013, the Group used interest rate derivatives to hedge 
the cash flow risk related to sold receivables. The nominal value of 
the hedged items was EUR 181 million and their reference interest 
rate was one-month Euribor. Hedge accounting as set out in IAS 39 
is not applied and the fair value changes are recognised as financial 
income and expenses in the income statement in accordance with 
accounting policies (Note 11).

Loans issued at fixed interest rates comprised approximately 62% 
(approximately 75%) of the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. 
The weighted average effective interest rate of the loans at fixed rate 
was 3.511% (3.348%). The weighted average effective interest rate 
of the loans at floating rates was 1.444% (2.254%). The weighted 

average effective interest rate of the portfolio as a whole was 2.730% 
(3.074%). These figures include the effect of derivative instruments. 
Interest rate derivatives increase the weighted average effective inter-
est rate of the loan portfolio as a whole by 0.29 (increase by 0.58) 
percentage points.

In addition to the duration target, the management monitors the 
effect of the possible change in interest rate level on the Group’s 
financial result on monthly basis (effect of one percentage point 
change in interest rate level on yearly net interest expenses). The 
effect on yearly net interest expenses would have been EUR 2.0 
million (EUR 0.7 million) net of tax at the balance sheet date. One 
percentage point change in interest rates has been used for each 
currency and the effect of analysis has varied from EUR 1.9 million to 
EUR 3.1 million (EUR 0.70–1.83 million). In addition, the effect of fair 
valuation of interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is 
not applied would have been EUR 4.5 million (EUR 5.5 million) net of 
tax on the profit for the period when interest rates rise one percentage 
point. If interest would have decreased to 0%, the effect would have 
been EUR -2.5 million net of tax on the profit for the period.

The calculation is based on the maturities of the Group’s interest-
bearing net debt depending on the reference interest rate:

reprIsInG scheDUle oF The InTeresT BearInG neT 
DeBT
eUr mill. 2013 2012

< 1 month -111.7 65.4

1–3 months -170.6 -100.8

3–12 months -101.7 -130.6

1–5 years -429.1 -583.8

> 5 years 0.0 -9.0

 813.1 758.8

The figures in the table are nominal values. Off-balance sheet receiv-
ables sold to financial institutions amounting to EUR 30.4 million (EUR 
90.1 million) are included in these figures.

In addition to interest-bearing net debt, the foreign exchange 
forward contracts associated with the intra-Group loans expose the 
Group’s result to interest rate risk. The Group’s external loans are 
mainly denominated in euros, but the subsidiaries are financed in their 
local currency. The parent company is exposed to the interest rate 
risk of the different local currencies in the Group when it hedges the 
foreign exchange risk arising from the foreign currency denominated 
loans granted to subsidiaries using foreign exchange forward con-
tracts. The most significant currency of the intra-Group loans is the 
Russian rouble. As the parent company hedges the receivables 
denominated in roubles, the parent company has to pay the interest 
rate difference between the rouble and the euro.

One percentage point change in the interest rate difference 
between euro and Russian rouble would have had an impact of EUR 
0.78 million (EUR 0.64 million) on the profit of the period net of tax. 
The sensitivity analysis is based on the foreign exchange forward 
contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date. 

A change of one percentage point in interest rates at the balance 
sheet date would have affected the consolidated balance sheet by 
EUR 0.3 million (EUR 1.9 million) net of tax. The effect would have 
changed the fair values of the interest rate derivatives in hedge 
accounting, in the fair value reserve in equity.

creDIT anD coUnTerparTY rIsk
The Group’s credit risk is related to clients with open balances or with 
long term agreements and to the counterparties to cash and cash 
equivalents and derivative agreements. The Group Treasury is respon-
sible for the counterparty risk of the derivative instruments and cash 
and cash equivalents. Operating units are responsible for the credit 
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risk related to operating items, such as trade receivables. Customers 
and the nature of the agreements differ between the Group’s seg-
ments. Customer-specific credit risk management is carried out in 
the segments’ finance departments in cooperation with the operating 
units.

The counterparties of financial instruments are chosen based on 
the management’s estimate of their reliability. The Board of Directors 
accepts the main banks used by the Group and counterparties to 
the current investments and derivative instruments and their limits. 
According to the treasury policy, short-term investments related to 
liquidity management are made. No impairment has been recognised 
on the derivative instruments or the cash and cash equivalents in the 
period. The management does not expect any credit losses from 
counterparties to financing assets or derivative instruments.

The Group manages credit risk related to operating items by hold-
ing the ownership of the projects, like apartments and office buildings, 
until payment is received; taking advance payments; accelerated 
payment programmes of projects; payment guarantees; site-specific 
mortgages; credit risk insurance policies; and careful examination of 
clients’ background information. In addition, selling of receivables to 
financial institutions is used in the management of the credit risk of 
operations. The term of payment for invoices is mainly 14 to 30 days. 
The background of the new customers is examined thoroughly by 
for example acquiring credit information. The Group does not have 
any significant concentrations of credit risk as the clientele is wide-
spread and geographically divided into the countries in which the 
Group operates. Trade receivables related to sales of office buildings 
which are paid only when the ownership is transferred, and the related 
risk of insolvency of the counterparty, are typically transferred to banks 
and financial institutions. These transfers meet the conditions set out 
in IAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets.

The credit losses and the provision for impairment of receivables 
were EUR 0.6 million. There were no significant credit losses or pro-
visions for impairment of receivables in 2013. The operating units are 
not expecting any unusual credit risk arising from trade receivables 
or construction contracts.

As a result of the partial demerger registered on 30 June 2013, 
YIT Corporation bears secondary liability for certain Group and bank 
guarantees transferred to Caverion Corporation if Caverion cannot 
cope with these obligations.

analYsIs oF TraDe receIvaBles 31 DecemBer 2013

eUr mill.
carrying 

value Impaired Gross

Not past due 1) 88.5 0.0 88.5

1–90 days 13.5 -0.1 13.6

91–180 days 3.9 0.0 3.9

181–360 days 0.9 -0.1 1.0

Over 360 days 8.6 -1.3 9.9

Total 115.4 1.5 116.9

analYsIs oF TraDe receIvaBles 31 DecemBer 2012

conTInUInG operaTIons

eUr mill.
carrying 

value Impaired Gross

Not past due 1) 105.4  105.4

1–90 days 11.1  11.1

91–180 days 11.7 -0.1 11.8

181–360 days 0.6 -0.1 0.7

Over 360 days 1.8 -0.4 2.2

Total 130.6 0.7 131.2

DIsconTInUeD operaTIons

eUr mill.
carrying 

value Impaired Gross

Not past due 1) 308.8 -4.1 312.8

1–90 days 94.9 -2.4 97.3

91–180 days 16.6 -1.1 17.8

181–360 days 9.2 -6.5 15.7

Over 360 days 11.6 -27.2 38.8

Total 441.1 41.4 482.5

conTInUInG anD DIsconTInUeD operaTIons, ToTal

eUr mill.
carrying 

value Impaired Gross

Not past due 1) 414.2 -4.1 418.2

1–90 days 106.0 -2.4 108.4

91–180 days 28.3 -1.3 29.5

181–360 days 9.9 -6.6 16.5

Over 360 days 13.4 -27.7 41.1

Total 571.7 42.0 613.7

1) There are no material trade receivables that would be otherwise past due but 
whose terms have been renegotiated. For additional information on trade 
receivables, please see notes 18 and 21.
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seToFF arranGemenTs For FInancIal InsTrUmenTs
amounts related to assets 
that have not been set off 

on the balance sheet

a) assets
Gross amount of  

the asset item
amount set off on 
the balance sheet

amount shown on 
the balance sheet

Financial 
instruments

cash 
collateral net

31 December 2013

Exchange rate derivatives 1.5 -0.2 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.3

Interest rate derivatives 0.3 -0.3 0.0 0.0

Trade receivables 115.5 -0.1 115.4 0.0 0.0 115.4

31 December 2012

Exchange rate derivatives 0.4 -0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Interest rate derivatives 0.4 -0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Trade receivables 572.0 -0.3 571.7 0.0 0.0 571.7

amounts related to assets 
that have not been set off 

on the balance sheet

b) liabilities
Gross amount of  

the asset item
amount set off on 
the balance sheet

amount shown on 
the balance sheet

Financial 
instruments

cash 
collateral net

31 December 2013

Exchange rate derivatives 0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Interest rate derivatives 2.7 -0.3 2.4 2.4

Trade payables 164.6 -0.1 164.5 0.0 0.0 164.5

31 December 2012

Exchange rate derivatives 2.0 -0.4 1.6 0.0 0.0 1.6

Interest rate derivatives 14.0 -0.4 13.6 0.0 0.0 13.6

Trade payables 354.8 -0.3 354.5 0.0 0.0 354.5

A set-off arrangement that can be implemented is related to deriva-
tive assets and liabilities. If such a choice is not made, financial assets 
and liabilities are settled in gross amounts, but both parties of a 
general set-off arrangement are entitled to the net settlement of all 
such monetary amounts if the other party neglects to fulfil its obliga-
tions. 

One company included in the Group had a trade receivable and 
trade payable from the same counterparty with which the company 
had a contractual set-off right. These trade receivables and trade 
payables were set off on the balance sheet. 

In addition, the Group has a total of approximately EUR 37.6 mil-
lion in bank loan agreements where the bank has the right to set off 
its receivables against the Group’s assets with regard to matured 
receivables. There were no such matured liabilities at the balance 
sheet date or during the year.

lIQUIDITY rIsk
The management continuously evaluates and monitors the amount 
of funding required by the Group’s business activities to ensure 
adequate liquid funds to finance its operations, repay its loans at 
maturity and pay annual dividends. The funding requirements are 
evaluated based on a financial budget prepared every six months, a 
monthly financial forecast and short-term, timely cash planning. The 
Group Treasury is responsible for the adequacy of funding, the avail-
ability of different sources of funding and the controlled maturity 
profile of external loans. According to financing policies, in order to 
minimise the refinancing risk, only 1/4 of the non-current loans can 
mature over one calendar year. When the amount of maturing loans 
is calculated, commercial papers, receivables sold to banks or hous-
ing company loans are not taken into account.

The Group uses cash and cash equivalents, Group accounts with 
overdraft facilities, revolving credit facilities, commercial paper pro-
grammes and bond programmes to manage the liquidity risk. In 2013, 

one committed credit facility totalling EUR 50 million was concluded. 
At the balance sheet date, YIT had in total EUR 330 million of com-
mitted, undrawn credit facilities and EUR 65.1 million of overdraft 
facilities available. Of the credit facilities, EUR 30 million are valid until 
December 2014, EUR 250 million until December 2015 and EUR 50 
million until October 2016. In addition to these, YIT concluded a 
non-current loan agreement in Russian roubles in December 2013, 
amounting to approximately EUR 35.3 million, which was drawn in 
January 2014. After the ended financial period, YIT has additionally 
concluded a loan agreement to secure refinancing in 2014. The 
amount that can be drawn on the basis of the loan agreement is 
approximately EUR 62 million, and it allows covering about half of the 
refinancing for non-current loans during the current year. The cash 
management and the funding of the Group is centralised to the Group 
Treasury. As the cash management is centralised to the Group Treas-
ury, the use of liquid funds can be optimised between the different 
units of the Group. At the balance sheet date the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents amounted to EUR 76.3 million (EUR 175.7 million).

The following table describes the contractual maturities of the 
financial liabilities. The amounts are undiscounted. The interest flows 
of floating-rate loans and derivative instruments are based on interest 
rates prevailing on 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012). Cash 
flows of foreign currency denominated loans are translated into euros 
at the foreign currency rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. 
Cash flows of foreign currency forward contracts are translated into 
euros at forward rates.
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conTracTUal maTUrITY analYsIs oF FInancIal lIaBIlITIes anD InTeresT paYmenTs aT 31 DecemBer 2013
eUr mill. 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019– Total note

Bonds 94.8 116.1 110.8 0.0 321.7 26, 29

Loans from financial institutions 18.3 5.3 5.3 5.2 5.1 0.0 39.2 26, 29

Pension loans 23.1 22.5 22.0 21.6 9.1 1.8 100.1 26, 29

Receivables sold to banks/financial institutions 1) 155.4 29.5 184.9 26, 29

Finance lease liabilities 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.6 26, 29

Other financial liabilities 2) 92.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 92.7 26, 29

Commercial papers 158.0 158.0 26, 29

Trade and other payables 726.8 726.8 27, 29

Interest rate derivatives   

Hedge accounting applied 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 27, 28, 29

Hedge accounting not applied 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.6 0.2 0.0 3.5 27, 28, 29

Foreign currency derivatives   

cash outflow -145.3 -0.1 145.4 27, 28, 29

cash inflow 146.6 0.1 146.7 27, 28, 29

conTracTUal maTUrITY analYsIs oF FInancIal lIaBIlITIes anD InTeresT paYmenTs aT 31 DecemBer 2012
eUr mill. 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018– Total note

Bonds 18.2 117.7 116.8 111.9   364.6 26, 29

Loans from financial institutions 64.4 14.9 17.5 17.2 16.8 28.5 159.3 26, 29

Pension loans 40.7 25.8 25.2 24.5 23.9 13.1 153.2 26, 29

Receivables sold to banks/financial institutions 1) 165.4 10.8 176.3 26, 29

Finance lease liabilities 0.6 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 1.1 26, 29

Other financial liabilities 2) 78.0 2.9 0.8 1.5 0.0 0.0 83.3 26, 29

Commercial papers 44.3 44.3 26, 29

Trade and other payables 1,062.4 1,062.4 27, 29

Interest rate derivatives   

Hedge accounting applied 4.4 1.9 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 6.6 27, 28, 29

Hedge accounting not applied 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.0 0.0 11.1 27, 28, 29

Foreign currency derivatives   

cash outflow -162.1 -8.2 -0.1 170.4 27, 28, 29

cash inflow 160.7 8.0 0.1 168.8 27, 28, 29

1) Receivables sold to banks and financial institutions are financial liabilities connected with developer-contracted housing projects that are set off by payments made by the 
buyers of the residential units.

2) Includes the shares in the housing corporation loans of unsold completed residential projects, whose duration depends on the turnover of residential sales.

would have had an impact of EUR 18.0 million (EUR 22.4 million) on 
translation differences under consolidated shareholders’ equity net 
of tax.

ForeIGn cUrrencY DenomInaTeD neT InvesTmenTs 
aT The Balance sheeT DaTe
eUr mill. 2013 2012 

SEK 53.6

NOK 44.5

DKK 4.1

RUB 449.8 494.1

LTL 67.8 19.6

LVL 27.5

CZK 23.2 -2.7

According to the Group’s treasury policy, the business units and the 
subsidiaries are responsible for identifying the foreign exchange risk 
related to their foreign currency denominated cash flows and report-
ing it to the Group Treasury. All committed positions must be hedged. 
Hedging is performed by intra-group transactions with the Group 
Treasury as the counterparty. The Group Treasury hedges the Group 

ForeIGn eXchanGe rIsk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange 
risks arising from the currencies of the countries in which it operates. 
The risk arises mainly from the assets and liabilities on the balance 
sheet and net investments in foreign operations. In addition, com-
mercial contracts of the subsidiaries cause foreign exchange risk. 
However, the contracts are mainly made in the units’ own local cur-
rencies.

The objective of managing foreign exchange risk at YIT is to reduce 
the uncertainty caused by foreign exchange rate movements on profit 
through cash flows and the valuation of commercial receivables and 
liabilities. 

By decision of the Board of Directors, the net investments in foreign 
operations are not hedged from the changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Part of the intra-group loans given to Russian subsidiaries is 
considered to form part of net investments. These loans are included 
in net investments in the table below.

The change in foreign exchange rates decreased the value of the 
Group’s net investments in equity by EUR 50.3 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2013 compared to financial statements as at 31 December 2012. 
The weakening of the Russian rouble had a decreasing effect on the 
value of net investments. An increase or decrease of 5 percentage 
points in the exchange rate between the euro and these currencies 
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net position and takes care of all external hedging transactions. The 
Group does not apply hedge accounting as set out in IAS 39 to hedge 
its foreign exchange risk. Accordingly, the fair value changes in 
derivative instruments are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement according to the accounting policies. With regard to the 
continuing operations in 2013, the most significant currency related 
to commercial agreements and their hedges was the Russian rouble. 
If the euro had strengthened by 5% compared to the Russian rouble 
at the balance sheet date, the fair valuation of the foreign exchange 
forward contracts would have caused a foreign exchange loss of 
EUR 0.9 million net of tax.

Loans taken by the parent company are mainly denominated in 
euro, but the intra-Group loans are given in the local currency of each 
subsidiary. The parent company hedges this foreign exchange risk 
by using foreign exchange forward contracts and currency options, 
as necessary. The most significant currency used in intra-Group loans 
is the Russian rouble. In 2013, YIT concluded a non-current rouble-
denominated bank loan agreement amounting to approximately EUR 
35.3 million.

In addition to the foreign exchange differences due to derivatives 
not in hedge accounting, the strengthening or weakening of the euro 
would not have had a material impact on the result of the Group if 
the translation difference in consolidation is not considered. The 
sensitivity analysis takes into consideration the foreign exchange 
derivative contracts made for hedging both the internal and external 
loans and receivables which offset the effect of changes in foreign 
exchange rates.

GroUp’s eXTernal loans

external loans

adjusted by 
derivative 
contracts

eUr mill. 2013 2012 2013 2012

EUR 862.8 838.0 713.0 746.7

RUB 0.6 2.1 97.6 82.3

SEK 24.9 30.8 0.0 17.5

DKK 1.1 0.0 1.1

NOK 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

LTL 52.1 52.1

GBP 49.9

CZK 25.5 22.2

Total 888.3 921.9 888.3 921.9

The division of trade receivables and payables by currencies corre-
sponds to the local currencies of the charging and the charged 
companies. Accordingly, no open foreign exchange risk is included.

capITal rIsk manaGemenT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain the 
optimal strategic capital structure. Capital risk management of the 
Group aims to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
to increase the shareholder value in the long term and secure its 
ability to pay dividends.

In YIT’s business operations capital is particularly tied up in plot 
reserves, their development and ongoing construction production. 
In business where investments are small, such as infrastructure con-
struction, the objective is effective turnover of net working capital. In 
the more capital-intensive business operations, such as residential 
development projects and real estate development projects, capital 
investments must be adjusted according to the market conditions 
by decreasing or increasing the number of plot investments and 
residential start-ups. The amount and structure of capital is also 

controlled by adjusting the amount of dividend, acquiring the com-
pany’s own shares, issuing new shares or selling assets in order to 
reduce debt.

YIT monitors its capital structure on the basis of the equity ratio. 
The strategic goal for YIT’s equity ratio set by the Board of Directors 
is 40% (POC). 

The Group’s equity ratio has been the following:

eUr mill. (poc) 2013 2012

Equity 774.9 821.8

Balance sheet total 2,211.3 2,076.9

./. Advances received (Note 27) -161.9 -168.4

Capital 2,049.4 1,908.5

Equity ratio % 37.8% 43.1%

YIT Corporation’s bank loan and credit facility agreements include a 
financial covenant linked to YIT’s equity ratio. The financial covenant 
requires an equity ratio higher than 25% and is based on the IFRS 
balance sheet. The covenant has not been breached during the 
financial period, and the equity ratio according to IFRS at the balance 
sheet date was 34.3%.

FaIr valUe esTImaTIon
Group measures the fair value measurement hierarchy as follows:
Level 1: The fair values of financial instruments are based on 

quoted prices on active markets. A market may be con-
sidered active when quoted prices are available on a regu-
lar basis and the prices represent the instrument’s actual 
value in liquid trading.

Level 2: The financial instruments are not traded on active and 
liquid markets. The value of the financial instrument can 
be determined on the basis of market value and possibly 
a partially derived determination of value. If the factors 
influencing the instrument’s fair value are nevertheless 
available and verifiable, the instrument belongs to level 2.

Level 3: The valuation of the financial instrument is not based on 
verifiable market information. Nor are other factors that 
affect the instrument’s fair value available or verifiable.

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value and their levels.
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asseTs 2013
eUr mill. level 1 level 2

Available-for-sale investments 0.1  

Derivatives (hedge accounting not applied) 1.8

Total assets 0.1 1.8

lIaBIlITIes 2013
eUr mill. level 1 level 2

Derivatives (hedge accounting not applied)  1.7

Derivatives (hedge accounting applied) 1.5

Total liabilities  3.2

asseTs 2012
eUr mill. level 1 level 2

Available-for-sale investments 2.1  

Derivatives (hedge accounting not applied)

Total assets 2.1  

lIaBIlITIes 2012
eUr mill. level 1 level 2

Derivatives (hedge accounting not applied)  11.4

Derivatives (hedge accounting applied) 4.7

Total liabilities  16.1

In the past financial year, there were no transfers between level 1 and 
level 2. At the balance sheet date, the Group had no assets catego-
rised at level 3.

31. Other lease agreements
YIT GroUp as lessee
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases:

eUr mill. 2013 2012

No later than 1 year 23.8 79.0

1–5 years 82.2 182.8

Later than 5 years 58.9 93.1

Total 165.0 355.0

The minimum lease payments for the comparison period include 
contingent assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services 
business, transferred to Caverion Corporation in the partial demerger 
at 30 June 2013.

The lease payments of non-cancellable operating leases charged 
to the income statement in 2013 amounted to EUR 24.4 million (EUR 
22.8 million in 2012).

The YIT group has leased the office facilities in use. The operating 
lease agreements of office facilities have a period of validity of up to 
15 years. Most of the agreements include the possibility of continuing 
after the initial expiry date. The index, renewal and other terms of the 
lease agreements of office facilities are dissimilar to each other. Oper-
ating leases also include the liabilities of operating lease agreements 
of employee cars, which have the average duration of four years. 

32.  Commitments and contingent 
liabilities

eUr mill. 2013 2012

Collateral given for own liabilities   

Corporate mortgages 29.3

Pledged assets 1) 0.0

Guarantees on behalf of associated companies 
and joint ventures 6.8 7.0

Other commitments

Rental guarantees for clients 1.6 2.1

Other contingent liabilities 1.3

Investment commitments

Repurchase commitments 319.0 349.3

The commitments and contingent liabilities for the comparison period 
include contingent assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Ser-
vices business, transferred to Caverion Corporation in the partial 
demerger at 30 June 2013.

As a result of the partial demerger registered at 30 June 2013, YIT 
Corporation has secondary liability for guarantees transferred to 
Caverion Corporation, with a maximum total amount of EUR 140.1 
million at 31 December 2013.

YIT Corporation has guaranteed obligations of its subsidiaries. At 
31 December 2013, the total amount of these guarantees was EUR 
956.7 million (1,537.3 million).

The Group is involved in legal proceedings in preparation and 
pending that are connected to ordinary operations and whose out-
comes are difficult to predict. It is the understanding of the Group 
that the legal proceedings do not have a significant effect on the 
Group’s result.
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33. Subsidiaries
Excluding the real estate companies presented in inventories

company name Domicile holding, %

shares in subsidiaries, owned by the parent company

YIT Construction Ltd Helsinki 100.00

YIT Kalusto Oy Urjala 100.00

YIT Information Services Oy Helsinki 100.00

YIT IT East Oy Helsinki 100.00

LLC YIT Information Systems St. Petersburg 100.00

Perusyhtymä Oy Helsinki 100.00

shares in subsidiaries, owned by YIT construction ltd

YIT Concept Projektinjohtopalvelut Oy Helsinki 100.00

AS YIT Ehitus Tallinn 100.00

AS Koidu Kinnisvara Tallinn 100.00

SIA YIT Celtnieciba Riga 100.00

YIT Invest Export Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Moskovia Moscow 100.00

LLC YIT-Service Moscow 100.00

CJSC YIT Stroi Moskova 100.00

YIT Project Invest Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Lentek St. Petersburg 100.00

LLC YIT Service St. Petersburg 100.00

Urepol Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Don Rostov 100.00

LLC SP YIT Don Rostov 100.00

LLC Maintenance Company "Vesta" Rostov 100.00

YIT Polska Sp zo.o Krakow 100.00

AB YIT Kausta Kaunas 97.86

UAB YIT Kausta Bustas Vilnius 100.00

YIT Salym Development Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Saint-Petersburg St. Petersburg 100.00

LLC Gorelovo Infra St. Petersburg 100.00

Tortum Oy Ab Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Uralstroi Yekateringburg 99.94

CJSC YIT Comfort Yekateringburg 100.00

LLC Olymp Service Yekateringburg 100.00

Finn-Stroi Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT CityStroi Moscow 74.99

LLC Hetber Moscow 100.00

LLC Emerkom-Spetstroi Moscow 100.00

CJSC TPK Strojmaterialy Moscow 100.00

YIT Jupiter Oy Helsinki 100.00

YIT Mars Oy Helsinki 100.00

YIT Saturnus Oy Helsinki 100.00

YIT Sirius Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT VDSK Moscow 90.00

YIT Uranus Oy Helsinki 100.00

CJSC YIT Properties Moscow 100.00

YIT Neptunus Oy Helsinki 100.00

LLC YIT Kazan Kazan 100.00

LLC YIT Service Kazan Kazan 100.00

YIT Stavo s.r.o 1) Prague 100.00

company name Domicile holding, %

YIT Reding a.s. 1) Bratislava 100.00

Gala Residence s.r.o. Bratislava 100.00

1) YIT Group’s share in YIT Stavo s.r.o and YIT Reding a.s. is 100% in IFRS 
accounting, because the minority share of YIT Stavo 15% and YIT Reding 30% 
are assessed to be a share based payment to the management. 

34. Related party transactions
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Sales of goods and services 74.9 70.9

Purchases of goods and services 3.8 3.8

Trade and other receivables 0.0 0.4

Trade and other payables 3.0 0.6

Goods and services to associated companies are sold on the basis 
of price lists in force with non-related parties.

keY manaGemenT compensaTIon 1)

eUr mill. 2013 2012

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3.6 2.7

Termination benefits 4.3 2.7

Share-based incentive plan 2) 1.0 0.5

1) President and CEO, Deputy to President and CEO and Management Board
2) The total value of transferred shares, cash bonus and related taxes

pensIon, reTIremenT aGe anD TermInaTIon 
compensaTIon
The contractual retirement age of the President and CEO and the 
Executive Vice President and deputy to the CEO has been set at 62. 
In other respects, the statutory retirement ages apply to the members 
of the Management Board. The contractual pension of the CEO and 
his deputy amounts to 60% of salary accounted according to Finnish 
employment pension law. The contractual period of notice is three, 
six or twelve months. If the company terminates the contract, the 
CEO and his deputy shall also be paid separate compensation 
amounting to 12 months’ salary.
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salarIes anD Fees
eUr 2013 2012

President and CEO 858,684 750,276

Deputy to President and CEO 539,965 373,896

Board of Directors

Henrik Ehrnrooth 94,600 94,050

Eino Halonen 1)  11,700

Reino Hanhinen 77,050 75,950

Antti Herlin 2) 13,900 54,500

Kim Gran 57,800 51,750

Satu Huber 58,350 55,600

Michael Rosenlew 3) 32,750 60,000

Erkki Järvinen 4) 46,400

Ari Lehtoranta 5) 16,400

Board of Directors, total 397,250 403,550

1) Eino Halonen was a member of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and 
the Nomination and Rewards Committee until 13 March 2012.

2) Antti Herlin was a Board member until 15 March 2013.
3) Michael Rosenlew was a member of the Board of Directors, the Working 

Committee and the Audit Committee until 30 June 2013.
4) Erkki Järvinen has been a member of the Board of Directors and the Audit 

Committee as of 15 March 2013.
5) Ari Lehtoranta was a Board member 15 March – 30 June 2013.

loans To relaTeD parTIes
There are no loans to related parties in the end of financial year.

35. Discontinued operations
On 17 June 2013, the General Meeting approved the demerger plan 
concerning the partial demerger of YIT and decided on the demerger 
in accordance with the demerger plan. YIT demerged through a 
partial demerger so that the assets and liabilities related to its Build-
ing Services and Industrial Services businesses were transferred to 
Caverion Corporation, the new public limited company established 
in the demerger. The assets and liabilities of the Construction Services 
business, including Construction Services Finland and International 
Construction Services, remained with YIT. The purpose of the 
demerger was to implement the separation of YIT Group’s Building 
Services and Construction Services businesses into legally independ-
ent Groups that have separate parent companies. 

The implementation of the partial demerger was registered with 
the Finnish Trade Register on 30 June 2013. YIT Corporation’s share-
holders have received as demerger consideration one (1) share in 
Caverion for each share owned in YIT. No demerger consideration 
was distributed to any treasury shares held by YIT. The number of 
shares given as demerger consideration was 125,596,092. The 
implementation of the demerger did not affect the listing of YIT shares 
on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki.

The original acquisition cost of YIT Corporation shares in Finnish 
taxation is divided between YIT and Caverion shares based on the 
ratio of net assets. In dividing YIT’s net assets between YIT and 
Caverion in the partial demerger, 77.37% remained with YIT and 
22.63% was transferred to Caverion.

The profit of the discontinued operations and profit recognised 
from valuation of assets held for sale are as follows:

consolIDaTeD Income sTaTemenT,  
DIsconTInUeD operaTIons
eUr mill. 2013 2012

revenue 1,260.6 2,717.0

Other operating income 4.5 3.6

Change in inventories of finished goods and in 
work in progress 7.8 -0.6

Production for own use 0.5 0.3

Materials and supplies -332.1 -836.6

External services -207.1 -415.9

Personnel expenses -544.6 -1,113.5

Other operating expenses -166.9 -268.9

Share of results in associated companies 0.0 0.0

Depreciation and value adjustments -10.2 -24.3

   

operating profit 12.4 61.1

Financial income 4.9 0.9

Exchange rate differences (net) -0.9 -0.3

Financial expenses -5.6 -7.6

Financial income and expenses -1.6 -7.0

profit before taxes 10.8 54.1

Income taxes -3.0 -16.6

   

net profit for the financial year transferred 
to caverion 7.8 37.5

Recognised profit from asset valuation of 
discontinued operations 287.3

Translation differences transferred to Caverion 5.8

Demerger costs -18.0

Taxes related to demerger costs 4.5

profit for the review period, discontinued 
operations 287.5 37.5

attributable to

Equity holders of the company 287.5 37.4

Non-controlling interests 0.0 0.1

Earnings/share, EUR 2.29 0.30

Earnings/share, EUR, diluted 2.29 0.30
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sTaTemenT oF comprehensIve Income, 
DIsconTInUeD operaTIons
eUr mill. 2013 2012

Profit for the financial year 287.5 37.5

Items that may be subsequently recognised 
through profit or loss

Defined benefit pension, remeasurement due 
to IAS 19 change 15.3

– Deferred tax -4.2

Cash flow hedging -0.1

– Deferred tax 0.0

Change in fair value of available-for-sale 
assets -0.4

– Deferred tax 0.1

Change in translation differences 3.9

Other comprehensive income, total 14.5

Total comprehensive income 287.5 52.0

Attributable to

Equity holders of the company 287.5 51.9

Non-controlling interests 0.1

 
neT asseT TransFerreD In The DemerGer

eUr mill.
30 June 

2013

Tangible assets 29.9

Goodwill 335.7

Other intangible assets 45.7

Investments in associated companies 0.1

Available-for-sale financial assets 2.3

Receivables 200.4

Deferred tax receivables 3.8

Total noncurrent assets 617.9

Inventories 42.4

Trade and other receivables 1,055.1

Tax receivables 18.6

Cash and cash equivalents 43.8

Total current assets 1,159.9

Total assets 1,777.8

Deferred tax liabilities 68.0

Pension obligations 45.5

Provisions 7.1

Borrowings 261.5

Other liabilities 0.2

Total noncurrent liabilities 382.3

Trade and other liabilities 798.2

Income tax liabilities 7.6

Provisions 19.6

Borrowings 342.5

Total current liabilities 1,167.9

Total liabilities 1,550.1

net assets transferred in the demerger 227.7

Fair value of Caverion Corporation 514.9

Measurement of fair value 287.3

The fair value of caverion was determined as follows:

Number of shares at 1 July 2013, thousands 125,596

Weighted average value of shares at 1 July 2013 4.10

Fair value of Caverion Corporation 514.9
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Parent Company 
Income statement, 
FAS

Parent Company 
Balance sheet, 
FAS 

eUr million note 2013 2012

revenue 0.0 0.0

Other operating income 2 119.8 24.2

Personnel expenses 3 -12.1 -11.8

Depreciation and value adjustments 4 -1.7 -1.8

Other operating expenses -41.3 -34.5

 -55.0 -48.1

operaTInG proFIT/loss 64.8 24.0

Financial income and expenses 5 -17.6 208.4

   

proFIT BeFore 
eXTraorDInarY ITems 47.1 184.4

Extraordinary items 6 67.4 105.4

  

proFIT BeFore TaXes 114.5 289.8

Income taxes 7 -5.3 -20.2

   

neT proFIT For The 
FInancIal perIoD 109.2 269.7

eUr million note
31 Dec 

2013
31 Dec 

2012

asseTs

noncUrrenT asseTs

Intangible assets 8

Intangible rights 0.3 0.3

Other capitalize expenditure 1.3 1.8

 1.6 2.1

Tangible assets 8

Land and water areas 1.4 1.5

Buildings and structures 2.9 3.3

Machinery and equipment 0.3 0.6

Other tangible assets 0.1 0.1

4.7 5.5

Investments 9

Shares in Group companies 233.3 386.9

Other shares and holdings 0.1 0.1

233.5 387.1

ToTal non cUrrenT asseTs 239.8 394.7

cUrrenT asseTs

Long-term receivables 10

Receivables from group 
companies 456.9 541.5

Short-term receivables 10

Trade receivables 0.2 0.0

Receivables from group 
companies 544.2 561.4

Other receivables 1.0 0.8

Accrued income  8.2 1.5

 1,010.5 1,105.3

Current investments 11 0.0 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents 35.8 114.7

ToTal cUrrenT asseTs 1,046.3 1,220.0

ToTal asseTs 1,286.1 1,614.7
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eUr million note
31 Dec 

2013
31 Dec 

2012

eQUITY anD lIaBIlITIes

eQUITY 12

Share capital 149.2 149.2

Non restricted equity reserve 8.4 3.8

Retained earnings 252.6 219.7

Net profit for the financial year 109.2 269.7

   

ToTal eQUITY 519.4 642.4

provIsIons 13 1.4 1.0

lIaBIlITIes

Non-current liabilities 15

Bonds 210.9 321.4

Loans from credit institutions 20.0 88.5

Pension loans 73.8 94.8

Non-current liabilities to group 
companies 10.0

 304.6 514.7

Current liabilities 16

Bonds 83.8 7.1

Loans from credit institutions 17.7 62.0

Pension loans 21.0 29.0

Advances received 0.0 0.0

Trade payables 1.2 1.7

Current liabilities to group 
companies 167.8 296.0

Other current liabilities 157.9 46.5

Accrued expenses  11.2 14.3

460.6 456.7

ToTal lIaBIlITIes 765.3 971.4

ToTal eQUITY anD lIaBIlITIes  1,286.1 1,614.7

Parent Company 
Cash flow 
statement, FAS
eUr million 2013 2012

cash flow from operating activities

Profit / loss before extraordinary items 47.2 184.4

Adjustments for:

Depreciations 1.7 1.8

Reversal of accrual-based items 1.0 0.4

Gains on the sale of tangible and intangible 
assets -93.9 -0.1

Financial income and expenses 17.5 -208.4

cash flow before change in working capital 26.5 21.9

Change in working capital

Change in trade and other receivables 0.4 -12.5

Change in trade and other payables -2.8 -10.2

net cash flow from operating activities before 
financial items and taxes 28.9 44.6

Interest paid -55.7 -55.5

Dividends received 0.0 74.4

Interest received and financial income 37.2 53.8

Taxes paid -12.6 -17.0

net cash generated from operating activities 60.0 11.2

cash flow from investing activities

Purchases of tangible and intangible assets -0.8 -1.0

Proceeds from sale of tangible and  
intangible assets 0.1 0.1

Purchases of investments 0.0 -10.0

Proceeds from sale of other investments 114.0 0.0

net cash used in investing activities 113.3 10.9

cash flow from financing activities

Purchase of treasury shares 2.8 1.3

Change in loan receivables -285.8 -37.7

Change in current loans 149.4 -13.0

Proceeds from borrowings 189.7 150.0

Repayment of borrowings -162.4 -132.6

Dividends paid and other distribution of assets -94.0 -87.7

Group contributions received 105.4 96.0

net cash used in financing activities 94.9 23.8

net change in cash and cash equivalents 41.6 23.6

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 114.7 138.3

Cash and cash equivalents transferred in 
demerger -37.3

cash and cash equivalents at the end of  
the financial year 35.8 114.7
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Notes to the Parent Company  
financial statements

provIsIons
Provisions represent future expenses to the payment of which the 
parent company is committed and which are not likely to generate 
corresponding income, or future losses the realisation of which must 
be considered evident.

manaGemenT oF FInancIal rIsks anD InsTrUmenTs
The management of YIT’s financial risks is focused on the Group 
Treasury in the parent company. The financial risk management prin-
ciples are presented in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments in the section Financial risk management.

cash anD cash eQUIvalenTs
The cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement consist of 
cash, bank deposits that can be with-drawn on demand and other 
short-term liquid investments.

Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments used to hedge 
foreign currency denominated loans, deposits or other balance sheet 
items are recognised under financial items in the income statement.

research anD DevelopmenT eXpenses
Research and development expenses are entered as an annual 
expense in the year they arise.

pensIons
The statutory pension security in the parent company is provided by 
an external pension insurance company. Pension expenditure is 
expensed in the year it accrues.

leasInG
Lease payments are entered under other operating expenses. The 
remaining lease payments under lease agreements are recognised 
under liabilities in the notes. The terms and conditions of lease agree-
ments are not different from the ordinary terms and conditions.

eXTraorDInarY Income anD eXpenses
Group contributions given and received are recognised under extraor-
dinary income and expenses.

TaXes
The income tax row in the income statement includes the taxes for 
previous periods. Deferred taxes have not been booked.

1.  Parent company accounting 
principles

YIT’s partial demerger was implemented on 30 June 2013. In the 
partial demerger, the assets and liabilities related to YIT Corporation’s 
Building Services business were transferred to Caverion Corporation. 
Until the execution date of the partial demerger (30 June 2013), the 
transactions included in YIT’s Building Services business transferred 
to Caverion Corporation are included in the income statement. Cash 
and cash equivalents transferred in the demerger are presented on 
their own row in the cash flow statement.

YIT Corporation’s financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the principles of Finnish accounting legislation. The financial 
statements are prepared for 12 months in the financial period  
1 January–31 December 2013.

ITems DenomInaTeD In ForeIGn cUrrencIes
Foreign currency business transactions are recognised at the 
exchange rate of the transaction date. Receivables and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies open on the closing date are val-
ued at the exchange rate of the closing date. Changes in the value 
of foreign currency denominated loans, deposits and other balance 
sheet items are recognised under financial income and expenses in 
the income statement.

DerIvaTIve InsTrUmenTs
Foreign currency forward contracts are valued at the exchange rate 
of the closing date on the balance sheet, and changes in their value 
are booked under financial income and expenses in the income state-
ment. Interest related to interest rate swaps are recognised under 
interest income and expenses in the income statement, and interest 
accrued is entered under accrued income and accrued expenses on 
the balance sheet.

noncUrrenT asseTs anD DeprecIaTIon
Tangible and intangible assets are recognised on the balance sheet 
at historical cost less depreciation according to plan. Depreciation 
according to plan is calculated as straight-line depreciation on the 
basis of the estimated economic service life of tangible and intangible 
assets. 

Depreciation periods are as follows:
Intangible assets
Goodwill 5 years
IT programs 5 years
Other capitalised expenditure 5–10 years

Tangible assets
Buildings 40 years
Structures 5–10 years
Machinery and equipment 3–10 years

Subsidiary shares and other shares and holdings included in invest-
ments under non-current assets are measured at historical cost or 
fair value, whichever is lower.

YIT Financial review 201380



2. Other operating income
eUr million 2013 2012

Capital gains on disposals of fixed assets 94.0 0.1

Rent income 16.6 16.4

Service income 7.0 4.2

Other 2.2 3.5

Total 119.8 24.2

3.  Information concerning 
personnel and key 
management

eUr million 2013 2012

personnel expenses

Wages, salaries and fees 10.1 9.2

Pension expenses 2.0 1.6

Other indirect personnel costs 0.1 1.0

Total 12.1 11.8

salaries and fees to the management

President and executive Vice President 1.4 1.1

Members of the Board of Directors 0.4 0.4

Total 1.8 1.5

average personnel 141 152

pricewaterhousecoopers oy, authorised public accountants

Audit fee 0.2 0.2

Statements 1) 0.2

Tax services 0.0 0.0

Other services 1) 0.8 0.1

Total 1.2 0.3

1) Reporting and opinions and other fees include the costs of EUR 0.9 million related 
to the demerger.

4.  Depreciations and value 
adjustments

eUr million 2013 2012

Depreciations on other capitalised expenditures 1.0 1.1

Depreciations on buildings and structures 0.3 0.3

Depreciations on machinery and equipment 0.4 0.4

Depreciation on other tangible assets 0.0 0.0

Total 1.7 1.8

5. Financial income and expenses
eUr million 2013 2012

Dividend income

From Group companies 0.0 207.4

From others 0.0 0.0

Total 0.0 207.4

Interest income from noncurrent investments

From Group companies 7.5 11.6

other interest and financial income

From Group companies 9.7 13.5

From other companies 3.5 1.1

Total 13.2 14.6

other interest and financial expenses

Interest expenses to Group companies -11.1 -2.1

Interest expenses on derivatives -10.7 -3.4

Interest expenses to others -17.5 -21.3

Other expenses to others -5.6 -4.1

Total 44.9 30.9

Exchange rate gains 15.2 34.5

Fair value change in derivatives 3.8 -1.6

Exchange rate losses -12.5 -27.2

Total 6.5 5.8

Total financial income and expenses 17.7 208.4

6. Extraordinary items
eUr million 2013 2012

extraordinary income

Group contributions 67.4 105.4

7. Income taxes
eUr million 2013 2012

Income taxes on extraordinary items -16.5 -25.8

Income taxes on operating activities 11.2 5.5

Income taxes on previous years 0.1 0.1

Total 5.2 20.2
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eUr million 2013 2012

land and water areas

Historical cost at 1 January 1.5 1.0

Transferred in demerger -0.1

Increases  0.5

Book value at 31 December 1.4 1.5

Buildings and structures

Historical cost at 1 January 8.3 8.3

Transferred in demerger -0.2

Decreases -0.1

historical cost at 31 December 8.0 8.3

Accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 1 January 4.9 4.8

Depreciation for the period 0.2 0.2

accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 31 December 5.1 4.9

Book value at 31 December 2.9 3.3

machinery and equipment

Historical cost at 1 January 10.5 10.4

Increases 0.1 0.2

historical cost at 31 December 10.6 10.5

Accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 1 January 9.9 9.4

Depreciation for the period 0.4 0.4

accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 31 December 10.3 9.9

Book value at 31 December 0.3 0.6

other tangible assets

Historical cost at 1 January 0.9 0.9

historical cost at 31 December 0.9 0.9

Accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 1 January 0.8 0.8

Depreciation for the period 0.0 0.0

accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 31 December 0.8 0.8

Book value at 31 December 0.1 0.1

Total tangible assets 4.7 5.5

8. Changes in fixed assets
eUr million 2013 2012

Intangible assets

Intangible rights

Historical cost at 1 January 0.3 0.3

Book value at 31 December 0.3 0.3

other capitalized expenditures

Historical cost at 1 January 13.9 13.5

Increases 0.6 0.4

Decreases -0.1

historical cost at 31 December 14.4 13.9

Accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 1 January 12.1 11.1

Depreciation for the period 1.0 1.1

accumulated depreciation and  
value adjustments 31 December 13.1 12.1

Book value at 31 December 1.3 1.8

Total intangible assets 1.6 2.1

Tangible assets
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9. Investments
eUr million 2013 2012

shares in Group companies

Historical cost at 1 January 386.9 371.9

Transferred in demerger -133.6

Increases 15.0

Decreases -20.0

historical cost at 31 December 233.3 386.9

other shares and holdings

Historical cost at 1 January 0.1 0.1

historical cost at 31 December 0.1 0.1

Total investments 233.5 387.1

10. Receivables
eUr million 2013 2012

noncurrent receivables

Receivables from Group companies

Loan receivables 456.9 541.5

current receivables

Receivables from group companies

Trade receivables 1.5 4.1

Loan receivables 355.9 260.8

Other receivables 183.8 158.9

Accrued income 3.0 137.6

Total 544.2 561.4

Accrued receivables, intra-group

Accrued interest receivables 2.5 0.7

Exchange rate derivatives 3.7

Other receivables 0.5 133.2

Total 3.0 137.6

Accrued receivables, group external

Exchange rate derivatives 1.3 0.0

Accrued tax receivables 5.7 0.0

Other receivables 1.2 1.5

Total 8.2 1.5

Other receivables, group external 1.0 0.9

11. Cash and cash equivalents
eUr million 2013 2012

current investments

Carrying value 0.0 0.0

Market value 0.0 0.0

Difference 0.0 0.0

In the demerger, EUR 37.3 million of cash and cash equivalents were 
transferred.

12. Equity
eUr million 2013 2012

Share capital 1 January 149.2 149.2

share capital 31 December 149.2 149.2

Non restricted equity reserve 1 January 3.8 2.8

Reclassification of treasury shares 1.4

Share issue 3.2 1.0

non restricted equity reserve 31 December 8.4 3.8

   

Retained earnings 1 January 489.3 306.9

Transferred in demerger -141.3

Reclassification of treasury shares -1.4

Transfer of treasury shares 0.0 0.5

Dividends paid and other distribution of assets -94.0 -87.7

retained earnings 31 December 252.6 219.7

   

Net profit for the financial period 109.2 269.7

Total 361.8 489.3

   

Total equity 519.4 642.4

   

Distributable funds at 31 December   

Non restricted equity reserve 8.4 3.8

Retained earnings 252.6 219.7

Net profit for the financial period 109.2 269.7

Distributable fund from shareholders' 
equity 370.2 493.2

TreasUrY shares oF YIT oYJ
Parent company had treasury shares at 31 December 2013 as follows: 

amount

% of total
share 

capital

% of
voting 
rights

1,633,286 1.28% 1.28%
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13. Provisions
eUr million 2013 2012

Pension fund deficit 0.2

Other provisions 1.4 0.8

Total 1.4 1.0

14.  Deferred tax receivables and 
liabilities

eUr million 2013 2012

Deferred tax receivables

Postponed depreciation 0.1 1.0

Other temporary differences 0.3 0.0

Pension liabilities 0.1

Total 0.4 1.1

Deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated depreciation difference 0.0 0.0

Deferred taxes have not booked in the Parent Company’s financial 
statements.

15. Non-current liabilities
eUr million 2013 2012

liabilities falling due after five years

Loans from credit institutions 27.7

Pension loans 1.8 10.8

Other loans 2.0

Total 1.8 40.5

eUr million 2013 2012

Bonds

Fixed-rate bond 1/2011, 2011–2016,  
interest 4.75% 100.0 100.0

Fixed-rate bond 1/2010, 2010–2015,  
interest 4.823% 100.0 100.0

Floating-rate bond 1/2007, 2007–2014,  
interest 3 month Euribor + 0.51% 28.5 50.0

Floating-rate bond 1/2012, 2012–2014,  
interest 3 month Euribor + 1.75% 49.9 50.0

Floating-rate bond 1/2012, 2012–2014,  
interest 3 month Euribor + 1.75% 16.3 28.6

Total 294.7 328.6

16. Current liabilities
eUr million 2013 2012

liabilities to Group companies

Trade payables 2.3 1.2

Other liabilities 162.7 289.7

Accrued expenses 2.8 5.1

Total 167.8 296.0

accrued expenses, intragroup

Interest expenses 0.0 0.1

Exchange rate derivatives 2.8 0.0

Other expenses 0.0 5.0

Total 2.8 5.1

accrued expenses, group external

Personnel expenses 2.8 3.0

Interest expenses 8.2 9.7

Taxes 1.6

Other expenses 0.2 0.1

Total 11.2 14.3
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18.  Salaries and fees to 
management

DecIsIonmakInG reGarDInG remUneraTIon
YIT Corporation’s Annual General Meeting decides on the fees for 
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors decides on the salary 
and fees and other terms of employment of the CEO and other key 
Group employees, such as the CEO’s deputy and members of the 
Group’s Management Board. 

The Personnel Committee of the Board of Directors prepares mat-
ters related to the appointment and remuneration of the Board mem-
bers and the Group’s key personnel as well as the Group’s HR policy. 
Among other things, the Committee prepares proposals for the 
appointment of the Board members, President and CEO and other 
Group key personnel, as well as their remuneration and other terms 
of employment. In addition, its tasks include preparing the Group’s 
bonus rules and other issues related to pay policy.

remUneraTIon oF BoarD memBers 
The Annual General Meeting 2013 decided that the Board of Directors 
be paid remuneration as follows:
– Chairman: EUR 6,600 per month (EUR 79,200 per year)
– Vice Chairman: EUR 5,000 per month (EUR 60,000 per year)
– Members: EUR 3,900 per month (EUR 46,800 per year)

In addition, a meeting fee of EUR 550 is paid for each Board and 
committee meeting. Per diems for trips in Finland and abroad are 
paid in accordance with the State’s travel compensation regulations.

proposal For Fees For 2014 
The Board of Directors proposes on recommendation of the Board’s 
Personnel Committee that the fees to be paid to the Board of Direc-
tors remain the same as in 2013.

17.  Commitments and contingent 
liabilities

eUr million 2013 2012

mortgages given as security for loans 29.3

leasing commitments for premises

Payable during the current financial year 12.1 13.3

Payable in subsequent years 105.4 122.4

Total 117.5 135.7

operating leasing commitments

Payable during the current financial year 0.1 0.0

Payable during the current financial year 0.0 0.1

Total 0.1 0.1

other commitments

Other commitments  0.3 0.7

Guarantees

On behalf of Group companies 956.7 1 536.0

Derivative contracts 

External foreign currency forward contracts

Fair value 1.3 -1.6

Value of underlying instruments 146.5 220.4

Internal foreign currency forward contracts

Fair value -2.8 2.8

Value of underlying instruments 231.8 322.5

Interest rate swaps and future contracts

Fair value -2.4 -14.0

Value of underlying instruments 288.0 475.6

Interest rate options bought

Fair value 0.3 0.4

Value of underlying instruments 50.0 104.1

Commodity derivatives

Fair value 0.0 -0.9

Value of underlying instruments 0.0 1.9
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Fees paID To BoarD oF DIrecTors

eUr
Board  

membership
Board 

meetings

audit 
committee 

meetings

personnel 
committee 

meetings
working 

committee
Total  
2013

Total  
2012

member of the 
Board 2013

Henrik Ehrnrooth 79,200 8,250 4,950 2,200 94,600 94,050 1 Jan–31 Dec

Eino Halonen 11,700

Reino Hanhinen 60,000 8,250 1,650 4,950 2,200 77,050 75,950 1 Jan–31 Dec

Antti Herlin 11,700 1,100 1,100 13,900 54,500 1 Jan–15 Mar

Kim Gran 46,800 7,150 3,850 57,800 51,750 1 Jan–31 Dec

Satu Huber 46,800 8,250 3,300 58,350 55,600 1 Jan–31 Dec

Erkki Järvinen 37,050 6,600 2,750 46,400 15 Mar–31 Dec

Ari Lehtoranta 13,650 2,750 16,400 15 Mar–30 Jun

Michael Rosenlew 23,400 5,500 1,650 2,200 32,750 60,000 1 Jan–30 Jun

Board of Directors total 318,600 47,850 9,350 14,850 6,600 397,250 403,550  

* Eino Halonen was a member of the Board, Audit Committee and Personnel Committee until 13 March 2012.

shareBaseD IncenTIve schemes 
Members of YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors are not included in 
the share-based incentive scheme.

manaGemenT remUneraTIon
The remuneration paid to the Group’s Management Board is com-
prised of: 
•	 Fixed salary
•	 Fringe benefits, such as company car and meal benefit
•	 Annual performance-based bonus, and 
•	 Long-term incentive schemes, such as the share-based 

incentive scheme and pension benefits.

perFormanceBaseD BonUses
The basis of remuneration is a fixed salary, in addition to which most 
of the Group’s salaried employees are included in a performance-
based bonus scheme. The Board of Directors confirms the criteria 
for the payment of performance-based bonuses every six months.

The bonuses paid are determined on the basis of the realisation 
of personal profit objectives, the Group’s financial result, and the 
attainment of profitability, growth and development objectives. Per-
formance and development discussions are an essential part of the 
management by key results system. In these discussions, employees 
and their superiors agree on the key objectives and their relative 
weighting and review the fulfilment of the previously agreed objectives. 
The key principles and objectives for the result period influencing the 
personal performance-based bonuses are specified at the business 
division and unit level.

The maximum annual performance-based bonus paid to the CEO 
and the Management Board may equal 40–60 per cent of their annual 
taxable pay excluding the performance-based bonus.

Other monetary rewards in use at YIT include new-initiative 
bonuses and years-of-service bonuses.

shareBaseD IncenTIve scheme
YIT has implemented a share-based incentive scheme to support the 
company’s strategy for profitable growth and supplement the already 
available incentive schemes. The scheme aims at promoting the 
employees in determined work, rewarding their good performance 
and committing them to long-term persistent work. Members of YIT 

Corporation’s Board of Directors are not included in the share-based 
incentive scheme.

The scheme consists of three earnings periods, i.e. the calendar 
years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Shares were handed over in 2011, 2012 
and 2013 based on the performance the previous year. A total of 
approximately 700,000 shares could be rewarded annually, of which 
a maximum of 20,000 to the President and CEO. 

Employees included in the incentive scheme are obligated to not 
transfer their shares within two years of having obtained them for the 
shares based on performance in 2010 and three years for the shares 
based on performance in 2011 and 2012, i.e. throughout the duration 
of the commitment period. If the employment of an employee included 
within the scope of the scheme is terminated during the commitment 
period, the employee must return any shares obtained as rewards to 
the company free of charge. In the case of shares granted for 2010, 
the commitment period has ended.

According to the terms and conditions of the share-based incen-
tive scheme, YIT Corporation’s Board of Directors ratified the numbers 
of shares to be granted by key person on 25 April 2013 on the basis 
of the objectives and results set for 2012. The handing over was 
implemented as a directed, gratuitous share issue using the com-
pany’s own shares possessed by the company. The number of shares 
handed over was 224,743, and 247 key persons of the Group were 
entitled to them.

After the registration of the implementation of the partial demerger 
of YIT Corporation on 30 June 2013, persons in the employ of YIT 
Group had a total of 164,405 shares granted as bonuses in 2013. 

During 2013, a total of 18,452 shares were returned to the com-
pany in accordance with the terms and conditions.

pensIon, reTIremenT aGe anD TermInaTIon 
compensaTIon
The contractual retirement age of the CEO and his deputy is 62. In 
other respects, the statutory retirement ages apply to the members 
of the Management Board. The contractual pension of the CEO and 
his deputy amounts to 60 per cent of salary accounted according to 
Finnish employment pension law. The contractual period of notice is 
six months. If the company terminates the contract, the CEO and his 
deputy shall also be paid separate compensation amounting to 12 
months’ salary.
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accrUalBaseD pensIon eXpenDITUre In 2013

1 January  30 June 1 July – 31 December 
statutory pensions  

in total

supplementary  
pension security  

1 January – 31 December

President and CEO 64,613 50,236 114,849 3,796

Deputy to the President and CEO 41,810 35,247 77,057 15,205

Total 106,423 85,482 191,906 19,001

The members of the Board of Directors are not insured in terms of TyEL (Employees’ Pensions Act) or supplementary pension for their 
meeting fees.

remUneraTIon paID To The ceo anD  
manaGemenT BoarD In 2013
Between 1 January and 30 June 2013, Juhani Pitkäkoski served as 
the President and CEO of YIT Corporation. He was paid a perfor-
mance-based bonus of EUR 91,523 in March 2013 according to the 
results of July–December 2012. In 2013, Juhani Pitkäkoski was 
granted 6,340 shares through the share-based incentive scheme on 
the basis of the 2012 results. The aggregate value of the shares and 
the related monetary bonus was EUR 214,260.

As of 30 June 2013, Kari Kauniskangas, who was previously YIT 
Corporation’s Executive Vice President, has served as YIT Corpora-
tion’s President and CEO. In 2013, he was paid a total of EUR 120,629 
in performance-based bonuses. Of this amount, EUR 60,629 was 
paid according to 2012 results and EUR 60,000 according to the 
results of January–June 2013. 

In 2013, Kari Kauniskangas was granted 3,804 shares through 
the share-based incentive scheme on the basis of the 2012 results. 
The aggregate value of the shares and the related monetary bonus 
was EUR 125,850.

remUneraTIon paID To The ceo anD manaGemenT 
BoarD In 2013, eUr

1 January – 30 June 2013 
Juhani Pitkäkoski, President and CEO

Other Management Board: 
•	 Kari Kauniskangas, Executive Vice President and deputy to the 

CEO, head of the International Construction Services business 
segment

•	 Tero Kiviniemi, head of the Construction Services Finland 
business segment

•	 Juha Kostiainen, Senior Vice President, Urban Development 
and Corporate Relations

•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Matti Malmberg, head of the Building Services Northern Europe 

business segment
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Karl-Walter Schuster, head of the Building Services Central 

Europe business segment
•	 Sakari Toikkanen, Secretary to the Management Board, Senior 

Vice President, Business Development

eUr Fixed salary
Fringe 

benefits
Bonuses  

paid
Incentive 

scheme

Total 
1 January – 

30 June 2013
Total  
2012

President and CEO 274,211 9,320 91,523 214,260 589,314 750,276

Total other Management Board 956,740 58,821 216,207 817,310 2,049,078 2,466,529

30 June – 31 December 2013
Kari Kauniskangas, President and CEO

Other Management Board:
•	 Tero Kiviniemi, Executive Vice President, deputy to the President 

and CEO 
•	 Timo Lehtinen, Chief Financial Officer
•	 Pii Raulo, Senior Vice President, Human Resources
•	 Juhani Nummi, Senior Vice President, Business Development
•	 Harri Isoviita, head of Residential Construction business division
•	 Matti Koskela, head of Building Construction business division
•	 Timo Lehmus, head Business Premises business division

eUr Fixed salary
Fringe 

benefits
Bonuses  

paid
Incentive 

scheme

Total 
1 July – 

31 December 
2013

Total  
2012

President and CEO 201,913 7,458 60,000 269,371 750,276

Total other Management Board 1,322,629 57,319 327,460 1,707,408 2,466,529

•	 Jouni Forsman, head of Infra Services business division
•	 Tom Sandvik, head of Central and Eastern Europe business 

division
•	 Teemu Helppolainen, head of business area Moscow and 

Russia
•	 Mikhail Voziyanov, head of St. Petersburg business division 
•	 Yuri Belomestnov, head of Moskovia business division  

(Moscow Region)
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Board of directors’ proposal for the 
distribution of distributable equity

The distributable equity of YIT Corporation on 31 December 2013 is:

Retained earnings 252,575,095.42

Profit for the period 109,210,478.98

Retained earnings, total 361,785,574.40

Non-restricted equity reserve 8,443,960.43

Distributable equity, total 370,229,534.83

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that 
the distributable equity be dis-posed of as follows:

Payment of a dividend from retained earnings  
EUR 0.38 per share to shareholders 47,724,251.68

remains in distributable equity 322,505,283.15

No significant changes have taken place in the company’s financial 
position after the end of the finan-cial year. The company’s liquidity 
is good and, in the view of the Board of Directors, the proposed 
divi-dend payout does not jeopardise the company’s solvency.

Signature of the Report of the Board of Directors and  
financial statements

Helsinki, 5 February 2014

Henrik Ehrnrooth Reino Hanhinen
Chairman Vice chairman

Kim Gran Satu Huber

Erkki Järvinen

Kari Kauniskangas
President and CEO
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To The annUal General meeTInG oF YIT 
corporaTIon
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors and the administration of YIT 
Corporation for the year ended 31 December, 2013. The financial 
statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, 
income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent company’s 
balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to 
the financial statements.

responsIBIlITY oF The BoarD oF DIrecTors anD 
The manaGInG DIrecTor
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation 
of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Directors is respon-
sible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s 
accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that 
the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that 
its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

aUDITor’s responsIBIlITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, 
on the consolidated financial statements and on the report of the 
Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that 
we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. 
Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors are free from material 
misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors 
of the parent company or the Managing Director are guilty of an act 
or negligence which may result in liability in damages towards the 
company or whether they have violated the Limited Liability Compa-
nies Act or the articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 

Auditor’s Report

the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board 
of Directors that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the com-
pany’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appro-
priateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opInIon on The consolIDaTeD FInancIal 
sTaTemenTs
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash 
flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 

opInIon on The companY’s FInancIal sTaTemenTs 
anD The reporT oF The BoarD oF DIrecTors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the 
parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation 
of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 
in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki, 5 February 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Heikki Lassila
Authorised Public Accountant
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Income statement
2004 
Fas

2004 
IFrs

2005 
IFrs

2006 
IFrs

2007 
IFrs

2008 
IFrs

2009 
IFrs 1)

2010 
IFrs 1)

2011 
IFrs 1)

2012 
IFrs 1)

2013 
IFrs 1)

Revenue EUR mill. 3,033.4 2,780.1 3,023.8 3,284.4 3,706.5 3,939.7 3,485.6 3,787.6 4,382.1 1,988.9 1,743.0

change from previous year % 26.9 8.8 8.6 12.9 6.3 -11.5 8.7 15.7 -12.4

of which activities outside 
Finland EUR mill. 1,212.7 1,183.2 1,326.6 1,477.4 1,798.5 2,072.9 1,885.7 2,343.6 2,607.7 586.4 488.4

Operating income and 
expenses EUR mill. -2,850.6 -2,600.4 -2,772.2 -3,002.8 -3,341.5 -3,647.4 -3,283.9 -3,531.6 -4,142.9 -1,770.3 -1,621.5

Depreciation and write-downs EUR mill. -17.1 -22.3 -23.9 -24.1 -27.2 -31.8 -33.6 -35.9 -39.6 -20.6 -17.4

Depreciation of goodwill EUR mill. -30.6

operating profit eUr mill. 135.1 157.4 227.7 258.8 337.8 260.6 168.1 220.1 200.0 198.0 104.0

 – % of revenue % 4.5 5.7 7.5 7.9 9.1 6.6 4.8 5.8 4.6 10.0 6.0

Financial income and expences, 
net EUR mill. -16.8 -17.4 -12.9 -20.6 -32.2 -67.5 -58.6 -25.3 -24.7 -14.2 -9.0

Prioft before extraordinary items EUR mill. 118.2 140.0 214.8 238.2 305.6 193.1 109.5 194.8 175.2 183.8 95.0

 – % of revenue % 3.9 5.0 7.1 7.3 8.2 4.9 3.1 5.1 4.0 9.2 5.5

Profit before taxes EUR mill. 118.2 140.0 214.8 238.2 305.6 193.1 109.5 194.8 175.3 183.8 95.0

 – % of revenue % 3.9 5.0 7.1 7.3 8.2 4.9 3.1 5.1 4.0 9.2 5.5

profit for the period eUr mill. 84.0 100.5 156.9 175.4 228.0 134.3 68.1 140.6 125.1 142.3 70.2

 – % of revenue % 2.8 3.6 5.2 5.3 6.2 3.4 2.0 3.7 2.9 7.2 4.0

Attributable to

Equity holders of the parent 
company 99.1 155.5 171.0 224.9 132.9 68.3 140.3 124.5 141.2 70.3

Non-controlling interest 1.4 1.4 4.4 3.1 1.4 -0.2 0.3 0.6 1.1 -0.1

1) YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period beginning on 1 January 2010.

The income statement for years 2004–2011 includes the items related to YIT’s Building Services business, which were transferred to  
Caverion Group in the partial demerger on 30 June 2013.

Key financial figures
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Balance sheet
2004 
Fas

2004 
IFrs

2005 
IFrs

2006 
IFrs

2007 
IFrs

2008 
IFrs

2009 
IFrs 1)

2010 
IFrs 1)

2011 
IFrs 1)

2012 
IFrs 1)

2013 
IFrs 1)

ASSETS

Intangible assets EUR mill. 68.4 81.0 77.1 91.8 92.5 104.6 99.8 106.7 110.8 110.6 65.2

Goodwill EUR mill. 224.2 248.8 248.8 248.8 240.6 291.0 291.0 350.9 347.5 346.6 10.9

Tangible assets EUR mill. 12.3 13.1 13.4 15.6 27.1 35.1 32.8 50.5 54.1 61.8 7.1

Investments EUR mill. 6.8 4.2 4.8 5.9 6.2 6.3 5.3 6.1 6.9 3.9 1.3

Inventories EUR mill. 421.6 629.3 685.2 1,006.4 1,265.0 1,509.9 1,477.6 1,484.9 1,672.6 1,901.5 2,062.1

Receivables EUR mill. 822.1 503.7 578.1 723.4 769.7 825.3 697.7 969.7 1,106.4 1,071.6 329.7

Current investments EUR mill. 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 36.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents EUR mill. 34.2 35.4 80.7 25.9 60.2 165.3 173.1 148.0 206.1 175.7 76.3

Total assets eUr mill. 1,590.3 1,516.2 1,688.1 2,117.8 2,461.3 2,973.9 2,777.1 3,117.1 3,504.5 3,671.6 2,552.6

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital EUR mill. 61.3 61.3 62.4 63.4 149.1 149.2 149.2 149.2 149.2 149.2 149.2

Other equity EUR mill. 395.9 380.0 497.4 607.1 665.4 653.9 611.9 730.8 769.5 856.7 548.5

Non-controlling interest EUR mill. 3.6 4.1 3.7 3.9 3.8 4.6 3.0 2.9 2.5 3.3 0.4

Provisions EUR mill. 26.0 59.9 57.5 50.5 59.0 86.9 89.5 94.7 106.4 103.4 61.5

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing EUR mill. 214.0 224.0 172.4 275.8 356.9 516.2 502.0 504.6 522.9 517.1 305.1

Non interest-bearing EUR mill. 15.7 23.6 40.9 72.5 80.7 92.1 87.7 114.4 162.7 174.3 50.1

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing EUR mill. 47.5 171.5 162.6 256.6 218.1 330.1 200.2 284.6 423.6 404.9 552.9

Advances received EUR mill. 106.7 77.5 134.9 163.6 230.4 346.8 418.7 349.3 458.3 566.6 514.3

Other non interest-bearing EUR mill. 719.6 514.3 556.3 624.4 697.9 794.2 714.8 886.6 909.3 896.1 370.5

Total shareholders' equity 
and liabilities eUr mill. 1,590.3 1,516.2 1,688.1 2,117.8 2,461.3 2,973.9 2,777.1 3,117.1 3,504.5 3,671.6 2,552.6

1) YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period beginning on 1 January 2010.

The balance sheet for years 2004–2012 includes the assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services business, which were transferred 
to Caverion Group in the partial demerger on 30 June 2013.
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Other key figures
2004 
Fas

2004 
IFrs

2005 
IFrs

2006 
IFrs

2007 
IFrs

2008 
IFrs

2009 
IFrs 1)

2010 
IFrs 1)

2011 
IFrs 1)

2012 
IFrs 1)

2013 
IFrs 1)

Operating cash flow after 
investments EUR mill. -19.4 229.8 -61.7 -17.3 49.9 -87.9

Cash flow from operating 
activities EUR mill. 35.4 59.2 167.3 -148.3 84.1 47.8 260.9 6.8 17.4 72.1 -92.5

Return on equity % 19.6 24.3 31.1 28.3 30.5 16.5 8.9 17.1 13.9 15.0 8.2

Return on investment % 19.6 19.1 26.4 24.8 26.2 17.5 11.0 14.4 12.0 10.9 6.1

Equity ratio % 31.1 31.0 36.3 34.5 36.7 30.7 32.4 31.9 30.2 32.5 34.3

Net interest-bearing debt EUR mill. 226.6 359.4 254.4 506.5 514.8 644.5 529.1 640.9 740.4 746.2 781.7

Gearing ratio % 49.2 80.7 45.1 75.1 62.9 79.8 69.2 72.6 80.4 73.9 112.0

Gross capital expenditures on 
non-current assets,EUR million EUR mill. 31.0 35.6 30.1 50.4 51.6 85.2 27.9 129.7 48.7 44.6 20.2

 – % of revenue % 1.0 1.3 1.0 1.5 1.4 2.2 0.8 3.4 1.1 0.9 1.2

Research and development 
expenditure EUR mill. 18.0 18.0 19.0 21.0 22.0 19.0 15.2 17.5 20.1 7.5 15.0

 – % of revenue % 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.9

Order backlog as at 31 
December EUR mill. 1,604.9 1,823.4 1,878.8 2,802.3 3,509.3 3,233.7 2,983.3 3,535.7 4,148.6 3,108.6 3,184.6

of wich orders from abroad EUR mill. 621.0 645.0 752.4 1,490.0 1,999.2 2,072.9 1,885.7 1,857.7 2,066.9 1,484.0 1,617.8

Number of employees at  
31 December 21,680 21,680 21,289 22,311 24,073 25,784 23,480 25,832 25,996 6,691 6,172

Average number of employees 21,884 21,884 21,194 21,846 23,394 25,057 24,497 24,317 26,254 6,730 6,575

1) YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period beginning on 1 January 2010.

Key figures for years 2004–2011 and the balance sheet for year 2012 includes the assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services 
business, which were transferred to Caverion Group in the partial demerger on 30 June 2013.
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Share-related key figures
2004 
Fas

2004 
IFrs

2005 
IFrs

2006 
IFrs

2007 
IFrs

2008 
IFrs

2009 
IFrs 1)

2010 
IFrs 1)

2011 
IFrs 1)

2012 
IFrs 1)

2013 
IFrs 1)

Earnings/share EUR 0.69 0.81 1.26 1.36 1.77 1.05 0.55 1.12 0.99 1.13 0.56

Earnings/share, diluted EUR 0.68 0.80 1.23 1.35 1.77 1.05 0.55 1.12 0.99 1.13 0.56

Equity/share EUR 3.73 3.60 4.49 5.29 6.40 6.38 6.09 7.04 7.33 8.02 5.56

Dividend/share EUR 0.35 0.35 0.55 0.65 0.80 0.50 0.40 0.65 0.70 0.75 0.38

Dividend/earnings % 51.1 43.2 43.7 47.8 45.2 47.6 73.2 57.9 70.5 66.6 67.9

Effective dividend yield % 3.8 3.8 3.0 3.1 5.3 10.9 2.8 3.5 5.7 5.1 3.7

Price/earnings multiple (P/E) % 13.4 11.3 14.3 15.4 8.5 4.4 26.3 16.7 12.5 13.1 18.1

Share price trend

Average price EUR 7.96 7.96 13.99 19.24 22.15 10.89 8.52 16.35 15.28 14.90 13.01

Low EUR 6.76 6.76 8.95 15.20 14.79 3.70 4.31 12.98 10.04 11.87 8.67

High EUR 9.42 9.42 18.25 23.88 27.90 19.99 14.49 19.00 21.92 17.25 17.88

Price at 31 December EUR 9.18 9.18 18.07 20.95 14.99 4.58 14.45 18.65 12.38 14.78 10.16

Market capitalisation  
at 31 December EUR mill. 1,125.3 1,125.3 2,254.4 2,656.0 1,907.0 576.2 1,807.4 2,332.7 1,550.9 1,853.2 1,276.0

Share turnover trend

Share turnover 1,000 pcs 91,160 91,160 120,368 184,577 245,672 295,156 190,057 127,537 151,023 96,887 111,193

Share turnover of shares 
outstanding % 74.6 74.6 97.4 147.2 193.6 232.2 151.8 102.0 120.6 77.3 88.6

Weighted average share-issue 
adjusted number of shares 
outstanding 1,000 pcs 122,246 122,246 123,544 125,357 126,872 127,104 125,167 125,078 125,210 125,352 125,529

Weighted average share-issue 
adjusted number of shares 
outstanding, diluted 1,000 pcs 123,646 123,646 126,522 126,773 127,028 127,104 125,167 125,078 125,210 125,352 125,529

Share-issue adjusted number 
of shares outstanding  
at 31 December 1,000 pcs 122,586 122,586 124,794 126,777 127,218 125,798 125,078 125,078 125,271 125,384 125,590

1) YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period beginning on 1 January 2010. 

YIT Corporation’s Annual General meeting held on 18 March 2004 decided to change the nominal value of share from two euros to EUR 
1,00 and the YIT Corporation’s Annual General meenting held on 13 March 2006 decided to change the nominal value of share from one 
euro to EUR 0.50, The both decicions doubled the number of shares. The comparative figures have been adjusted to be comparable with 
the figures for 2007.

Key figures for years 2004–2011 and the balance sheet for year 2012 includes the assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services 
business, which were transferred to Caverion Group in the partial demerger on 30 June 2013. Also for this reason, pre-demerger figures 
related to dividend and shares are not comparable to the figures after the demerger.
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Financial development by quarter
Q1/2012 Q2/2012 Q3/2012 Q4/2012 Q1/2013 Q2/2013 Q3/2013 Q4/2013

Revenue EUR mill. 444.5 523.3 458.6 562.5 445.6 437.1 363.0 497.3

Operating profit EUR mill. 37.2 47.4 44.5 68.9 31.0 32.3 11.7 29.0

 – % of revenue % 8.4 9.1 9.7 12.2 7.0 7.4 3.2 5.8

Financial income EUR mill. 1.1 2.7 0.0 0.8 0.4 8.8 1.1 -0.7

Exhange rate differences EUR mill. -0.9 -1.5 -1.4 -1.7 -0.1 -2.2 -1.4 -1.5

Financial expenses EUR mill. -3.5 -4.6 -1.9 -3.3 -1.0 -10.7 -2.6 1.0

Profit before taxes EUR mill. 33.9 44.0 41.2 64.7 30.3 28.2 8.8 27.8

 – % of revenue % 7.6 8.4 9.0 11.5 6.8 6.4 2.4 5.6

Balance sheet total *) EUR mill. 3,620.2 3,635.8 3,711.4 3,671.6 3,644.3 2,426.8 2,540.0 2,552.6

Earnings per share EUR 0.20 0.28 0.26 0.38 0.18 0.18 0.06 0.14

Equity per share *) EUR 6.87 7.12 7.64 8.02 7.52 5.54 5.52 5.56

Share price at the end of period *) EUR 16.12 13.38 14.93 14.78 16.25 13.19 10.29 10.16

Market capitalization  
at the end of period *) EUR mill. 2,019.3 1,677.7 1,872.0 1,853.2 2,037.4 1,656.6 1,292.3 1,276.0

Return on investment, rolling 12 months *) % 10.9 10.5 10.7 8.3 6.1

Return on equity *) % 15.0 8.2

Equity ratio *) % 27.8 29.1 30.8 32.5 31.1 34.9 33.6 34.3

Net interest-bearing debt  
at the end of period *) EUR mill. 755.8 803.1 827.3 746.2 839.0 764.4 857.3 781.7

Gearing ratio *) % 87.6 89.7 86.1 73.9 88.9 109.8 123.7 112.0

Gross capital expenditures *) EUR mill. 13.6 10.6 10.1 10.3 9.6 5.2 0.9 5.4

Order backlog at the end of period EUR mill. 2,990.7 3,050.5 3,191.8 3,108.6 3,045.9 3,176.0 3,259.5 3,184.6

Personnel at the end of period 6,505 7,001 6,756 6,691 6,689 6,904 6,384 6,172

*) Balance sheet for year 2012 includes the assets and liabilities related to YIT’s Building Services business, which were transferred to Caverion Group in the partial demerger 
on 30 June 2013. This has also an effect to certain key ratios.
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revenUe BY BUsIness seGmenT
eUr million Q1/2012 Q2/2012 Q3/2012 Q4/2012 Q1/2013 Q2/2013 Q3/2013 Q4/2013

Construction Services Finland 329.5 347.9 308.9 342.6 326.0 279.2 287.5 327.1

International Constraction Services 107.9 133.4 153.3 205.0 119.0 145.7 164.3 192.2

Other items 7.0 7.6 8.1 7.8 7.0 6.0 2.9 1.9

Group total, segment reporting 444.4 488.9 470.3 555.4 452.0 430.9 454.7 521.3

IFRS adjustments 0.1 34.4 -11.7 7.1 -6.4 6.2 -91.7 -24.0

Group total, IFrs 444.5 523.3 458.6 562.5 445.6 437.1 363.0 497.3

operaTInG proFIT BY BUsIness seGmenT
eUr million Q1/2012 Q2/2012 Q3/2012 Q4/2012 Q1/2013 Q2/2013 Q3/2013 Q4/2013

Construction Services Finland 31.4 33.5 28.9 40.2 26.5 22.9 22.2 22.8

International Constraction Services 9.7 14.1 25.7 31.0 11.6 17.6 20.5 22.1

Other items -3.9 -4.2 -2.1 -3.2 -2.2 -2.2 -5.4 -3.8

Group total, segment reporting 37.2 43.4 52.5 68.0 35.9 38.3 37.4 41.2

IFRS adjustments 0.0 4.0 -8.1 0.9 -4.9 -6.0 -25.7 -12.2

Group total, IFrs 37.2 47.4 44.5 68.9 31.0 32.3 11.7 29.0

orDer BackloG BY BUsIness seGmenT
eUr million Q1/2012 Q2/2012 Q3/2012 Q4/2012 Q1/2013 Q2/2013 Q3/2013 Q4/2013

Construction Services Finland 1,428.0 1,499.9 1,541.0 1,499.0 1,424.9 1,584.0 1,555.1 1,428.2

International Constraction Services 1,142.9 1,186.7 1,207.4 1,266.1 1,285.3 1,226.8 1,258.3 1,285.5

Group total, segment reporting 2,570.9 2,686.6 2,748.4 2,765.1 2,710.2 2,810.8 2,813.4 2,713.7

IFRS adjustments 419.8 363.9 443.4 343.5 335.7 365.2 446.1 470.9

Group total, IFrs 2,990.7 3,050.5 3,191.8 3,108.6 3,045.9 3,176.0 3,259.5 3,184.6

keY FIGUres accorDInG To seGmenT reporTInG (poc)
Q1/2012 Q2/2012 Q3/2012 Q4/2012 Q1/2013 Q2/2013 Q3/2013 Q4/2013

Profit before taxes, EUR mill. 30.2 35.7 44.6 59.1 30.6 29.8 29.9 32.5

Profit for the review period, EUR mill. 1) 22.9 28.9 35.1 43.8 23.4 23.0 23.1 24.3

Earnings per share, EUR 0.18 0.23 0.28 0.35 0.19 0.18 0.18 0.19

1) Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

YIT has applied the IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate IFRS interpretation from the start of the financial period begun 
on 1 January 2010. Due to the application of the interpretation, Group 
reporting and segment reporting differ. In segment reporting, the 

figures will continue to be calculated based on the previous account-
ing principle, i.e. percentage of completion will be applied in the 
recognition of revenue from own residential and commercial real estate 
development projects.
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annUal General meeTInG 2014
YIT Corporation’s Annual General Meeting will be held in Helsinki on 
Tuesday, 18 March 2014, starting at 10:00 a.m. (Finnish time) at 
Finlandia Hall (address: Mannerheimintie 13, FI-00100 Helsinki, Fin-
land). Check-in for those who have registered for the meeting, distri-
bution of ballots and serving of coffee will start at 9:00 a.m.

parTIcIpaTIon rIGhTs
In order to have the right to participate in the Annual General Meeting, 
a shareholder must be registered in the company’s shareholder reg-
ister, which is maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, no later than on 
the record date of the Annual General Meeting on 6 March 2014.  
Shareholders whose shares are registered in their personal Finnish 
book-entry accounts are registered in the company’s shareholder 
register.

A shareholder whose shares are nominee registered and who 
wishes to participate in the Annual General Meeting and exercise his 
right to vote must be entered in the company’s shareholder register 
by 13 March 2014, by 10:00 a.m. in order to participate in the meet-
ing.

noTIce oF meeTInG
The notice of meeting is published no later than three weeks before 
the meeting on the company’s website. The notice contains the 
agenda, the names of the persons nominated for seats on the Board 
of Directors and the nominated auditor. The resolution proposals and 
documents presented to the Annual General Meeting and presenta-
tion of the nominees for the Board of Directors will also be published 
on YIT’s website at www.yitgroup.com/agm2014.

reGIsTraTIon
Registration for the Annual General Meeting will begin on 6 February 
2014, and end on 13 March 2014, at 4:00 p.m. Registration is pos-
sible
•	 Online through YIT Corporation’s website:  

www.yitgroup.com/agm2014
•	 by fax on the number +358 20 433 2077
•	 by telephone on the number + 358 44 743 7500  

between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m.
•	 by sending a letter to YIT Corporation, Marja Salo,  

P.O. Box 36, FI-00621 Helsinki, Finland.

The shareholder’s name, personal ID number or business ID, address 
and telephone number and name of any assistant, proxy or legal 
representative must be declared in connection with the registration. 
The registration must reach the company prior to the end of the 
registration period. It is requested that the company be notified of 
any proxies in connection with registration and that any proxies be 
sent to the address mentioned above before the expiry of the regis-
tration period.

paYmenT oF DIvIDenD
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that 
a dividend of EUR 0.38 per share be paid from 2013. The dividend 
is paid to a shareholder who, by the record date (21 March 2014), 
has been entered as a shareholder in the company’s shareholder 
register maintained by Euroclear Ltd.

The Board of Directors proposes that the dividend be paid on  
28 March 2014.

Information for shareholders

shareholDer rIGhTs
Shareholders have the right to have items included on the agenda of 
the Annual General Meeting, provided they demand, in writing, the 
Board of Directors to do so early enough so that the item can be 
included in the notice of the meeting. In order to have their items 
included on the agenda of the Annual General Meeting 2014, share-
holders had to present their requests to YIT’s corporate services by 
9 January 2014.

Shareholders have the right to raise questions at the General  
Meeting as set out in the Limited Liability Companies Act.

The minutes of the Annual General Meeting are made available 
for inspection by shareholders within two weeks of the meeting at 
YIT’s head office (Panuntie 11, Helsinki, Finland) and on the company’s 
website www.yitgroup.com/investors.

A shareholder or shareholders who own at least 10 per cent of all 
the company’s shares may demand that an extraordinary general 
meeting be convened.

aDDress chanGes oF shareholDers
Shareholders are requested to give notification of any changes of 
address to the bank branch office in which their book-entry account 
is handled.

If the account is handled by Euroclear Finland Ltd, notifications of 
a change of address should be sent to

Euroclear Finland Ltd
P.O. Box 1110
FI-00101 Helsinki, Finland
Street address: Urho Kekkosen katu 5 C
Telephone (switchboard): +358 20 770 6000
Fax: +358 20 770 6658
E-mail: info.finland@euroclear.eu

Important dates related to the 
Annual General Meeting
•	 Registration opens: 6 February 2014
•	 Record date of Annual General Meeting: 6 March 2014
•	 Registration closes: 13 March 2014
•	 Annual General Meeting: 18 March 2014
•	 Dividend ex-date: 19 March 2014
•	 Dividend record date: 21 March 2014
•	 Proposed dividend payment: 28 March 2014

More information on the Annual General Meeting is available 
at www.yitgroup.com/agm
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